
 

 
Mark Williams, Chief Executive 

Agenda for Standards Hearing Sub Committee 
Friday, 12th March, 2021, 9.30 am 
 
Members of Standards Hearing Sub Committee 
 
Councillors  
 
 
Representatives 

C Gardner (Chair), S Bond, and 
E Rylance 
 
B Nelson (Parish Council) and  
M Goscomb (Independent) 

 
Venue: Online via the zoom app 

 
Contact: Wendy Harris, Democratic Services Officer, 

Tel: 01395 517542 
email: wharris@eastdevon.gov.uk  

 
(or group number 01395 517546) 
Date Thursday, 4 March 2021 
 
Important - this meeting will be conducted online and recorded by Zoom only. 

Please do not attend Blackdown House.  

 
Members are asked to follow the Protocol for Remote Meetings  
 
This meeting is being recorded by EDDC for subsequent publication on the Council’s 
website and will be streamed live to the Council’s Youtube Channel at 
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCmNHQruge3LVI4hcgRnbwBw 

 
 
1 Introduction by Chair   

2 Declarations of Interest   

3 Hearing status   

 Sub Committee to determine any request for the Hearing to be held in private 
session. 
 

4 Hearing to consider three complaints 2020-C10, 2020-C11 & 2020-C19 - 
Councillor John Taylor  (Pages 3 - 5) 

East Devon District Council 

Blackdown House 

Border Road 

Heathpark Industrial Estate 

Honiton 

EX14 1EJ 

DX 48808 HONITON 

Tel: 01404 515616 

www.eastdevon.gov.uk 

Public Document Pack

page 1

http://eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/protocol-for-virtual-meetings
https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCmNHQruge3LVI4hcgRnbwBw


 To hold a hearing to consider an investigation report into the complaint about 
Councillor John Taylor, Honiton Town Council in accordance with the 
Council’s procedure which includes: 
 
(a) To determine findings of fact and to decide whether or not the Councillor 

has failed to follow the Code of Conduct. 
(b) To determine what sanction, if any, should be imposed. 

 
Attached papers: 
Appendix A Prehearing summary report (pages 6 – 8) 
Appendix B Independent Investigator’s Final Report (pages 9 – 129) 
Appendix C Letter to Councillor Taylor – Findings of breach following 
investigation (pages 130 – 133) 
Appendix D Complaints Hearing Procedure (pages 134 – 137) 
Appendix E Complaints against Councillor Taylor (pages 138 – 214) 
Appendix F Councillor Taylor’s text to the Independent Investigator  
(pages 215 – 218) 
 

 
 
 
Decision making and equalities 
 

For a copy of this agenda in large print, please contact the Democratic 
Services Team on 01395 517546 

 

page 2

http://new.eastdevon.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/committees-and-meetings/decision-making-and-equalities-duties/


Report to: Standards Hearing Sub-Committee 

 

Date of Meeting 12th March 2021 

Document classification: Part A Public Document 

Exemption applied: None 

Review date for release: N/A  

 

Hearing Covering Report - MO/HGL/2020–C10, C11 & C19 

Report summary: 

To provide background detail in relation to the complaint against Councillor John Taylor (Honiton 
Town Council) and what is expected of the Standards Hearing Sub-Committee.  

 

Recommendation: 

Members consider the information in this pre-hearing report during the Hearing process 
into the allegation that Councillor John Taylor of Honiton Town Council (Subject Member) 
has failed to comply with the Member’s Code of Conduct. 

 

Reason for recommendation: 

To make sure members have all the information they need to hold a fair Hearing in relation to the 
complaint that Councillor John Taylor has failed to comply with the Code of Conduct. 

 

 

Officer: Henry Gordon Lennox, Monitoring Officer 

 

Portfolio(s) (check which apply): 

☐ Climate Action and Response 

☐ Coast, Country and Environment  

☐ Council and Corporate Co-ordination 

☐ Democracy and Transparency 

☐ Economy and Assets 

☐ Finance 

☐ Leisure, Sport and Tourism 

☐ Strategic Planning 

☐ Sustainable Homes and Communities 

Financial implications: 

 There are no financial implications requiring comment. 

Legal implications: 

 A solicitor will be present at the hearing to advise on law and procedure as necessary. 

Equalities impact Low Impact 

Climate change Low Impact 
page 3

Agenda Item 4



Risk: Low Risk;  

Links to background information: None 

Link to Council Plan:  

Priorities (check which apply) 

☐ Outstanding Place and Environment  

☐ Outstanding Homes and Communities 

☐ Outstanding Economic Growth, Productivity, and Prosperity 

☐ Outstanding Council and Council Services 

 
 

Report in full 

1.1 The Pre-hearing Summary Report (Appendix A) gives a high level view of the background to 
this particular complaint.  
 

1.2 The complaint was referred to Independent Investigation and a copy of the Investigator’s 
report is contained at Appendix B.  

 

1.3 Having received the Investigator’s report, the Monitoring Officer liaised with the Independent 
Person who confirmed her agreement to the findings. The Monitoring Officer then wrote to 
the Subject Member confirming that a breach had been found – the letter is contained at 
Appendix C. The Subject Member did not agree with the findings nor propose any alternative 
way to resolve the matter and therefore this has necessitated the matter being referred to a 
Standards Hearing Sub-Committee in order for the matter to be considered at the final stage 
of the complaint process.  

 

1.4 Both the Investigator and the Independent Person will be at the Hearing to present the report 
and give their views respectively.   

 

1.5 The Subject Member has confirmed he will be attending the Hearing. As part of the 
Standards Hearings Sub Committee Hearings Procedure (Appendix D) the Subject Member 
is offered the opportunity to highlight areas of disagreement with the Investigator’s report.  

 

1.6 The Subject Member has not returned the ‘Written Representation Form’, although it should 
be noted that the Subject Member did provide comments to the Investigator as part of the 
production of the final Investigation report (see – Document 19 of Appendix B). Further, the 
Subject Member has submitted supporting documentation as part of his case which is 
contained as Appendix E which in part contains further comments on the Investigation 
Report.  

 

1.7 The Subject Member refers to various photographs and texts in his letter of 3rd December 
2020 (see Appendix D page 57) which the decision letter (Appendix C) confirmed were taken 
into account. These are also in Appendix D (at page 61 – 63) and for completeness the texts 
/ photos provided by the Investigator to the Monitoring Officer (copied into a word document 
by the Monitoring Officer) are contained at Appendix F.  

 

1.8 It will be necessary for the Sub-Committee to; 
 

page 4

https://eastdevon.gov.uk/new-council-plan/index.htm


1.8.1 Determine findings of fact (Section 5 of the Investigator’s report (Agenda pages 21-
32)) with reference to the Subject Member comments contained at Document 19 of it 
and also in Appendix E (Agenda pages 138 - 214),  

1.8.2 Consider the Investigator’s reasoning as to why he has concluded that there is a 
breach of the Code of Conduct (Section 6 of the Investigator’s report (Agenda pages 
33 - 40) and consider the Subject Member’s position as detailed in Document 19 of 
the Investigator’s report and also in Appendix E (Agenda pages 138 – 214)), and  

1.8.3 Determine whether the Subject Member has breached the Code of Conduct 
 

1.9 If the Subject Member is found to have breached the Code of Conduct then the Committee 
will need to go on and consider whether sanctions should be imposed and, if so, what would 
be appropriate in terms of sanctions. 
 

 

 

page 5



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Standards Hearing Sub Committee 
Pre-hearing Summary Report 
 

 

Name of Authority East Devon District Council 

 

The name of the member 
who the allegation has been 
made about 

Councillor John Taylor (Honiton Town Council) 

 

The name of the person 
who made the original 
allegation (unless there are 
good reasons to keep his or 
her identity confidential) 

John Burgess, Sonia Hawkins and Anthony 
McCollum 

 

The case reference 
numbers of the principal 
authority 

MO/HGL/2020-C10, C11 & C19 

 

The name of the Standards 
Committee member who 
will chair the hearing 

Cllr Cathy Gardner 

 

The name of the 
Investigator 

Tim Darsley 

 

The name of the Monitoring 
Officer 

Henry Gordon Lennox 

 

The name of the clerk of the 
hearing or other 
administrative officer 

Anita Williams, Principal Solicitor to give legal 
advice to the Committee. 
Wendy Harris, Democratic Services to take minutes. 

 

The date the pre-hearing 
summary was produced 

3rd March 2021 

 

The date, time and place of 
the hearing 

12th March 2021 at 9.30am via Zoom 

Blackdown House 
Border Road 

Heathpark Industrial Estate 
Honiton 

EX14 1EJ 
DX 48808 Honiton 

 

page 6



 

A summary of the allegation The complainants provided evidence which in their 
view demonstrated that Councillor Taylor had 
breached paragraphs 4a (all three complainants) 
and 5c (Messrs Hawkins and McCollum) of Honiton 
Town Council’s Code of Conduct in relation to Tony 
McCollum through his actions at a meeting in the 
High Street and through comments in his COVID 
Compliance Proposal and associated documents.    
 

 

The relevant section or 
sections of the Code of 
Conduct 

Relevant paragraphs from the Honiton Code of 
Conduct that were investigated: 
 
General obligations 
4. You must - 

(a) treat others with courtesy and respect 
including fellow council members, staff 
and members of the public.   
 

5. You must not – 
(c) bully any person (bullying may be 

characterised as any single act or 
pattern of offensive, intimidating, 
malicious, insulting or humiliating 
behaviour; an abuse or misuse of 
power or authority which attempts to 
undermine or coerce or has the effect 
of undermining or coercing an individual 
or group of individuals by gradually 
eroding their confidence or capability 
which may cause them to suffer stress 
or fear).   

 

 

Further background  The Investigator’s report details the relevant 
background and information in respect of this 
complaint. Councillor Taylor has provided 
comments where he disagrees with the content of 
the Investigator’s report as well as further 
comments. The Sub-Committee will need to 
consider the content of the Investigator’s report and 
representations from the Subject Member in detail. 

 

Whether or not the 
member or the MO will 
attend. 

Councillor John Taylor has indicated that he will be 
attending the Hearing. 
 
It is understood that the Complainants will be 
attending. 
 

page 7



 

The Monitoring Officer and Investigator will be 
attending. 

 
Signed:                                 
 
 
Name: Henry Gordon Lennox, Monitoring Officer 
 
Dated:  3rd March 2021 
 
 
 

page 8



 
 

 
 

C O N F I D E N T I A L  
 
 
 
 
 

 

R e p o r t   o f   I n v e s t i g a t i o n 
 

 
 
 
 
 

F i n a l 
 
 
 
 
 

Report of an investigation by Tim Darsley,  
appointed by the Monitoring Officer of  

East Devon District Council  
into allegations concerning  

Councillor John Taylor of Honiton Town Council 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case reference; MO/HGL/2020 – C10, C11 and C19 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 4   O c t o b e r   2 0 2 0 
 

 
 

page 9



C o n t e n t s 

1. Introduction

2. Councillor Taylor’s official details

3. The relevant legislation and protocols

4. The evidence gathered

5. Findings of fact

6. Reasoning as to whether there has been a failure to comply with
the Code of Conduct

7. Summary of findings

8. Schedule of evidence taken into account

Appendices: 

Documents 1 to 19 

page 10



Final  -  Confidential 

1. Introduction

1.1 Honiton is a market town in East Devon, to the north east of Exeter.  
Serving a population of around 12,000, the Town Council comprises 18 
councillors. 

1.2 The Town Council holds a market in the High Street on Tuesday, 
Thursday and Saturday throughout the year.  The Council’s Town 
Development Manager, Tony McCollum, is the officer responsible for 
operating the market.  The market was suspended from 23 March 2020 
as part of the national coronavirus lockdown.   

1.3 In mid-May, the Town Development Manager was working with 
Councillor James Wyatt to consider how the re-opening of the market 
could be arranged.   

1.4 On 28 May, Councillor Wyatt arranged to meet the Town Development 
Manager and the Market Assistant in the High Street to take 
measurements and progress the investigation.  Councillor John Taylor 
joined the meeting and gave his views on the matter.   

1.5 Later that day, Councillor Wyatt circulated to councillors a note of the 
meeting and a proposed timeline for the investigation.  Councillor Taylor 
also prepared a note of the meeting which was critical of the Town 
Development Manager.  His note was circulated to councillors by the 
Mayor, Councillor Zarczynski.    

1.6 Between 29 and 31 May, Councillor Taylor prepared a Covid Compliance 
Proposal which considered how the market could be re-opened in the 
High Street.  His note of the meeting of 28 May was largely incorporated 
into the Proposal.   

1.7 Councillor Zarczynski circulated the Covid Compliance Proposal and 
other documentation to councillors.  He also sent it to the relevant 
Environmental Health Officer at East Devon District Council.   

1.8 The market was eventually re-opened on Saturday 6 June. 

1.9 Subsequently, the Covid Compliance Proposal was posted on social 
media.   

1.10 On 10 and 15 June, and on 19 July, John Burgess, Sonia Hawkins and 
Tony McCollum submitted complaints about the conduct of Councillor 
Taylor.  All three concerned the comments he made in his Covid 
Compliance Proposal.   

page 11



Final  -  Confidential 

1.11 The three complaints are shown below: 

The complaint of John Burgess 

Honiton Town Council have been considering how it may re-open 
Honiton Market which in normal times takes place on Honiton High St. 
on Saturdays, Tuesdays and to a lesser extent Thursdays. The 
personnel involved were: 

Mr McCollum - Town Development Manager i/c the operation of the market 
(an employee of the council).  
Carl ? – Mr McCollum’s market assistant.  
Cllr James Wyatt (now ex-councillor following his resignation on 6th June 
2020) 
Cllr John Taylor – asked by the Mayor (Cllr Zarczynski) to carry out the 
assessment. 

The attached document prepared by Cllr Taylor together with four 
others were sent by email (dated 5th June 2020) to members of Honiton 
Council by the Mayor who were then requested to vote on whether the 
market could re-open within Covid-19 guidelines.  These documents 
were also sent to me in an email (date 6th June 2020) from Cllr Wyatt 
following an informal Zoom meeting that he had set up so that members 
of the public could ask councillors questions.  Here is what he said in 
his email: 

Mr Burgess, 
On our Town Councillor surgery on Monday you requested that as the 
council was making decisions via email, to allow transparency on votes 
that should be conducted in public you would like to see the evidence 
and voting record for each subject.  Please see attached and below for 
the email submitted for vote to the council by the Mayor yesterday. 

The email goes on to give the result of the vote and also copies in the 
email from the Mayor requesting councillors to vote and which clearly 
states that he and Cllr Taylor have been preparing the ground for the 
market to re-open. There is no mention of any work done by Mr 
McCollum or Cllr Wyatt in the mayor’s email. This email was sent on 5th 
of June and they wished to open the market the following day: 

From the Mayor’s email: 

I have also been informed by Cllr Twiss that EH are only an advisory 
body and will not give HTC a definitive YES OR NO and HTC does not 
require EH permission to reopen the market as such I propose that is 
seconded by Cllr John Taylor for  councillors to vote to reopen HTC 
street market from tomorrow Saturday 6 June 2020  

page 12



Final  -  Confidential 

As I said Traders are on stand by therefore your vote is URGENT can I 
please have your votes no later than 3.30pm today to give us time to 
inform all traders the market will reopen subject to a majority supporting 
my proposal  

Clearly councillors had little time to read the 5 documents and had no 
option to debate the alternative venues or debate the lack of authority 
from Environmental Health. This is not the way for the council to 
conduct its business. 

It seems clear from the attached document that Cllr Wyatt and Mr 
McCollum had views about the re-opening of the market at variance 
with Cllr Taylor and the Mayor.  It also would appear that Mr McCollum 
and Cllr Wyatt had concluded the High St could not comply with social 
distancing guidelines and were suggesting three alternative venues for 
the market - the cattle market,  an  EDDC car park and All Hallows 
playing field.  

My complaint concerns the language used by Cllr Taylor in the attached 
document when he is referring to Mr McCollum and Cllr Wyatt. I have 
highlighted these places in yellow.  I believe that taken together it is 
clear that Cllr Taylor is deliberately using language to criticise the 
competence of Mr McCollum and to a lesser extent Cllr Wyatt and this 
language is in breach of HTC’s Code of Conduct as follows: 

General obligations 

4. You  must –
(a) treat others with courtesy and respect including fellow council
members, staff and members of the public,

I must also point out that Cllr Taylor’s dismissals of the alternative sites 
are shallow and do not stand up to scrutiny. For example, he mentions 
the problem of faeces on the cattle market floor, yet in response to this 
allegation a member of the public posted this photo of the Cattle Market 
on Facebook on June 6th.  

Yours sincerely 

John Burgess 

page 13



Final  -  Confidential 

The complaint of Sonia Hawkins 

The basis of my complaint is that Cllr John Taylor has breached the following 
sections of the Honiton Town Council Code of Conduct: 

 1.2  You should have regard to the Principles of Public Life namely,
Selflessness, Honesty/Integrity, Objectivity, Accountability, Openness,
Personal judgment, Respect for others, Duty to uphold the law,
Stewardship and Leadership

 4(a)  treat others with courtesy and respect including fellow council
members, staff and members of the public

 5(c)  bully any person (bullying may be characterised as any single act
or pattern of offensive, intimidating, malicious, insulting or humiliating
behaviour; an abuse or misuse of power or authority which attempts to
undermine or coerce or has the effect of undermining or coercing an
individual or group of individuals by gradually eroding their confidence or
capability which may cause them to suffer stress or fear);

(These are the main ones, but on reviewing the code I feel that there are 
several other aspects of the code that Cllr Taylor has breached through his 
recent actions.) 

I have attached 3 documents which were completed by Cllr Taylor in 
connection with the recent re-opening of the Honiton Street Market. These 
documents should have been objective, fact-based risk assessments, but I 
believe they have been inappropriately and deliberately used to bully a fellow 
employee of Honiton Town Council, namely Mr Anthony McCollum, through 
the use of malicious and insulting comments contained within them. These 
documents were widely circulated to councillors, EDDC and via social media 
to probably a large number of people. (I first saw these documents on 6th 
June on Facebook) 

I consider this to be in breach of the Code of Conduct and a blatant misuse 
of power by Cllr Taylor in an attempt to undermine Mr McCollum’s standing 
as an employee of Honiton Town Council, as an EDDC councillor and as 
Chairman of Honiton Chamber of Commerce. 

None of the references made to Mr McCollum (or any other named persons) 
in these documents are relevant to the purpose for which they were 
produced and should not have been included. The only purpose they serve is 
to try and damage Mr McCollum’s reputation and I consider that clearly 
demonstrates a total lack of respect by Cllr Taylor towards an employee of 
Honiton Town Council. The Council has approved policies and procedures 
for dealing with concerns that councillors may have about an employee’s 
conduct and/or performance in their role and these should have been used if 
there were any issues. 

page 14



Final  -  Confidential 

 

As background information, Mr McCollum was absent on sick leave when 
these documents were circulated and ALL councillors were aware of the 
circumstances leading up to that absence, as they were all sent a letter 
detailing them by Cllr Wyatt. Despite this, a majority of councillors voted in 
favour of the proposal to re-open the market and thereby allowed the 
documents containing the malicious and insulting comments (as highlighted 
on the attached documents) to be put forward to EDDC and made available 
to the general public.  

It could be argued that those councillors, by not objecting to the contents of 
these documents when they were fully aware of the effect some councillor’s 
recent actions had taken on Mr McCollum’s health, have also breached the 
code, but as Cllr Taylor has put his name to them he is the councillor I have 
specifically named. 

As it states in the Code of Conduct ‘The reputation of the Council depends 
on your conduct and what the public believes about your conduct’. Honiton 
Town Council’s reputation is already severely damaged and this behaviour 
by Cllr Taylor, supported by other councillors, has I believe caused further 
damage.  

As an employee, I am personally finding that working for Honiton Town 
Council has become extremely stressful over the last few months and I have 
genuine concerns about the increasing use, by some councillors, of bullying 
as a means to try and get the outcomes they desire, rather than adhering to 
the procedures detailed in the Council’s approved policies. Even though I 
have not personally been bullied, I have witnessed it and I am no longer 
prepared to sit back and do nothing when my colleagues’ health is being 
adversely affected. 

I will be raising my concerns through the Council’s internal procedures and I 
have already requested that a risk assessment is completed, as a matter of 
urgency, to deal with ‘work-related stress’ to comply with the Council’s legal 
responsibility as an employer under the Health & Safety legislation. 

If any further information is required, please let me know. 

The complaint of Tony McCollum 

The basis of my complaint is that HTC Councillor John Taylor has breached 
the following sections of the Honiton Town Council Code of Conduct: 

1.2 You should have regard to the Principles of Public Life namely, 
Selflessness, Honesty/Integrity, Objectivity, Accountability, Openness, 
Personal Judgement, Respect for others, Duty to uphold the law, Steward and 
Leadership 

page 15



Final  -  Confidential 

 

4.(a) to treat others with courtesy and respect including fellow council 
members, staff and members of the public 

5(c) bullying any person (bullying may be characterised as any single act or 
patter of offensive, intimidating, malicious, insulting or humiliating behaviour, 
an abuse or misuse of power or authority which attempts to undermine or 
coerce or has effect of undermining or coercing an individual or group of 
individuals by gradually eroding their confidence or capability which may cause 
them to suffer stress or fear); 

I am enclosing various reports with highlighted comments made by Cllr Taylor 
in reference to myself 

1. Appraisal of Honiton Street Market during the Corona Virus outbreak
2. Copy of letter to Mr J Harding EDDC EHO
3. HTC Covid Compliance Proposal
4. Various reports submitted by Cllr Taylor to all Councillors and Social

Media with various allegations and nontruths made against myself all
highlighted

I was not given the right to defend myself or express my version of events prior 
statements being made to the public or on social media. 
The consequences of recent events and previous events since May 2019 has 
caused a detrimental effect on my health with work related stress, confidence,  
fear of employment for the future, if these personal attacks are allowed to 
continue then I cannot say how my situation will change for the better, 

Targeted 
Since my election as EDDC Councillor for St Pauls Ward back in May 20019, 
the attitude has changed between a select group of HTC Councillors of which 
Cllr Taylor is one them. 

All of this is evident in a lot of Cllr Taylors reports, this shows up as myself 
being mentioned as EDDC Councillor which should not be relevant to the 
reports.  

There seems to be a extreme vendetta since I became EDDC Councillor and 
my Employment at HTC has come under insomountable attacks and 
allegations and non truths since I got elected.  I have therefore had no option 
but to file a complaint to Honiton Town Council under the HTC Bullying and 
Harassment Complaints Procedure.  I have also filed back on January 28th 
under GDPR2018 a request for all information relating to myself, which they 
have failed to acknowledge or provide information.  This has now been sent to 
ICO as a complaint.  I have also sought support from my Union GMB as a 
safeguard for future employment with HTC. 

page 16



Final  -  Confidential 

 

1.12 The three complaints were assessed by the Monitoring Officer of East 
Devon District Council.  He decided that the complaints should be 
referred for independent investigation.   

1.13 The Monitoring Officer appointed me to carry out an investigation into the 
complaints on 6 July 2020.  

page 17



Final  -  Confidential 

2. Councillor Taylor’s official details

2.1 Councillor Taylor was first elected to Honiton Town Council in 2007 and 
has served continuously on the Council since then.  He was last elected 
in May 2019.   

2.2 He is one of ten members representing the St Michael’s Ward.   

2.3 Councillor Taylor is the Deputy Chair of the Finance Committee.  

3. The relevant legislation and protocols

The Localism Act 2011 

3.1 Section 27(1) of the Localism Act 2011 places a relevant authority under 
a statutory duty to ‘promote and maintain high standards of conduct by 
members and co-opted members of the authority’.  

3.2 Under section 27(2) of the Act, a relevant authority ‘must, in particular, 
adopt a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members and 
co-opted members of the authority when they are acting in that capacity’. 

3.3 Honiton Town Council is a relevant authority.  Its Code of Conduct was 
adopted in September 2015 and is shown on its website.   

3.4 This investigation is carried out in relation to the Town Council’s Code of 
Conduct and under the arrangements of East Devon District Council for 
considering complaints.   

page 18



Final  -  Confidential 

 

The Code of Conduct of Honiton Town Council 

3.5 The following paragraphs of the Code of Conduct are relevant:  

In order for the Council to discharge its duties and to ensure fair 
representation of ALL constituents Councillors must abide by the 
following Code of Conduct.   

General obligations 

4. You must -

(a) treat others with courtesy and respect including fellow
council members, staff and members of the public.

5. You must not -

(c) bully any person (bullying may be characterised as any
single act or pattern of offensive, intimidating, malicious,
insulting or humiliating behaviour; an abuse or misuse of
power or authority which attempts to undermine or
coerce or has the effect of undermining or coercing an
individual or group of individuals by gradually eroding
their confidence or capability which may cause them to
suffer stress or fear).

page 19



Final  -  Confidential 

 

4. The evidence gathered

Documentary and on-line evidence 

4.1 I have taken account of the following information: 

 Various emails between councillors and officers of Honiton Town
Council during May and June 2020.

 Councillor Taylor’s note of a meeting on 28 May 2020.

 Councillor Taylor’s Covid Compliance Proposal.

 A report on the re-opening of the market in the name of
Councillor Wyatt, dated 29 May 2020.

 Various letters and attachments from Jody Harding to officers
and councillors of the Town Council.

 A letter from Councillor Taylor to Jody Harding dated 6 June 2020.

Oral evidence 

4.2 I have taken account of oral evidence through interviews with; 

 John Burgess, complainant,

 Sonia Hawkins, complainant,

 Tony McCollum, complainant,

 Heloise Marlow, Deputy Town Clerk, witness,

 Councillor John Zarczynski, Mayor, witness,

 James Wyatt, former councillor, witness,

 Jody Harding, Environmental Health Officer, witness,

 Peter Allen, market trader, witness, and

 Councillor John Taylor, subject member.

4.3 The interviews were recorded.  The written records of the interviews were 
sent to the interviewees for the confirmation of accuracy.  The dates of 
sending the record and of the confirmation that the record is accurate are 
shown at the end of the record.   

4.4 The records of interviews are shown at documents 10 to 18.  

page 20



Final  -  Confidential 

5. Findings of fact

5.1 The complaints of Mr Burgess, Mrs Hawkins and Mr McCollum are all 
focussed on the contents of the Covid Compliance Proposal prepared by 
Councillor Taylor.  The Proposal and associated documents were 
circulated to all town councillors and externally.   

5.2 Mr Burgess considers that the language in the Covid Compliance 
Proposal is used deliberately to criticise the competence of Mr McCollum 
and is disrespectful to him.   

5.3 Mrs Hawkins considers that Councillor Taylor’s comments about Mr 
McCollum in the Proposal and the associated documents are irrelevant to 
their purpose.  She believes they are malicious and insulting and are 
intended to damage Mr McCollum’s reputation.  As such, they are both 
disrespectful and bullying towards him.   

5.4 Mr McCollum believes that Councillor Taylor’s comments in the Proposal 
and associated documents are disrespectful and bullying to him.  He 
says the consequence of this and previous events have had a 
detrimental effect on his health.   

5.5 Members are required to follow the Council’s Code of Conduct when they 
are acting in their role as a councillor.  This is known as their official 
capacity. 

5.6 Councillor Taylor prepared the Covid Compliance Proposal and the 
associated documents for the Town Council in its work to re-open the 
market.  He was undertaking the business of the Council and was 
therefore acting in his official capacity.  The Council’s Code of Conduct 
applied to his actions.   

5.7 Whilst the documentation prepared by Councillor Taylor is a matter of 
record, there are some issues for factual determination.  Firstly, I 
summarise the undisputed facts below.   

Undisputed facts 

5.8 In his role as the Town Development Manager, Tony McCollum is 
responsible for overseeing the street market, through the Market 
Assistant, Carl Cracknell.  At the time in question, he was also the 
Chairman of the Honiton Chamber of Commerce.   

page 21



Final  -  Confidential 

 

5.9 Mr McCollum was elected as an East Devon District Councillor in May 
2019.  A number of town councillors had expressed concern at this, 
considering there was a conflict of interest between his roles as an 
employee and a councillor.  Queries were raised with bodies including 
the Electoral Commission, South West Council and the Monitoring 
Officer.  All said there was no legal or technical reason why he couldn’t 
undertake both roles.   

5.10 The operation of the Honiton market was suspended from 23 March 2020 
under the national coronavirus restrictions. 

5.11 On 11 May, Mr McCollum emailed the Deputy Clerk to ask what the 
Council’s view on re-opening the market was.  The Deputy Clerk replied 
to say that six councillors had responded on the matter and all believed it 
was too soon to re-open the market.  She said that;  

In the first instance they would like you to provide your views on how to 
adhere to social distancing measures and how Axminster are dealing 
with the situation.   

5.12 Mr McCollum replied to say that he would be visiting Axminster.  He 
expressed his reservation that, with the Honiton market being laid out 
alongside pavements, it might not be possible to maintain the 2 metre 
social distancing rule.  He said he would look at temporary alternatives in 
order to get the market back as soon as possible (document 1).   

5.13 Councillor Wyatt had been developing proposals for the economic 
recovery of the Town after coronavirus.  The Mayor had suggested that 
he worked with Tony McCollum on these.  On 19 May, the two discussed 
what could be done to re-open the market.  On 20 May they walked 
along the High Street and Tony McCollum briefed Councillor Wyatt on 
the normal set up of the market.  Councillor Wyatt began to prepare a 
report for the Council on the matter.   

5.14 On Wednesday 27 May, Councillor Wyatt arranged to meet Mr McCollum 
in the High Street the next day, to take measurements regarding social 
distancing requirements.  The meeting was to be at 10.45am.   

5.15 Later on 27 May, Jody Harding, the lead Environmental Health Officer for 
commercial premises at East Devon District Council, emailed Mr 
McCollum.  He enclosed the Government guidance on opening outdoor 
markets.  He also commented that if there was queuing outside shops in 
the High Street, it would be not be possible to achieve 2m distancing at 
the market.  He strongly recommended that the market be moved off the 
High Street so that 2m distancing could be controlled (document 2).    

page 22



Final  -  Confidential 

 

5.16 On the evening of 27 May, Councillor Zarczynski telephoned Councillor 
Wyatt.  He told him that, in his view, the market should be re-opened in 
the High Street.  He asked for the Market Assistant to be included in his 
meeting.  He also telephoned Councillor Taylor and asked him to attend 
but did not notify Councillor Wyatt or Mr McCollum of this.   

5.17 On Thursday 28 May, Mr McCollum waited in the High Street for the 
meeting to start.  Councillor Taylor arrived and waited in the vicinity.  
Councillor Wyatt arrived with the Market Assistant and a market trader 
and his wife.   

5.18 There was an exchange between Mr McCollum and Councillor Taylor.  
Mr McCollum left the meeting.  There were some further discussions and 
the meeting fragmented and ended.   

5.19 Later that afternoon, Councillor Wyatt emailed all councillors to update 
them on the re-opening of the market and on the meeting that morning. 
He said that, having spoken to Tony and Carl, there were broadly two 
options.  These were;  

… to hold the market on the street but with significant changes and 
limitations or to hold the market in one central location to allow control.  

He said that the two options were in the process of being written up for 
councillors in order for them to make an informed decision.   

5.20 He set out a timeline for a Council decision on re-opening the market, 
including a report on the matter in the next 2 to 4 days.  He also 
suggested a press release for the Council’s website (document 3).  

5.21 Later that day (or possibly early on Friday 29 May), Councillor Taylor also 
prepared a note of the meeting in the High Street.  He introduced the 
note with; 

This was to be a short description of events of Thursday 28 May relating 
to the opening of the Street Market.  However following Cllr Wyatt’s odd 
submission with few facts I have included some comments but reserve 
others.   

5.22 In the note, he made a series of comments about Mr McCollum, on 
matters including; the length of his leave, being engrossed in phone calls, 
failing to pursue work, making a dumb proposal, having a conflict of 
interests and his voting as an EDDC councillor (document 4).   

5.23 Early on Friday 29 May, Councillor Zarczynski circulated Councillor 
Taylor’s note of the meeting to all councillors. 

page 23



Final  -  Confidential 

 

5.24 During that day, Mr McCollum and Councillor Wyatt finished the 
measurements needed for their report.  

5.25 Also on Friday 29 May, Councillor Taylor started to write a document he 
called Covid Compliance Proposal.  In Part 1 of this, he incorporated 
much of his note of the meeting on 28 May, including most of the 
comments about Mr McCollum.   

5.26 In the evening of Friday 29 May, Councillor Wyatt circulated his report on 
market re-opening together with a plan of the High Street.  It set out eight 
options, including opening in the High Street and on various alternative 
sites (document 5).   

5.27 On Saturday 30 May, Councillor Zarczynski emailed all councillors on the 
subject of Councillor Wyatt’s report.  He stated his view that the market 
should be re-opened in the High Street without undue delay and referred 
to the proposals of the Market Assistant and Councillor Taylor’s ‘very 
comprehensive report’.  He said he had not called for a vote – it would 
ultimately be for Council to vote ‘as per informative hard copy 
information/evidence’ (document 6).   

5.28 On Sunday 31 May, Councillor Taylor wrote Part 2 of his Covid 
Compliance Proposal.  This gave details of site measurements and 
proposed signage.  He combined Parts 1 and 2 to form his completed 
Covid Compliance Proposal.  It is this document that was subsequently 
circulated internally and externally and which is the subject of the three 
complaints (document 7).  He sent the Proposal to Councillor Zarczynski.  

5.29 The comments in the Covid Compliance Proposal that are of concern to 
the complainants are: 

no effort has been made by either Mr McCullum or Cllr Wyatt to consider 
measurements. 

I often (until 2017) stood in for Mr McCullum and located the Traders to 
their Pitches etc whilst Mr McCullum was on holiday, once for 4 weeks. 

I took payments for pitches, hire of equipment that I erected (no longer 
available since Mr McCullum sold the equipment). 

Mr McCullum was there but was engrossed in consecutive phone calls. 

Cllr Wyatt has not dealt with facts at all save cursory non-critical 
reference to three pages of documents provided but not authored by Mr 
McCullum. 

that accords with the failure of Mr McCullum to pursue any of the above 
described work, 

page 24



Final  -  Confidential 

Mr McCullum and Cllr Wyatt mentioned the Cattle Market.  … it is 
astounding that such a dumb proposal has been made.   

I assume that Mr McCullum made EH aware that he is Chairman of the 
Honiton Chamber of Commerce and as such is severely conflicted in that 
he would of necessity pursue the interests of his sponsoring businesses 
which include several of the closed (for two weeks) shops. 

Mr McCullum acting as EDDC Councillor voted for increases in the car 
park charges prior to the lockdown 

Mr McCullum has not bothered to approach the schools. 

it would be useful for HTC to require of its employee Mr McCullum copies 
of the correspondence to EH and when he first contacted them. 

It is also obvious that the blatant discrimination between the rights of the 
Market Traders and the currently open businesses has almost certainly 
not been put to EH.   

5.30 At 8.51am on Monday 1 June, Councillor Zarczynski sent the Covid 
Compliance Proposal to all councillors.  By 9am, councillors had voted by 
email to re-open the market on Tuesday 2 June.  Councillor Zarczynski 
sent the Covid Compliance Proposal to Mr Harding during the morning.   

5.31 During the day, Mr McCollum tried to contact Mr Harding to obtain his 
response to the Covid Compliance Proposal.  He was not able to do so 
and, by 4pm, had written to councillors saying he could not open the 
market the next day.  He said he would put things in place to open the 
market on Saturday 6 June.   

5.32 At some stage in the day, Mr Harding wrote formally to Tony McCollum 
acknowledging receipt of the Covid Compliance Proposal.  He requested 
a suitable and sufficient risk assessment for the re-opening of the market. 

5.33 Mr Harding again wrote formally on Tuesday 2 June to Councillor 
Zarczynski.  He said that the documents sent to him had not been an 
assessment of risk and had not detailed the controls to be put in place to 
prevent the spread of coronavirus.  He stated that the Town Council must 
provide suitable and sufficient risk assessments for coronavirus security 
at the Honiton Market.   

5.34 At 9.30 on Thursday 4 June, Councillor Zarczynski sent Mr Harding the 
Covid Compliance Proposal, another document written by Councillor 
Taylor and a spreadsheet identifying risks and mitigating actions.  He 
informed Mr Harding that Mr McCollum had self-certified as sick and 
asked for all correspondence to be directed to him.   

page 25



Final  -  Confidential 

 

5.35 Later that day, Councillor Zarczynski and Councillor Taylor visited the 
Axminster market to see its operation. 

5.36 On Friday 5 June, Councillor Taylor wrote a letter to Mr Harding giving 
further details of the proposed arrangements for re-opening the market 
(document 8).  In it, he said;  

Your friend and EDDC Councillor Mr McCullum keeps the lists. He has 
not provided any because he has not done any preparation for reopening 
as allowed by law.  Fortunately we have a Market Assistant who does all 
the work…   

5.37 At 1pm, Councillor Zarczynski emailed all councillors, attaching five 
documents, including the Covid Compliance Proposal and Councillor 
Taylor’s letter to Mr Harding.  He proposed that the market be re-opened 
from Saturday 6 June and asked for votes emailed by no later than 
3.30pm (document 9).   

5.38 At 3.29, Councillor Zarczynski circulated the result of the vote, which was 
8:2 in favour of re-opening.   

5.39 The market re-opened on Saturday 6 June. 

5.40 Mr McCollum was signed off as sick by his doctor from 8 June. 

5.41 A chronology of the relevant events is given below. 

page 26



Final  -  Confidential 

Chronology 

Date Event 

2020 

11 May TMcC emails Deputy Clerk asking Council’s view on re-opening market. 

12 May Deputy Clerk replies – six councillors say too soon.  “They would like you to 
provide your views on how to adhere to social distancing measures and how 
Axminster is dealing with the situation”.   

12 May TMcC.  My thoughts also.  Will visit Axminster.  The way we run market, would 
be impossible to keep 2m apart.  Will look at temporary alternatives.   

20 May TMcC walked High Street with Cllr Wyatt to update him on normal setup. 
TMcC discussed with Market Assistant – difference of opinion.   

22 – 22 May? TMcC tries to contact EDDC – difficult in lockdown. 

24 May Cllr Zarczynski to Deputy Clerk.  Tony has not provided his report on his 
proposals you requested 3-4 weeks ago.   

25 May TMcC email to councillors.  Government permission for markets to restart.  
Working with Cllr Wyatt - difficult to adhere to 2m.   
Investigating alternative temporary sites.   
Confirmed he had not been asked to carry out risk assessment.  Commented 
on Axminster market.   

26 May 15.10  Deputy Clerk to Cllr Zarczynski.  I asked TMcC to provide his views on 
how to adhere to social distancing.  Wasn’t clear that councillors wanted a 
written report / risk assessment.   
Cllr Zarczynski to Deputy Clerk.  Report / risk assessment was referring to your 
email 3-4 weeks ago.   

27 May 
Wednesday 

Cllr Wyatt asks to meet TMcC in High Street on Thursday.  He would also invite 
Cllr Darrant and Carl to attend.   

27 May 
Wednesday 

17.41  First email from EHO.  Attaches guidance.  If queues in High Street, 2m 
distancing cannot be followed.  Strongly recommends move off High Street.   

27 May 
Wednesday 

Evening.  Cllr Zarczynski phone call to Cllr Wyatt. 
Asks Cllr Taylor to go.  Asks for Carl to attend.   

page 27



Final  -  Confidential 

28 May 09.26 
Thursday 

Cllr Wyatt asks to meet at 10.45am 

28 May 10.45 
Thursday 

Cllr Taylor arrives – ‘hovers’.  TMcC makes some phone calls.   
Cllr Wyatt arrives with Carl and two market traders.   
Cllr Taylor joins.  ‘Should have done report and risk assessment two weeks 
ago’.  Altercation.  TMcC leaves meeting.   

28 May 16.14 
Thursday 

Cllr Wyatt email to councillors.  Outcome of meeting, proposed timeline and 
press release.   
Councillor Taylor prepares ‘a short description of events’.  

29 May 
Friday 

08.06  Cllr Zarczynski not in favour of press release.   
09.29  Cllr Zarczynski circulates Cllr Taylor’s note of meeting of 28 May.  
TMcC and Cllr Wyatt finishing measuring pitches for drawing for report.   
Cllr Taylor visits.   
Cllr Taylor writes Part 1 of Covid Compliance Proposal.  
17.07  Deputy Clerk calls for votes on re-opening on 2 June by 9am on  
1 June.   

29 May 
Friday 

13.02  Second email from EHO 
Cllr Darrant asks what penalties are if guidance not met. 
21.50  Cllr Wyatt circulates report on re-opening plus plan. 
17.02  Third email from EHO.  Circulated 22.08. 

30 May 
Saturday 

Email Cllr Zarczynski to Cllr Wyatt, all councillors and TMcC.  ‘Carl’s very 
workable proposals – initiative and hard work.  Cllr Taylor’s very 
comprehensive report’.   

31 May 
Sunday 

Cllr Taylor writes Part 2 of Covid Compliance proposal. 

1 June 
Monday 

08.51  Cllr Zarczynski circulates Cllr Taylor compliance document to 
councillors.  Will be sent direct to EH this morning.   
9.51  Deputy Clerk advises 7:4 in favour of re-opening on 2 June.   
11.05  TMcC circulates email from J Harding.  Will open market on 2 June as 
instructed.   
11.20  Cllr Zarczynski confirms Cllr Taylor’s documents sent by him to Mr 
Harding this morning.  Not seen by Office.   
13.18  TMcC to councillors. No more information from J Harding, can’t contact 
Carl.  At this late stage, impossible to arrange opening tomorrow.   
15.59  TMcC - will put things in place ready for Saturday 6 June.   
“Effectively been  taken out of hands” of Cllr Wyatt and TMcC 

1 June J Harding letter to TMcC.  Provide us with copy of suitable risk assessment.  

page 28



Final  -  Confidential 

2 June 11.36  TMcC circulates letter and guidance from J Harding.   
J Harding letter to HTC – must provide suitable risk assessments – in 5 days. 
2m distancing.  Documents have been sent to me from various councillors - 
not risk assessments, not detailed controls.   
TMcC -- has not received copy of Cllr Taylor’s assessment. 

4 June Cllr Zarczynski sends Covid Compliance Proposal and risk assessment to 
J Harding - TMcC is off sick so all correspondence to him.   
Cllrs Zarczynski and Taylor visit Axminster market.   
TMcC absent sick from 4 June – signed off on 8 June.   

5 June 12.19  Letter Cllr Taylor to J Harding.  Details HTC arrangements.  Critical of 
TMcC and J Harding.   
13.00  Email Cllr Zarczynski to councillors.  Five documents attached. Vote by 
15.30.   
14.32  Cllr Wyatt – documentation not as required.  Wants to see Mr Harding’s 
letters.   
15.29  Cllr Zarczynski circulates result of re-vote – 8 to 2 for opening.  
Market will re-open Saturday 6 June.   

6 June Market re-opens in High Street 

page 29



Final  -  Confidential 

Disputed facts 

5.42 Whilst most of the events of relevance to the complaints are a matter of 
record, there are two matters where there are differences of 
understanding and differences in accounts.   

Mr McCollum was told to prepare a report on re-opening the market 

5.43 I found that Councillor Zarczynski and Councillor Taylor were firmly of the 
view that Mr McCollum had been instructed to prepare a report on the re-
opening of the market.  There seems to have been the expectation that 
this would include detailed assessments and arrangements for operating 
the market in the High Street.  At the meeting in the High Street, 
Councillor Taylor stated that the report should have been completed 
weeks ago, which would mean before 14 May.   

5.44 The subject of re-opening of the market had first been raised by Mr 
McCollum in his email to the Deputy Clerk on 11 May.  She had advised 
him that councillors had said it was too soon to do so and that; They 
would like you to provide your views on how to adhere to social 
distancing measures.  There was no instruction for a particular report by 
a certain date.   

5.45 Mr McCollum commented to the Deputy Clerk by return that, because of 
the layout of the market alongside pavements, he thought that 2m 
distancing would not be possible and that he would be investigating 
temporary alternative sites.   

5.46 On Monday 25 May, Mr McCollum wrote to councillors to say that he had 
been working with Councillor Wyatt to consider how the market could be 
safely operated on the High Street.  He was also investigating alternative 
temporary sites.  He confirmed that he had not been not been asked to 
carry out a risk assessment as referred to by Councillor Zarczynski.  On 
26 May, the Deputy Clerk advised Councillor Zarczynski that it wasn’t 
clear that councillors wanted a written report and risk assessment.   

5.47 It seems that Councillor Zarczynski, in particular, misunderstood what Mr 
McCollum had been asked to do, and was doing, regarding the market.  
Councillor Taylor said that he understood Mr McCollum was preparing a 
report and it is likely that he derived this view from Councillor Zarczynski.  

5.48 In fact, Councillor Wyatt notified all councillors on 28 May that, working 
with Mr McCollum, he was preparing a report which would be available 
very shortly.  The report, together with a plan of measurements, was 
delivered to councillors the next day.  Councillor Zarczynski did not 
arrange for councillors to consider or vote on the report and no action 
was taken on it.   

page 30



Final  -  Confidential 

5.49 Regarding Mr McCollum’s work on re-opening the market, I find that; 

 He was not instructed in mid May to produce a particular report or
a risk assessment, and was not given any timescale for such
work.

 He had provided his views, as requested, and had told councillors
he was working with Councillor Wyatt on how to safely operate the
market in the High street.

 Councillor Wyatt delivered a report on 29 May on re-opening the
market, giving a range of options.  Councillor Zarczynski did not
arrange for the Council to consider the report and the Council took
no action on it.

The meeting in the High Street 

5.50 Mr McCollum told me that Councillor Taylor had said that he had been 
told to do a risk assessment and a viability report.  Councillor Taylor had 
said he should have done this weeks ago.  By this stage he was shouting 
and everyone else could see this.   

5.51 Councillor Taylor told me he had said that the exercise was to have been 
considered some weeks ago.  He understood that the Deputy Clerk had 
instructed Mr McCollum to do that.  He said he hadn’t shouted.  He had 
only raised his voice to be heard over the traffic.   

5.52 Councillor Wyatt told me that Councillor Taylor was always relatively 
abrasive.  He confirmed that Councillor Taylor told Tony McCollum that 
he should have done this weeks ago.  He did not describe Councillor 
Taylor as shouting.   

5.53 Peter Allen, the market trader who had been present, thought that 
Councillor Taylor had said something like; it should have been done 
weeks ago.  But since Tony was the Market manager, it was obviously 
directed at him.  He said that Councillor Taylor’s voice had been slightly 
raised but he hadn’t shouted.  It hadn’t attracted public attention.   

5.54 Regarding the meeting in the High Street, I find that; 

 Councillor Taylor said something like, this should have been done
weeks ago, and this was directed at Mr McCollum.

 Councillor Taylor’s voice was raised but he hadn’t shouted.

page 31



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Allegations by Councillor Taylor 

5.55 At interview, Councillor Taylor raised the matter of the Town Council 
making payments to the local Masonic Lodge for the storage of 
equipment related to the market.  He subsequently expanded on this to 
me and raised other matters about the provision of Health and Safety 
equipment for the Market Assistant and the activities of a group called 
Honiton Forward.   

5.56 My remit is to investigate the complaints made about Councillor Taylor 
and these other matters are outside of this scope.  

5.57 Councillor Taylor believes that his understanding of these matters 
justifies some of his comments in the Covid Compliance documents.  My 
view is that if he has such concerns, there are proper channels available 
through which they can be raised and dealt with.  A technical appraisal of 
re-opening the market is not an appropriate channel.    

page 32



Final  -  Confidential 

 

6. Reasoning as to whether there has been a failure to
comply with the Code of Conduct

6.1 On the basis of the findings of fact above, I have assessed Councillor 
Taylor’s conduct in relation to the requirements of the Council’s Code of 
Conduct.   

6.2 The relevant paragraphs of the Code require councillors to treat others 
with courtesy and respect and not to bully any person.  The test for these 
requirements is how a reasonable person in possession of the facts 
would regard the conduct in question.   

6.3 Councillor Taylor’s comments in his Covid Compliance Proposal and 
associated documents were made within the context of the Town 
Council’s efforts to re-open the street market.   

6.4 These began with Mr McCollum raising the issue and being asked to 
provide his views on how to adhere to social distancing measures.  
Councillor Wyatt had been asked by the Mayor to work with Mr McCollum 
and the two began to work together on the exercise.   

6.5 Councillor Zarczynski was aware of Mr McCollum’s initial view that two 
metre social distancing would be difficult to achieve in the High Street 
and that he would be looking at temporary alternative sites.   

6.6 Councillor Zarczynski told me he had heard that Mr McCollum’s view was 
that the market couldn’t re-open in the High Street and that it was going 
to be moved to the cattle market.  At the same time, he also thought Mr 
McCollum had been instructed to produce a “report/risk assessment” at 
the start of May.  On both matters he had misunderstood or had been 
misinformed of the situation.   

6.7 He discussed the re-opening of the market with Councillor Taylor and no 
doubt shared his perceptions with him.  He was also approached by the 
Market Assistant who felt that the market should be re-opened in the 
High Street.   

6.8 With Mr McCollum and Councillor Wyatt proceeding with measuring the 
High Street, Councillor Zarczynski became aware that they were meeting 
on 28 May.  He telephoned Councillor Wyatt and asked that the Market 
Assistant attended the meeting.  He also called Councillor Taylor and 
asked him to attend but did not tell Councillor Wyatt that he had done so.  

page 33



Final  -  Confidential 

6.9 It seems that Councillor Zarczynski had formed the view that the market 
should be reopened in High Street.  He was concerned that Councillor 
Wyatt and Mr McCollum were not heading in this direction.  He therefore 
sought to bypass their work and introduced Councillor Taylor into the 
exercise.   

6.10 The Deputy Clerk told me there was no decision or instruction by the 
Council for Councillor Taylor to be involved in the reopening exercise. 

6.11 Both Councillor Wyatt and Mr McCollum were surprised when Councillor 
Taylor arrived and involved himself in their meeting.  Councillor Taylor 
started off by telling Mr McCollum that he should have produced a report 
on the market weeks ago.  I consider making such criticism in front of the 
market traders and Mr McCollum’s assistant was discourteous and 
undermining.   

6.12 Mr McCollum felt that the meeting had been hijacked.  He believed he 
was being taken out of the equation before his views or proposals had 
even been heard.  I believe there was justification for this view.  I 
consider that the manoeuvrings of Councillor Zarczynski and Councillor 
Taylor around the meeting were unprofessional and underhanded.  They 
were intended to sideline Mr McCollum and undermine his role.   

6.13 Councillor Wyatt’s note to councillors after the meeting made it quite 
clear that the exercise to re-open the market had made good progress.  It 
had narrowed down the options to two and these would be written up and 
presented to councillors for their decision within a day or two.   

6.14 On learning of Councillor Wyatt’s note, Councillor Taylor wrote his own 
version of the meeting.  He set out his analysis of the situation and 
strongly recommended that the market be re-opened in the High Street 
on Tuesday.  Councillor Zarczynski circulated this to all councillors and 
the Deputy Clerk (but not Mr McCollum) the next morning.   

6.15 Alongside his proposals for the market, Councillor Taylor used his note to 
criticise Mr McCollum and, to a lesser extent, Councillor Wyatt.  He said 
that Mr McCollum had failed to pursue any work, had made an 
astoundingly dumb proposal, had a conflict of interests and would pursue 
the interests of businesses.  He referred to delaying tactics and blatant 
discrimination.   

page 34



Final  -  Confidential 

 

6.16 These comments were, to a large extent, repeated in his Covid 
Compliance Proposal and I consider them further below.  Used in his 
note of the meeting, I consider Councillor Taylor was trying to undermine 
Mr McCollum and what his proposals were imagined to be.  His criticisms 
were significant and personal and many had nothing to do with the issue 
in hand.  Being made behind his back, Mr McCollum had no opportunity 
to answer them.  I consider the comments were discourteous, malicious 
and intended to undermine Mr McCollum.   

6.17 Mr McCollum and Councillor Wyatt finished their measurements and 
Councillor Wyatt issued his report that evening.  The report was 
comprehensive, assessing eight options, together with their safety, cost 
and staffing implications.  Members were invited to decide on one of the 
options and direct the Town Development Manager to work with the 
Environmental Health Officer to deliver it.   

6.18 Councillor Zarczynski now had the report on the market that he had been 
calling for.  Re-opening on the High Street safely and within days was 
available for members to consider and choose.   

6.19 He was not satisfied with this however.  He wrote to all councillors saying 
he did not want votes on Councillor Wyatt’s report.  He referred to ‘all the 
hard work’ of the Market Assistant and his ‘very workable proposals’.  He 
also praised Councillor Taylor’s ‘very comprehensive report’, meaning his 
note following the meeting on 28 May.  He concluded rather 
condescendingly by appreciating ‘all the work you are putting in with the 
best of intentions’.  The report was thereafter ignored.   

6.20 I find this response perverse.  As well as indicating a predetermined view 
of how the market should open, it demonstrates clearly the rejection and 
sidelining of the work and the role of Mr McCollum.   

6.21 In parallel with this, Councillor Taylor was preparing his Covid 
Compliance Proposal.  This seemed to be intended as a technical 
assessment justifying re-opening the market in the High Street.  He 
included in it, as Part 1, much of his previous note of the meeting of 28 
May.   

6.22 Nine of his comments about Mr McCollum were carried forward and he 
added in two more.  The full list of critical comments is shown in 
‘undisputed facts’ above.   

6.23 A number of the criticisms are simply not correct.  Mr McCollum clearly 
had made efforts to consider measurements – he had taken 
comprehensive measurements with Councillor Wyatt on the Friday.  And 
he clearly had pursued work, liaising with Environmental Health and 
contributing significantly to the report delivered to councillors.   

page 35



Final  -  Confidential 

 

6.24 Some are bizarrely irrelevant, such as Mr McCollum taking four week’s 
leave three years ago and being engrossed in consecutive phone calls 
before the meeting had started.  It is also difficult to follow the relevance 
of Mr McCollum voting for increases in car parking charges as an East 
Devon councillor.    

6.25 The comment that market equipment was no longer available since Mr 
McCollum sold it insinuates impropriety on his part.  I understand that 
equipment was sold some years ago as a result of a Council decision. 

6.26 The assertions that Mr McCollum would ‘of necessity pursue the interests 
of his sponsoring businesses’ and ‘blatantly discriminates’ against market 
traders are serious and made without justification.   

6.27 Finding it ‘astounding that such a dumb proposal has been made’ about 
the cattle market was not only insulting but a misrepresentation of the 
facts.  Mr McCollum had not proposed that the market be located there; it 
was one of a number of possible sites that were investigated.  The cattle 
market site was clearly not recommended in the report.   

6.28 Part 1 of the document ends with Councillor Taylor reflecting that it would 
be useful for the Town Council to require of its employee, Mr McCollum, 
copies of correspondence with Environmental Health.  This indicates 
distrust of Mr McCollum, suggesting that he was withholding information 
from councillors.   

6.29 The common theme of the comments is that they are discourteous, rude 
and in some cases insulting to Mr McCollum.  They demean him 
personally and criticise his competence at work.  They were made in a 
widely circulated Council document to which Mr McCollum had no 
opportunity to respond.   

6.30 Furthermore, I consider the comments are malicious and intended to 
undermine Mr McCollum’s role as the Town Development Manager.  

6.31 Probably their most striking feature is that they have no relevance to a 
technical and factual assessment of how to re-open the market safely.  
Their inclusion can only be to damage Mr McCollum’s standing.  If 
Councillor Taylor wished to challenge Mr McCollum’s performance, there 
were proper channels for him to do so.  His criticisms had no place in 
what was effectively a public document.   

6.32 Councillor Zarczynski circulated the Covid Compliance Proposal to 
councillors and sent it to Mr Harding on Monday 1 June.  The Deputy 
Clerk confirmed that it hadn’t been sent out through the office.   

page 36



Final  -  Confidential 

6.33 Following his response to Councillor Wyatt’s report, Councillor 
Zarczynski and Councillor Taylor took over the exercise to re-open the 
market.  They dealt directly with Mr Harding through the week of 1 June, 
without reference to Mr McCollum or the Council.   

6.34 In his letter to Mr Harding of 6 June, Councillor Taylor referred to your 
friend and EDDC Councillor Mr McCollum.  

6.35 Mr McCollum told me that his election as a District Councillor in May 
2019 had been an issue for a number of councillors.  Despite receiving 
advice that there was no problem, queries and sarcastic remarks 
continued.  He said Councillor Taylor was the front man for the group.   

6.36 Councillor Wyatt told me that, when he had joined the Council, he was 
informed that Tony’s roles had been looked in to and there was no 
conflict of interests.  Nevertheless, he had been in numerous 
conversations with councillors in the past year where his roles continued 
to be questioned.   

6.37 Councillor Taylor told me there was a problem with Mr McCollum being a 
councillor at the District and an employee of the Council because he was 
in a politically sensitive position.   

6.38 Mr Harding told me that he wasn’t aware Tony McCollum was an EDDC 
councillor and he had no dealings with him at all at East Devon.  He 
thought it was inappropriate and unprofessional for a councillor to write 
such a letter.   

6.39 I regard Councillor Taylor’s comment as a continuation of his complaint 
that there was a conflict in Mr McCollum being a District Councillor, 
despite advice to the contrary.  I consider it is a further unjustified and 
undermining comment aimed at Mr McCollum.   

6.40 Councillor Taylor’s Covid Compliance Proposal was sent to Mr Harding 
on Friday 5 June.  The Proposal and other documents were put to 
councillors for voting later in the day.   

Disrespect 

6.41 All of the complainants believe that Councillor Taylor’s document was 
disrespectful to Mr McCollum.  

page 37



Final  -  Confidential 

 

6.42 John Burgess said there wasn’t a positive statement about Mr McCollum. 
It suggested he wasn’t doing his job and was used to put him in a bad 
light.  Sonia Hawkins said the comments had no relevance to the 
purpose of the document.  They were trying to undermine Tony and get 
at him.  Mr McCollum said the comments about him were personal and 
shouldn’t be in a risk assessment. Councillor Taylor had taken the 
opportunity to undermine his position as an employee and in the Town.  

6.43 The Deputy Clerk felt that some of the comments in the Proposal were 
personal, biased and unfair.  A risk assessment should not have any 
such personal remarks in it.  She believed the document was 
disrespectful to the Town Development Manager.   

6.44 Councillor Wyatt felt that submitting the document as a risk assessment 
was ‘pretty shocking’.  He believed the comments about Tony McCollum 
were disrespectful to him.   

6.45 Mr Harding felt the criticisms and personal comments about Mr 
McCollum were inappropriate in a document being sent to him.  They had 
nothing to do with the risk assessment and therefore shouldn’t have been 
in there.  He felt the document had been written as if it was intended to 
be released into the public domain.   

6.46 Councillor Zarczynski told me that he couldn’t defend Councillor Taylor’s 
criticisms of Mr McCollum.  He said he could have chosen his words 
better.   

6.47 Councillor Taylor did not accept that his document was disrespectful to 
Mr McCollum.  He said that facts were facts.   

6.48 I have found that Councillor Taylor was discourteous and undermining to 
Mr McCollum in the meeting on the High Street.   

6.49 I have found that his comments, firstly in his note of the meeting and 
secondly in his Covid Compliance Proposal were discourteous and 
insulting to Mr McCollum.  They were demeaning personally and critical 
of his competence at work.  They were malicious and intended to 
undermine Mr McCollum’s role as the Town Development Manager.   

6.50 Accordingly, I find that in these instances: 

 Councillor Taylor did not treat Mr McCollum with respect.  He
therefore failed to follow paragraph 4(a) of the Code of Conduct.

page 38



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Bullying 

6.51 Complainants Sonia Hawkins and Tony McCollum believe that Councillor 
Taylors conduct was also bullying to Tony McCollum.   

6.52 Sonia Hawkins told me it was a blatant misuse of power by Councillor 
Taylor.  It had been done to undermine Tony McCollum’s roles as an 
employee, a councillor and with the Chamber of Commerce.   

6.53 Tony McCollum felt the document was bullying because it was trying to 
undermine him, was contradicting him and was making allegations that 
he was not doing his job.   

6.54 Councillor Wyatt believed that Councillor Taylor’s comments about Mr 
McCollum had been bullying.  He had said so to councillors.   

6.55 Councillor Taylor rejected the allegation that he had been bullying to Mr 
McCollum.  He told me, however, that his document was technical, and 
technical could be bullying in the sense that facts are facts.   

6.56 The Code of Conduct states that bullying may be characterised as any 
single act or pattern of offensive, intimidating, malicious, insulting or 
humiliating behaviour; an abuse or misuse of power or authority which 
attempts to undermine or coerce or has the effect of undermining or 
coercing an individual or group of individuals by gradually eroding their 
confidence or capability which may cause them to suffer stress or fear.  

6.57 Regarding bullying, Councillor Taylor’s conduct from late May to early 
June is relevant.  His specific actions of preparing and issuing his 
documents are set within this.   

6.58 Mr McCollum had been working to re-open the market in a Covid-
compliant way.  As the Town Development Manager he would be 
expected to lead and report on this exercise.  Councillor Zarczynski and 
Councillor Taylor manoeuvred behind the scenes to remove this task 
from him on grounds that were unjustified and unfair.   

6.59 Councillor Taylor was eager to take over the work, believing he was 
experienced and well equipped to do so. 

6.60 He produced his own documentation, including comments which were 
malicious and insulting to Mr McCollum and intended to undermine his 
standing and his work.   

6.61 As an individual councillor carrying out operational work without any 
Council authority, I consider Councillor Taylor was misusing his power.  

page 39



Final  -  Confidential 

 

6.62 Being so effectively and publicly sidelined from a project at the core of 
his work was humiliating and severely undermining to Mr McCollum.  He 
lost confidence that his work on the market was worthwhile.  
Nevertheless, he worked with Councillor Wyatt to deliver a report on the 
matter.  This was studiously ignored, however.  

6.63 Shortly afterwards, Mr McCollum self-certified as sick and was later 
signed off work by his doctor. 

6.64 Councillor Wyatt told me he had been very concerned about Tony’s 
welfare.  He believed that a key contributor to him being off sick was that 
he had been completely marginalised over the previous two weeks.  The 
task that he was running with had been taken off him by a number of 
councillors.  It had been made clear that they valued the opinion of his 
assistant over his.   

6.65 Councillor Taylor’s conduct over the period in question, including the 
comments in his documentation, corresponds with many of the features 
of bullying as defined in the Code.  His behaviour was malicious, 
insulting, humiliating and undermining.  He misused his power and 
eroded Mr McCollum’s confidence.  His actions caused stress to the 
point of sickness.   

6.66 In these circumstances, I find that; 

 Councillor Taylor was bullying to Mr McCollum.  He therefore
failed to follow paragraph 5(c) of the code of Conduct.

page 40



Final  -  Confidential 

7. Summary of Findings

7.1 In summary, I have found that; 

 At the meeting in the High Street and through the comments
in his Covid Compliance Proposal and associated
documents, Councillor Taylor was disrespectful to Mr
McCollum.  He therefore failed to follow paragraph 4(a) of the
Code of Conduct.

 Through his conduct during the exercise to re-open the
market and with the comments in his Covid Compliance
Proposal and associated documents, Councillor Taylor was
bullying to Mr McCollum.  He therefore failed to follow
paragraph 5(c) of the Code of Conduct.

7.2 The reasoning for my findings is set out in section 6 above.  

7.3 Mr Burgess, Mrs Hawkins, Mr McCollum and Councillor Taylor were sent 
draft copies of this report on 1 October 2020.   

7.4 Mr Burgess and Mrs Hawkins were satisfied with the report and made no 
further comments.  Mr McCollum said he did not wish to add anything to 
the report at this stage but would comment further on Councillor Taylor’s 
statement if the findings of the report were challenged.   

7.5 Councillor Taylor did not accept the report and its findings.  He submitted 
a series of comments relating to individual paragraphs of the report, up to 
the start of section 6.   

7.6 I have carefully considered these comments but they have not led me to 
change my analysis of the relevant matters or my findings on his 
conduct.   

7.7 I have included Councillor Taylor’s response to the draft report at 
document 19.   

7.8 This is my final report.  It will be forwarded to the Monitoring Officer who 
will complete the remaining stages of the Council’s complaints 
procedure.   

page 41



Final  -  Confidential 

8. Schedule of evidence appended

Document 
no. 

Description 

1 Email exchange between Town Development Manager and 
Deputy Clerk on re-opening of market, 11 and 12 May 2020 

2 Email from Jody Harding to Town Development Manager on re-
opening of market, 27 May 2020 

3 Email from Councillor Wyatt to all Town Councillors, 
28 May 2020 

4 Councillor Taylor’s note of the meeting of 28 May 
(a short description of events) 

5 Report by Councillor Wyatt on the re-opening of the market 

6 Email from Councillor Zarczynski to Councillors regarding 
Councillor Wyatt’s report, 30 May 2020 

7 Completed Covid Compliance Proposal 

8 Letter from Councillor Taylor to Jody Harding, 6 June 2020 

9 Email from Councillor Zarczynski to councillors calling for votes 
on re-opening the market, 5 June 2020 

10 Extract from record of interview with John Burgess 

11 Record of interview with Sonia Hawkins 

12 Record of interview with Tony McCollum 

13 Record of interview with Heloise Marlow 

14 Extract from record of interview with Councillor John Zarczynski 

15 Record of interview with James Wyatt 

16 Record of interview with Jody Harding 

17 Record of interview with Peter Allen 

18 Record of interview with Councillor John Taylor 

19 Response of Councillor Taylor to the Draft Report of Investigation 

page 42



Final  -  Confidential 

Document 1:  Email exchange between Town Development Manager and 
Deputy Clerk on re-opening of market, 11 and 12 May 2020 

From: Market Manager (TDM) <TDM@honiton.gov.uk> 
Sent: 12 May 2020 14:42 
To: Deputy Clerk <DeputyClerk@honiton.gov.uk> 
Subject: Re: Opening of Market 

Hi Heloise, 

Thanks for the reply, This was my thoughts also but needed to know the councils view. 

I will be visiting Axminster on Thursday to view now they are operating and talk to 
some of our traders who also do Axminster market. 

With the way we run our market along side the pavements it would be imposable to 
keep everyone two meters apart and also to police it, which could cause us to break 
the current rules. 

I will be looking at maybe temporary alternative as we move forward to get the market 
back A.S.A.P 

Best Regards 

Tony  

Stay safe 

Tony McCollum 
Town Development Manager 
Mobile: 07980 922696 

The Beehive, Dowell Street, Honiton, EX14 1LZ 

01404 42957 
towncouncil@honiton.gov.uk 
www.honiton.gov.uk 

page 43

mailto:towncouncil@honiton.gov.uk
http://www.honiton.gov.uk/


Final  -  Confidential 

From: Deputy Clerk <DeputyClerk@honiton.gov.uk> 
Sent: 12 May 2020 12:47 
To: Market Manager (TDM) <TDM@honiton.gov.uk> 
Subject: RE: Opening of Market  

Dear Tony, 

I have been advised by 6 Cllrs (Zarczynski, McNally, Macve, Kolek, Wyatt and 
Pollington) that they believe it is too soon to re-open the market.  In the first instance 
they would like you to provide your views on how to adhere to social distancing 
measures and how Axminster are dealing with the situation.  I will forward you the 
emails that I have received as this will give your all the responses. 

Similarly I have been advised to keep the office shut for now – Sonia, Carolyn and I are 
coming into the office as and when needed which appears to be working ok. 

Many thanks 
 Heloise 

Heloise Marlow 
Deputy Town Clerk 
Honiton Town Council 

From: Market Manager (TDM) <TDM@honiton.gov.uk> 
Sent: 11 May 2020 10:28 
To: Deputy Clerk <DeputyClerk@honiton.gov.uk> 
Subject: Opening of Market 

Morning Heloise, 

Hope you and your family are safe. 
 I am getting calls from some traders asking if we are opening the Market, Axminster 
are now open. 

 Not sure yet now we can keep the public 2 meters apart from the shops entrances and 
footpath  will need to have a  look at it. 

what is the councils view? 
 Please ask them for clarification. 

Tony 

Tony McCollum 
Town Development Manager 

page 44

mailto:DeputyClerk@honiton.gov.uk
mailto:TDM@honiton.gov.uk
mailto:TDM@honiton.gov.uk
mailto:DeputyClerk@honiton.gov.uk


Final  -  Confidential 

Document 2:  Email from Jody Harding to Town Development Manager on 
re-opening of market, 27 May 2020 

From: Jody Harding <JHarding@eastdevon.gov.uk> 
Sent: 27 May 2020 17:41 
To: Market Manager (TDM) <TDM@honiton.gov.uk> 
Subject: Honiton Market 1 June 2020 OFFICIAL AND SENSITIVE 

OFFICIAL AND SENSITIVE 

Dear Mr McCollum, 

Honiton Market 

Following the Government announcement for outdoor markets and car showrooms to 

open on 1 June 2020 if Covid 19 safe to do so. I called today to follow up on Honiton 

Town Council’s Covid 19 control plans for the Honiton High Street market. I am 

 particularly concerned seeing the queues and social distancing in the High Street over 

the last 8 weeks. Especially last Friday afternoon with long queues down the high street. 

 We would like to support the re-opening of the market. 

I have attached the links to the latest guidance. 

If there are queues along the pavements for the market and high street stops when they 

fully open on the 15 June 2020 then 2m social distancing rules will not be able to be 

followed in many parts of the High Street and market. 

Recommendations 

Location 

I would strongly recommend that the market is moved to a suitable location off the High 

Street in which social distancing and numbers of customers can be controlled and where 

a one way system could be implemented. 

Contactless payments 

I would encourage stallholder to use a contactless payment so good wifi may be a 

consideration. Cash handling should be limited and customers will not want to be 

handling change. 

Welfare facilities 

Stallholders and customers should have access to welfare facilities so that they can 

frequently and thoroughly wash their hands. 

page 45

mailto:JHarding@eastdevon.gov.uk
mailto:TDM@honiton.gov.uk


Final  -  Confidential 

 

You should only open the market after a risk assessment has been completed and that it 

is safe for town council staff/ stallholders and customers. A toolkit for reopening 

business can be seen here 

https://www.heartofswgrowthhub.co.uk/covid-19-support-for-business/ 

 Please contact if you want furhter information I will be in  a meeting about 

market and events tomorrow afternoon so may have further information. 

Mr J Harding 
Environmental Health Officer – Commercial 

page 46

https://www.heartofswgrowthhub.co.uk/covid-19-support-for-business/


Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 3:  Email from Councillor Wyatt to all Town Councillors, 
28 May 2020 

From: James Wyatt <J.Wyatt@honiton.gov.uk> 
Sent: 28 May 2020 16:14 
To: Councillors <Councillors@honiton.gov.uk>; Market Manager (TDM) 
<TDM@honiton.gov.uk>; Deputy Clerk <DeputyClerk@honiton.gov.uk> 
Subject: Market Re-start Update 

Councillors, 

As I'm sure you are aware our national government has given guidance that markets can 

open from the 1 June 2020 if they are deemed safe to do so. Guidance has now been 

provided by the government and is constantly being refined but it is clear the 

responsibility for conducting a market safely sits with us the Town Council and this will 

be one of the most important decisions you will have to make in your tenure as 

Councillors given the implications to public health and the town's economy. 

Tony has been doing a fantastic job looking through the many options and liaising with 

the key issuers of advice. My thanks go to him and to his assistant Carl for their hard 

work so far. From discussing this with them today it seems we have narrowed down our 

options to two but there are many external organisations we are still awaiting input 

from. Broadly these are to hold the market on the street but with significant changes and 

limitations or to hold the market in one central location to allow control. These two 

options are in the process of being written up for Cllrs in order for them to make an 

informed decision. 

I propose we aim for the following timeline for our decision: 

 Report drafted over the next 2-4 days.

 Once enough information is produced from other agencies the report will be

finalised for Cllrs to make a decision. I hope this will occur by close of play

Mon 1 Jun. Notably EDDC Environmental Health Officer has been in contact

with Tony in the last 24 hrs strongly recommending the market is not held on the

street but in a central location. This will need to be worked through and

questioned by Tony to fully understand their reasoning and if mitigation

measures can be put in place to overcome their concerns.

 Close of Play Wed 3 Jun - Deadline for decision for Saturday 6 Jun Market.

 Close of Play Fri 5 Jun - Deadline for decision for Tuesday 9 Market.

The public and market stall owners are keen for updates and to be kept informed. I 

recommend the following press release for our website to be released ASAP (no later 

than midday tomorrow): 

page 47



Final  -  Confidential 

"Following Government statements that markets may open if assessed to be 

COVID 19 safe on or after 1 June 2020 Honiton Town Council has been working 

hard to gain the appropriate Government guidance and apply it to our town.  

While we still await a few key answers to finalise our decision we have broadly two 

options. First to hold the market in the usual format on the High Street but with 

significant limitations in scale to make it COVID 19 safe. Secondly, to hold 

Honiton's Market in a central location.  

We are keen to get Honiton working again and if the all information required is 

available next week we aim to make our decision in time to hold a Market on Sat 6 

June 2020. However, we will not let our enthusiasm cloud our judgement, public 

safety must come first and if this results in delaying our decision, that is what we 

must do. With all decisions we will aim to provide at least 3 days lead time prior to 

the event. What we can assure you of is that you, the townspeople of Honiton will 

be kept updated every step. 

We realise residents will have views and concerns and we value them. Please get in 

contact with the Town Council or individual Councillors if you feel strongly on this 

issue and want to let us know." 

Kind Regards, 

James 

JW Wyatt 

Town Councillor 

page 48



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 4:  Councillor Taylor’s note of the meeting of 28 May 
(a short description of events) 

This was to be a short description of events of Thursday 28 May relating to the 
opening of the Street Market. However following Cllr Wyatt’s odd submission 
with few facts I have included some comments but reserve others. I also 
comment on the paperwork provided by Mr McCullum (three pages).  

-------------------------------------------------------------- 
1. The ‘meeting’.

A meeting was originally arranged with Carl, Market Assistant and Cllr Wyatt for 
11.00. I believe that Carl invited Market Traders since they may have 
experience of other Markets. Following the likelihood that Cllr Wyatt would not 
make it then the Mayor asked me to attend given that I often (until 2017) stood 
in for Mr McCullum’s whilst he was on holiday, once for 4 weeks.  

a) I understand that Cllr Wyatt then said he was available 10.45 – 11.15,
which meant that I would still be needed.

b) From the Boston Tea Party end I approached the rendezvous at St Pauls
at 10.35. Mr McCullum was there but was engrossed in consecutive phone
calls. At about 11.55 I became aware of Carl, Cllr Wyatt and two market
traders approaching from the West, i.e. from the direction of Lace Walk. It
appears that Carl had met Cllr Wyatt in/near New Street and they turned
left into the High Street walking towards Exeter and then must have
crossed over. They met the traders near Lace Walk.

c) Carl and Cllr Wyatt described that they had made measurements of
pavements at various points in the street. I note that Cllr Wyatt makes no
mention of this data in his opinion. In fact Cllr Wyatt makes no mention of
Carl’s ideas that were substantiated by hard data nor does he mention that
he mad measurements

2. South side (Complete Meats side)
I do not think Carl and Cllr Wyatt made measurements of the road but it must be 
noted that the road is asymmetrical. From the kerb by Complete Meats to the 
central white line is11 paces, from the white line to the kerb at Lace Walk 7 
paces. It follows that there is more room on the South side (Complete Meats 
side) to move stalls into the road, protected by the traffic cones and tapes of the 
street. This would not change the traffic flow from the usual market since 
traders frequently have vehicles parked behind their stalls so there would be 
space if the vehicles were relocated*. 
a) Carl’s suggestion is that stalls would be located opposite entries used by

businesses that are not trading until at least two weeks time. Thus no
market stalls would be located in front of Nat West, Santander or Complete
meats. Lloyds bank ‘does not queue in the High Street so that roadside is
available to the Market.

page 49



Final  -  Confidential 

 

b) Nat West and Santander have markings on the ground for customer
‘spacing’ (Lloyd’s customers queue in New Street), with the consequent 2
metre markings on the ground for queues. It is obvious that
Environmental Health (EH) have accepted this as ‘Covid-safe’ as long
as the queue is unidirectional and the pedestrian two-way traffic is
confined to the remaining pavement.

c) Given that the Market stalls could be moved a metre into the road where the
trader’s cars have been often parked then that would free up a
unidirectional queuing area (indicated by chalk arrows on the tarmac) of the
same width as those of Nat West and Santander and indeed things would
be seem to be Covid-safer since the whole arrangement is in the open air
and customers do not enter confined indoor spaces. (Mind the kerb notices
will be displayed) Trader-customers would be separated by more distance
than is often seen in open businesses, i.e. the depth of the stalls and more
if necessary since the trader could ‘stand back’ save for accepting payment
as occurs in many supermarkets etc. The two-way pedestrian traffic would
have the same width of pavement (indeed often more) than that available to
the accepted safe practice outside of Nat West and Santander. This
arrangement is also seen on the North side outside Specsavers, Boots and
W H Smith / Post Office) again presumably with the blessing of EH. Note also

that EDDC, of which EH is part have only last week allowed erection of a scaffold outside
the Card Factory that reduces the two-way pedestrian traffic flow to about 1.5 metres

width.
d) *These vehicles could be parked outside the open businesses or as was the

case prior to recent introduction of the car-boot-style market, along the
street using unoccupied pitches or in the Silver Street car park as ‘Howling
Wolf coffee’ does currently.

e) Thus there is space for traders’ customers to walk in front of the stalls if a
direction arrow was imposed. This would be identical to the arrangements
of open retail units which leave a pedestrian area of up to 2.5 metres.
Since this queuing/two way pedestrian arrangement is already in use and
identical if not more spacious than the arrangements made by Nat
West Bank and Santander as evidenced by tape on the street and
accepted by EH, the customers of those banks and by the passing public
then it must be suitable for stalls if they are erected opposite those shops
that are not allowed to open for two weeks. In other words there is space for
traders in this two week window especially given that government advice
that is changing daily and it would avoid the charge that HTC (and EDDC
via EH?) is discriminating against the Street Traders, especially given the
relaxation applying to open air markets given by our Government.
A further advantage is that this would give invaluable experience for the
future of the market. Note also Market Days are limited to Tuesdays,
Thursdays and Saturdays.

3. North side, Baptist Church to W H Smith.
I find it difficult to see any easily available sites here especially given the
scaffolding approved by EDDC and its’ EH division whilst under Covid
restrictions.

page 50



Final  -  Confidential 

 

4. North side of the High Street, East of W H Smith.
Similar arguments apply to the length up to and including Costa but in fact given
the width of the paving then the traders would not necessarily have to move
further into the road. Traders’ vehicles would be treated in the same way as on
the South side. The loading bay outside St Pauls is also available since it has
been used before for traders, for political party stalls etc. yet here the paving is
twice that outside Nat West, Santander, Boots, W H Smith etc. It is notable that
EH has not ‘taped off’ the benches here and thus EH is tolerant of the
consequent acceptance of two persons sitting on each end of the benches as is
seen every day of the week.

5. South side of the street old Post Office to New Street with the ‘ interruption’ of
the bakery. Similar arguments apply here as to the areas outside the banks. 
However it is here that one of the traders handed to Mr McCullum and to Cllr 
Wyatt a well-written risk assessment. This has not been mentioned by Cllr 
Wyatt. In fact as I say Cllr Wyatt has not dealt with facts at all save cursory non-
critical reference to three pages of documents provided Mr McCullum. 

a) The EH advice is dated 27 May. Much is made of the conclusion of this
report. However in the report no mention is made to the EH tolerance of
existing open businesses and therefore the apparent discrimination
against a specific form of business, the Market traders. It is obvious from
the date that this referral was recent and that accords with the failure of Mr
McCullum to pursue any of the above described work, originated in great
part by Carl in the last three days, and which obviously would not have
been provided to EH. In fact the EH document leaves open the fact that
they have not been provided with any information even to the description
of alternative sites.

b) Mr McCullum and Cllr Wyatt mentioned the Cattle Market. Notwithstanding
the fact that it is privately owned and is up for sale, in the past week
including today (28th) there have been cattle and sheep in pens. The place
is heavily contaminated under foot with animal faeces and it is astounding
that such a dumb proposal has been made. I cannot believe that EH would
approve such a location for the sale of market products that include
foodstuffs and I anticipate a letter from EH saying that they were not
aware of this incredibly unhygienic proposal, as of course they are not
aware of the above arguments and which lay us all open to the charge
of discrimination. In this context I assume that Mr McCullum made EH
aware that he is Chairman of the Honiton Chamber of Commerce and as
such is severely conflicted in that he would of necessity pursue the
interests of his sponsoring businesses which include several of the closed
(for two weeks) shops. I will of course ask the Mayor to forward this
document to and ask them if they were aware of any of the points herein.
EH can access proof of the above by reading the Chamber of Commerce
website.

page 51



Final  -  Confidential 

c) Mr McCullum and Cllr Wyatt mentioned the cattle market (long term) car
park. This is owned by EDDC and that organisation is severely cash-
strapped. In fact Mr McCullum acting as EDDC Councillor voted for
increases in the car park charges prior to the lockdown and I doubt if
EDDC would contemplate closing this car park especially since it is used
by residents and businesses that have season tickets and therefore have
a contract with EDDC.

d) Mr McCullum and Cllr Wyatt mentioned All Hallows field. Although owned
by EDDC this is restricted in its use. In fact complaints of tyre gauging into
the surface etc have routinely been made even after the one-day Charter
day celebrations in Honiton. I would not expect HTC to pick up the bill for
any restoration of the surface.

e) The above may be construed as delaying tactics to avoid the Market
taking advantage of what is its legal right as per the Market Charter to
trade on the High Street. The recommendation (not an instruction) by EH
has obviously not been properly informed and in particular there is no
mention of the unbelievable unhygienic suggestion about the Cattle
Market. Given the date of the EH letter (yesterday), then it would be useful
for HTC to require of its employee Mr McCullum copies of the
correspondence to EH and when he first contacted them. It is also obvious
that the blatant discrimination between the rights of the Market Traders
and the currently open businesses has almost certainly not been put to
EH.

Conclusion. I strongly recommend that the Open Air Street Market be allowed to open 
beginning next Tuesday. The overriding demand of EH that a risk assessment be made 
is done in this document and oddly already by EH. EH has allowed the footfall and 
queuing patterns serving the open businesses and this document, based on Carl’s 
ideas, measurements and proven hard work is proof of that active and accepted by 
EH risk assessment to the public of trading businesses.  Mr McCullum appears to have 
failed to point this out to EH. 

John Taylor 29 May 2020 

Ps. On a personal note I do not accept discrimination. I have a track record of establishing 
equal rights of which EDDC is well aware and I do this report with the same social attitude. 
Likewise I am concerned about expenditure of HTC that appears to be unjustified and 
evidenced by this report. I will be submitting it with other documents to the Internal Auditor. It is 
my duty as described in the Good Councillors Guide. 

This is a note to the Mayor and Cllrs. I would be grateful if you would email this document as an 
attachment to HTC Councillors. I believe that it would be necessary to get a majority of the 
Council to agree by email or otherwise of opening the Market, preferably by midday today under 
the conditions described. A simple majority would do especially since the EH advice is merely a 
recommendation without any facts provided and without any consideration of the actual site 
since it appears that Mr McCullum has only contacted them at the last minute. For it to be 
otherwise would imply that I am critical of EH in not observing equity of treatment between 
traders etc and that I do not mean to imply. I would like this submission to you to count as 
agreement to open the Market.  

 page 52



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 5:  Report by Councillor Wyatt on the re-opening of the market 

Committee: FULL COUNCIL 
Date: 29 May 2020 

Title: Market Re-Opening 

Purpose of Report 

To propose to the Town Council options to re-open the market in a COVID 19 
safe way.  

Recommendation 

Members to resolve to accept one of the options in this report, all aim to 
provide a safe solution. Once selected it is then recommended the Town 
Development Manager is directed to work with EDDC Environmental Health 
Officer to deliver our chosen option in a way which is approved by all. It is not 
recommended to proceed against the guidance of EDDC Environmental Health 
Officer. 

Background 

National government has given guidance that markets can open from the 1 
June 2020 if they are deemed safe to do so. Guidance has now been provided 
by the government and is constantly being refined with the latest guidance 
provided today (29 May 2020). It is clear the responsibility for conducting a 
market safely sits with us the Town Council. This report will outline the planning 
assumptions based on guidance for providing a COVID 19 safe market. The 
report will then outline the options available including details of: 

 Scale of market possible

 Staff required to manage

 Likely market Revenue compared to average

 Costs to implement

Report 

1. Planning Assumptions

 2m spacing’s must be available between areas for queuing at market
stalls and areas for pedestrian traffic. In locations where there are
operational shops on the high street this requires a minimum 4m wide
pavement to allow a queue for the shop on one side and a queue for a
market stall on the other with pedestrian traffic space in the middle.

 Contactless Payment would be encouraged for all stall holders

 Hand sanitising facilities should be made available at each stall.

page 53



Final  -  Confidential 

 13 Market Traders have indicated their willingness to return to trading as
soon as we decide to open the market. 1 of those traders has expressed
that they do not approve of a solution which moves them off the high
street.

 All traders have completed a suitable risk assessment for their set up.
Some traders have already provided this.

2. External Advice

EDDC Environmental Health Officer has provided their advice and the 
requirements they would want to see from HTC for them to approve of our 
market being held. The email advice has been sent to all councillors and states 
they ‘strongly recommended’ that HTC hold the market off the street in a 
centralised and controlled location. This report provides both options for holding 
the market on the Street and off it. If the street market option is selected this 
report recommends HTC provides all requested evidence to demonstrate to 
EDDC that this option is safe and we receive their approval before 
commencing. 

3. Option 1 – Market on High Street

Measurements of the High Street have been taken. An overview of the 
pavement width limitation is shown in Annex A (attached document) with a 
description of what each of the widths means practically at Annex B. In this 
option 9 pitches remain available on the street, on a normal market day 
historically approximately 30 pitches are used. We may be able to set up an 
additional 4 pitches in the high street loading bay on Saturdays, an additional 2 
pitches next to the HTC notice boards (if traders accept this) and an additional 4 
pitches on Northcote Lane if we do not get objections from the shops wanting to 
make deliveries to the rear of their stores. There are also 2 pitches direct 
outside lace walk. These have been particularly noted by EDDC as potential 
issue due to the 3 way pedestrian traffic plus the bus stop queue and in the 
future the café with outside seating. In summary, this provides a total of 9 
pitches we can definitely use, 13 pitches on Saturdays, a potential total of 19 
pitches if they can be negotiated and 21 total if it can be proven to that the 2 
lace walk pitches would be safe. This could be reduced in the future as Cllr 
Taylor notes of the areas near WH Smith that scaffolding has been approved for 
erection soon. 

This option therefore has a reduced size market with more traders wanting to 
trade then spaces available. While the scale of the market will reduce the 
measures required to marshal the public, the people wishing to use both the 
shops and market will require additional volunteer staff until all are used to the 
new arrangements. This option is unlikely to incur additional costs to support 
but would take in a lower revenue due to the decreased number of stalls. 

It should be noted that there remains an additional residual risk to be accepted 
with this option. Even on the pitches identified as usable, normally the stalls  

page 54



Final  -  Confidential 

 

encroach significantly onto the pavement. We would have to either leave the 
trader in their usual position therefore reducing pavement width or move the 
traders further into the road increasing their risk from traffic. Cllr Taylor notes: 

“From the kerb by Complete Meats to the central white line is11 paces, from the 
white line to the kerb at Lace Walk 7 paces. It follows that there is more room 
on the South side (Complete Meats side) to move stalls into the road, protected 
by the traffic cones and tapes of the street. This would not change the traffic 
flow from the usual market since traders frequently have vehicles parked behind 
their stalls so there would be space if the vehicles were relocated*” 
Such a proposal is worth considering if the council consider what protection 
measures can be put in place to protect traders from traffic as they would 
normally use their vehicles as physically barriers from the traffic. 

A final question remains on this option. How do HTC decide which traders can 
trade and which can’t in the reduced number of spaces. One option is to allow 
traders to alternate markets but there are a range of others available.  

4. Option 2 – Market on Allhallows Field

Scale of market possible. All required pitches can be obtained on this site and 
additional spacing’s can be provided to further improve social distancing. 

Staff required to manage. As with all options initially volunteers would be a 
benefit in marshalling the public around the new system. After a few markets 
have been held this requirement is likely to reduce and clear signage can be 
used to provide a one way system and clear areas in line with the 
Environmental Health Officers advice. 
Likely market revenue compared to average. The market can remain at the 
same size therefore keeping HTC revenue up however, care must be taken to 
fully advertise this option and provide the public the time to register the market 
will be held and where in order to get them to attend. 

Costs to implement. Additional costs would be incurred in securing the space, 
these are likely to be under £100. However, if this area is used long term 
request may be made to give more in order to maintain the space which is likely 
to degrade due to more frequent vehicle use. 

We still await confirmation that this option will be available for a regular market. 
Those available to comment have indicated there may be more guidance on 
this available from the correct people on Mon 1 Jun 2020. 

5. Option 3 – Market on an EDDC Car Park

Scale of market possible. No change to Option 2. 
Staff required to manage. No change to Option 2 

page 55



Final  -  Confidential 

Costs to implement. Additional costs would be incurred in securing the space. 
EDDC have not provided the answers requested on if they find this option 
acceptable. Those available to comment have indicated there may be more 
guidance on this available from the correct people on Mon 1 Jun 2020. Of note, 
if the toilets can be brought up to the expected standards they will meet the 
Environmental Health Officer requirement for washing facilities. 

6. Option 4 – Market on Beehive Car Park

Scale of market possible. No change to Option 2. 
Staff required to manage. No change to Option 2 

Cost to implement and returns. As this is owned by HTC we have the control to 
do this however this option is the furthest from town and is likely to have the 
biggest reduction in footfall as a result. The issue of toilets for the market given 
this more remote location also provides a problem. 

7. Option 5 – Market in the Cattle Market

Scale of market possible. No change to Option 2. 
Staff required to manage. No change to Option 2 

Costs to implement. Additional costs would be incurred in securing the space. 

Concerns. There are concerns from the TDM that this space is far less suitable 
than the other options. It is used by other organisations, will be more difficult to 
secure and will be a less sanitary environment. These concerns are also held 
by Cllr Taylor especially in regards to the environment being of a suitable level 
of safety to use. 

This option is not recommended. 

8. Option 6 – Delay

If the Council is unsure as to the correct course of action to take it should be 
noted that HTC may decide to delay until further Government Guidance is 
produced or a clearer understanding of the public’s opinion is achieved. 

Summary 

There are a number of options for a safe market. This decision is one of the 
most important HTC has had to make in a long time as it has a direct and 
serious impact on public health. Once HTC select their preferred option this 
report strongly recommends that the council officers are directed to work with 
EDDC Environmental Health to adjust the option chosen to be acceptable to 
them rather than being tempted to disregard such advice given the potential 
risks to the public. 

Town Cllr James Wyatt,  29 May 2020 

page 56



Final  -  Confidential 

Document 6:  Email from Councillor Zarczynski to councillors regarding 
Councillor Wyatt’s report, 30 May 2020 

From: John Zarczynski  
Sent: 30 May 2020 11:44 
To: Councillors; James Wyatt  
Cc: Market Manager (TDM);  Deputy Clerk  
Subject: Re: Honiton Market Re-opening Report 

Dear Cllr Wyatt 

Please accept my apologies for sending you correspondence over the weekend, 
please be assured I do not expect you to reply over the weekend as I fully understand 
and respect you wish to spend quality time with your family. 

You state that I  am collecting votes ? regarding location of the street market ? Do I 
want the market held in the high street if approved by environment officer etc 

I am somewhat puzzled as I do not recollect sending out correspondence requesting 
for councillors to vote on the proposals you have stated. 

To clarify my views/position as stated in my previous correspondence having met with 
Carl (on his request) HTC street market assistant who provided me with his very 
workable proposals for reopening the street market that also included Government 
guidelines on distancing/public health and safety I believe I made it clear I supported 
Carl's proposals with all credit to Carl for demonstrating initiative and all the hard work 
he put into his proposals in his free time may I add. 

The only alternative proposals/ correspondence I have seen has been provided by 
EDC Environmental Health regarding guidance/ safeguarding public safety etc that I 
believe Carl addressed in his proposals  

I have also read Cllr John Taylor's very comprehensive Report that addresses EH and 
Government guidelines. Having been made aware of the street traders concerns not 
being updated as to when honiton market will reopen my personal view was Carl's 
proposals including cllr Taylor's report gave HTC an ideal opportunity to reopen the 
market just as Axminster etc. 

To the best of my knowledge the only correspondence I have circulated to all 
councillors was me proposing for councillors to vote on the market reopening on 
Tuesday the 2nd if possible? Baced on Carl's proposals and Cllr John Taylor's report 
i.e both I fully support as I feel both fulfill EH and Government guidelines

I have been made aware the market traders do not wish to be relocated to an 
alternative town location as they believe any relocation would kill of what little the town 
has left of the market with a strong possibility the town would loosening traders to other 
market locations  

page 57



Final  -  Confidential 

 

I have reasons to believe EH are asking for HTC to provide a risk assessment for the 
street market? If that is the case? I'm sure Cllr Taylor's Report will address EH 
concerns  

To date I have not seen any constructive alternative proposals put forward that 
gives good reason/ explanation as to why the street market can't reopen without undue 
delay on its Historic high street location. 

I fully appreciate all the work you are putting with the best of intentions for all 
concerned,  however I am sure you will agree? Ultimately it will be for full council to 
resolve the reopening of the street market and the location with councillors voting as 
per informative hard copy information/evidence  

Wishing you and your family a safe and happy weekend 

Kindest Regards  

Cllr John Zarczynski  

page 58



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 7:  Completed Covid Compliance Proposal 

This is Part One (as of Monday 29 May 2020) of a risk compliance required by HMG re 

the opening of HTC Street Market. This is an overall description of Principles since no 

effort has been made by either Mr McCullum or Cllr Wyatt to consider measurements 

etc. Cllr Zarzcynski and I give those details in Part Two and which will be collected on 

Sunday 31 May 2020. A short answer to Mr John Harding is made in Part Three in 

which I elaborate on the duties of Parish Councils as opposed to superior Councils 

such as District e.g. EDDC. 

-------------------------------------------------------------- 

1. On Thursday 28 May 2020 a meeting was originally arranged with Carl, Market

Assistant and Cllr Wyatt for 11.00. I believe that Carl invited Market Traders since they 

may have experience of other Markets. Following the likelihood that Cllr Wyatt would 

not make it then the Mayor asked me to attend given that I often (until 2017) stood in 

for Mr McCullum and located the Traders to their Pitches etc whilst Mr McCullum was 

on holiday, once for 4 weeks. [I took payments for pitches, hire of equipment that I 

erected (no longer available since Mr McCullum sold the equipment) etc that I handed 

to the Office. Receipts for all payments were given from a paginated ‘duplicate’ receipt 

book.] 

d) I understand that Cllr Wyatt then said he was available 10.45 – 11.15, which

meant that I would still be needed.

e) From the Boston Tea Party end I approached the rendezvous at St Pauls at

10.35. Mr McCullum was there but was engrossed in consecutive phone calls.

At about 11.55 I became aware of Carl, Cllr Wyatt and two market traders

approaching from the West, i.e. from the direction of Lace Walk. It appears that

Carl had met Cllr Wyatt in/near New Street and they turned left into the High

Street walking towards Exeter and then must have crossed over. They met the

traders near Lace Walk.

f) Carl and Cllr Wyatt described that they had made measurements of pavements

at various points in the street. I note that Cllr Wyatt makes no mention of this

data in his opinion. In fact Cllr Wyatt makes no mention of Carl’s ideas that

were substantiated by hard data nor does he mention that he made

measurements

page 59



Final  -  Confidential 

 

2. South side (Lloyds bank then HSBC etc)

I do not think Carl and Cllr Wyatt made measurements of the road but it must be noted 

that the road is asymmetrical. From the kerb by Complete Meats to the central white 

line is11 paces, from the white line to the kerb at Lace Walk 7 paces. It follows that 

there is more room on the South side (Complete Meats side) to move stalls into the 

road, protected by the traffic cones and tapes on the street. This would not change the 

traffic flow from the usual market since traders frequently have vehicles parked behind 

their stalls so there would be space if the vehicles were relocated*. Some vehicles 

could be parked in the ‘gaps’ caused by trading premises (a, below) thereby protecting 

the Traders from passing traffic. 

f) Carl’s suggestion is that stalls would be located opposite entries used by

businesses that are not trading until at least two weeks time. Thus no market

stalls would be located in front of Nat West, Santander or Complete meats.

Lloyds bank ‘does not queue in the High Street so that roadside is available to

the Market. The full description is given in Part 2.

g) Nat West and Santander have markings on the ground for customer ‘spacing’

(Lloyd’s customers queue in New Street), with the consequent 2 metre

markings on the ground for queues. It is obvious that Environmental Health

(EH) have accepted this as ‘Covid-safe’ as long as the queue is

unidirectional and the pedestrian two-way traffic is confined to the

remaining pavement.

h) Given that the Market stalls could be moved a metre into the road where the

trader’s cars have been often parked then that would free up a unidirectional

queuing area (indicated by chalk arrows on the tarmac) of the same width as

those of Nat West and Santander and indeed things would be seem to be

Covid-safer since the whole arrangement is in the open air and customers do

not enter confined indoor spaces. (‘Mind the kerb’ notices will be displayed).

Trader-customers would be separated by more distance than is often seen in

open businesses, i.e. the depth of the stalls and more if necessary since the

trader would ‘stand back’ save for accepting payment as occurs in many

supermarkets etc. The two-way pedestrian traffic would have the same width of

pavement (indeed often more) than that available to the accepted safe practice

outside of Nat West and Santander.

page 60



Final  -  Confidential 

This arrangement is also seen on the North side outside Specsavers, Boots and 

W H Smith / Post Office) again presumably with the blessing of EH. Note also 

that EDDC, of which EH is part have only last week allowed erection of a 

scaffold outside the Card Factory that reduces the two-way pedestrian traffic 

flow to about 1.5 metres width.  

i) *These vehicles could be parked outside the open businesses or as was the

case prior to recent introduction of the car-boot-style market, along the street

using unoccupied pitches or in the Silver Street car park as ‘Howling Wolf

coffee’ does currently.

j) Thus there is space for traders’ customers to walk in front of the stalls if a

direction arrow was imposed. This would be identical to the arrangements of

open retail units, which leaves a pedestrian area of up to 2.5 metres.

Since this queuing/two way pedestrian arrangement is already in use and identical if 

not more spacious than the arrangements made by Nat West Bank and 

Santander as evidenced by tape on the street and accepted by EH, the customers of 

those banks and by the passing public then it must be suitable for stalls if they are 

erected opposite those shops that are not allowed to open for two weeks. In other 

words there is space for traders in this two week window especially given that 

government advice that is changing daily and it would avoid the charge that HTC (and 

EDDC via EH?) is discriminating against the Street Traders, especially given the 

relaxation applying to open air markets given by our Government.  

A further advantage is that this would give invaluable experience for the future of the 

market. Note also Market Days are limited to Tuesdays, Thursdays and Saturdays.  

3. North side, Baptist Church to W H Smith.

I find it difficult to see any easily available sites here especially given the scaffolding 

approved by EDDC and its’ EH division whilst under Covid restrictions. In fact best 

policy would seem to keep the whole of this side up to W H Smith (PO) stall free. This 

would give unfettered access to Lace Walk and its car park to and from the pedestrian 

refuge and thus to footfall, wheelchairs etc from New Street. The scaffolding is in the 

way of the popular pitches that would be reinstated post-COVID. 

page 61



Final  -  Confidential 

 

4. North side of the High Street, East of W H Smith.

Similar arguments as in paragraph 2 apply to the length up to and including Costa but 

in fact given the width of the paving then the traders would not necessarily have to 

move further into the road. Traders’ vehicles would be treated in the same way as on 

the South side. The loading bay outside St Pauls is also available since it has been 

used before for traders, for political party stalls etc. yet here the paving is twice that 

outside Nat West, Santander, Boots, W H Smith etc. It is notable that EH has not 

‘taped off’ the benches here and thus EH is tolerant of the consequent acceptance of 

two persons sitting on each end of the benches (1 metre spacing) as is seen every day 

of the week.   

5. South side of the street old Post Office to New Street with the ‘ interruption’ of the

bakery. Similar arguments apply here as to the areas outside the banks. However it is 

here that one of the traders handed to Mr McCullum and to Cllr Wyatt a well-written risk 

assessment. This has not been mentioned by Cllr Wyatt.  

6. Cllr Wyatt has not dealt with facts at all save cursory non-critical reference to three

pages of documents provided but not authored by Mr McCullum. 

f) The EH advice is dated 27 May. Much is made of the conclusion of this report.

However in the report no mention is made to the EH tolerance of existing open

businesses and therefore the apparent discrimination against a specific form of

business, the Market traders. It is obvious from the date that this referral was

recent and that accords with the failure of Mr McCullum to pursue any of the

above described work, originated in great part by Carl in the last three days,

and which obviously would not have been provided to EH. In fact the EH

document leaves open the fact that they have not been provided with any

information even to the description of alternative sites.

g) Mr McCullum and Cllr Wyatt mentioned the Cattle Market. Notwithstanding the

fact that it is privately owned and is up for sale, in the past week including today

(28th) there have been cattle and sheep in pens. The place is heavily

contaminated under foot with animal faeces and it is astounding that such a

dumb proposal has been made. I cannot believe that EH would approve such a

location for the sale of market products that include foodstuffs and I anticipate a

letter from EH saying that they were not aware of this incredibly unhygienic

proposal, as of course they are not aware of the above arguments and which

lay us all open to the charge of discrimination.

page 62



Final  -  Confidential 

 

In this context I assume that Mr McCullum made EH aware that he is Chairman 

of the Honiton Chamber of Commerce and as such is severely conflicted in that 

he would of necessity pursue the interests of his sponsoring businesses which 

include several of the closed (for two weeks) shops. EH can access proof of the 

above by reading the Chamber of Commerce website.  

h) Mr McCullum and Cllr Wyatt mentioned the cattle market (long term) car park.

This is owned by EDDC and that organisation is severely cash-strapped. In fact

Mr McCullum acting as EDDC Councillor voted for increases in the car park

charges prior to the lockdown and I doubt if EDDC would contemplate closing

this car park especially since it is used by residents and businesses that have

season tickets and therefore have a contract with EDDC.

i) Mr McCullum and Cllr Wyatt mentioned All Hallows field. Although owned by

EDDC this is restricted in its use. In fact complaints of tyre gauging into the

surface etc have routinely been made even after the one-day Charter day

celebrations in Honiton. I would not expect HTC to pick up the bill for any

restoration of the surface.

j) No account has been taken of the location of the primary and secondary

schools and the fact that only this week 2 metre spacings have been

painted for the benefit of pupils arriving on foot.

i. The three ‘central’ options therefore increase the traffic exposure to

hundreds of children and teenagers crossing the road where this traffic

would flow. About ten years ago, on the same road and at a second

pedestrian crossing point about a hundred yards from this crossing point

beside the Cattle Market, a 14 year old male pupil was struck by a vehicle,

was in intensive care for two months and emerged with “life-changing

injuries”.

ii. The recent painting of the social distancing markings for the students

highlights the fact that the primary school will be partly open tomorrow and

that the secondary school, already open for children of essential workers

and less able pupils will be more active, especially starting 16 May. Mr

McCullum has not bothered to approach the schools.

page 63



Final  -  Confidential 

k) The Market Charter gives a legal right to trade on the High Street. The

recommendation (not an instruction) by EH has obviously not been properly

informed and in particular there is no mention of the unbelievable unhygienic

suggestion about the Cattle Market, the requirement for EDDC to breach

contract with residents, or the damage done to the only central green space in

Honiton much less the well remembered ‘almost death’ of a young life. Students

contemporaneous with that boy are parents now and may not take lightly to the

deliberate increase of exposure to risk for their children. In their place I most

certainly would not. Given the date of the EH letter (yesterday), then it would be

useful for HTC to require of its employee Mr McCullum copies of the

correspondence to EH and when he first contacted them. It is also obvious that

the blatant discrimination between the rights of the Market Traders and the

currently open businesses has almost certainly not been put to EH.

John Taylor 29 May 2020 

----------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

Sunday This is Part Two (as of 31 May 2020) of a compliance required by HMG re the 

opening of HTC Street Market. This comprises a map, a detailed measurement of 

where pitches would be, and notices required to be displayed by traders and/or HTC as 

Market Charter Administration. HTC again emphasises that the pavements are 

currently accepted by EH as suitable for access to many businesses and that the 

current signage etc by businesses is the ultimate responsibility of EDDC not HTC, 

which is a Parish Council with no powers even of advice and thus no insurance etc in 

any EH matter. Like any other business HTC will comply in similar ways, with the 

added requirement of advice to Traders instead of advice to employees. 

There follows a list of sites and the distance from where a traders’ car usually is to the 

wall and then the width of the pavement (kerb to wall). It does not mean that the trader 

would need to be as far into the road but could be. This is because the carriageway is 

very wide her, in fact over 10 metres from kerb to white line. Mr McCullumhas given me 

instructions in the past as to how far I could ‘go out’. I had to leave the width of a giant 

tractor plus a yard. 

page 64



Final  -  Confidential 

 

 Furthest back of  to wall.  Kerb to wall i.e. pavement width 

*Lloyds Bank  6.3m  3.7m  High Street 

entrance closed 

*The Patisserie  is closed but even if open could queue back into Black 

Lion Court. 

HSBC      6.2m  4.1m  No queue 

guidance here 

Spar      open shop  open shop  No queue 

guidance here 

Nat West      4.7m  3.1m  Queue to 

the west 

*Aposthegpa  closed  6.5m  2.8m 

*Cards and Things (empty)  6.5m  2.8m 

*Hunters Hair  closed            6.5      2.8m 

Complete meats                  open shop  open shop 

*Bruvs                                    8.1      2.9 

*Moshulu                                8.1      2.9 

Barclays  open  open 

Santander  open  open 

There is a driveway entrance here. 

*William Hill   closed

*Cofi closed  7m  3.6m 

Bradleys  7m  3.6m 

*Empty  7m  3.6m 

*WBW solicitors  7m  3.6m 

This is the South side of the street to the west of New Street. The asterix indicates 

where a stall could be allowing distance between them and as follows,  

Lloyds bank – Entrance to Black Lion Court –Patisserie.  One stall 

Apos – Hunters. Two stalls 

Bruvs-moshulu. Two stalls 

William Hill- Cofi one stall 

Empty – WBW   one stall 

page 65



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Crossing the road then it is proposed to leave from Baptist church to W H Smith as car 

parking especially as an EDDC recently planning approved scaffolding has reduced the 

pavement to 4 feet wide. 

Outside W H Smith/PO is a 3.7m wide pavement that continues past 

*four closed shops. Charity, Coral bookies, Gertie and B, Costa

Normally from the back of the gazebo for stalls outside these shops is from 8m to 6.7m 

from the wall. The kerb to the wall is 3.7m. This therefore is well in excess of the 

requirements. 

Because of the open ends and a driveway in the length it is possible to fit 4 COVID 

compliant stalls. 

* Loading bay. This is ten metres from the edge of the bay to the foot of the monument.

The width would allow 3 COVID compliant stalls. 

Crossing the road to the old post office and starting at the barbers we see 

Shop   back of the Gazebo if one  kerb to wall  inner of the step to the wall 

*Barbers                 5                                       3.5                               2.9 

*Dillys florist            5.9                                    4.0                              3.2 

*Stags                     5.8                                     3.9                              3.2 

*Boots                     5.7                                     3.5                              3.3 

Crusty Cob              6.0                                     4.0                               3.4 

*Hospice SW            6.0                                     3.8                               3.4 

*Shauls Baker Closed 5.7                                   3.8                               3.2 

Here the barbers to boots would be one stall selling cards etc and from Hospice on is 

one selling fruit and veg.  The Crusty cob is open. Again plenty of spacew to comply 

with the guidance. 

--------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

page 66



Final  -  Confidential 

Notices are required. They will be laminated A4.  The type face will be chosen 

appropriately for: 

1 First notice content. This notice will be on a cone at pavement entrances to the 

market strings of stalls 

CORONAVIRUS 

BE AWARE 

SAVE LIVES 

PROTECT THE NHS 

Anyone can spread coronavirus. 

IF YOU OR ANYONE IN YOUR HOUSEHOLD HAS A SYMPTOM, Hot skin on chest, 

elevated temperature dry frequent coughs, loss of sense of smell or taste. 

PLEASE DO NOT USE THE STREET MARKET OR QUEUE FOR SERVICES. 

Return home, go on line to nhs.uk to check symptoms via the on line 111 service and 

follow the advice. 

Only call 111 if you cant get on line. FOLLOW THE ADVICE. 

Queue for the stalls using the one way systems. 

2 SECOND NOTICE CONTENT As for notice 1 this will be at the ‘entrance to a string’ 

WE HAVE CARRIED OUT A COVID-19 APPRAISAL AND SHARED THE RESULT 

WITH STALLHODERS 

WE HAVE PROVIDED STALLHOLDERS WITH CLOTHS, 70% METHS OR 70% 

ISOPROPANOL IN A PLASTIC CONTAINER WITH LID TO PREVENT 

EVAPORATION. WE HAVE ASKED THEM TO WIPE THEIR HANDS WITH A 

WETTED CLOTH EVERY 20-30 MINJUTES UNLESS THEY ARE WEARING 

GLOVES. 

WE HAVE ASKED THE STALLHOLDERS TO MAINTAIN MAXIMUM DISTANCE 

WHEN TAKING PAYMENTS. 

WE HAVE ASKED THE LARGE STALLS WITH MORE THAN ONE TRADER TO 

MAINTAIN 2M DISTANCES BETWEEN TRADERS  AND TO BE AWARE. 

WE ASK YOU TO BE AWARE AND NOT TO HANDLE ITEMS WITHOUT INTENT TO 

PURCHASE. 

WE HAVE TAKEN ALL REASONABLE STEPS TO MAINTAIN A 2M DISTANCE 

BETWEEN STALLS.  

page 67



Final  -  Confidential 

 

PLEASE QUEUE FOLLOWING THE ARROWS 

THIRD NOTICE this and the next will be also as people pass into the market string. 

The problem is that there are several notices. People get rushed if they are all together. 

Positioning will be close to entry to a string without overloading the readers. 

SINCE 23 FEBRUARY MANY SHOPS HAVE BEEN SHUT AND EDDC HAS BEEN 

RESPONSIBLE FOR ADVISING SHOPKEEPERS TO PUT DOWN SEPARATION 

TAPE GUIDANCES  

THE PAVEMENT MUST BE USED FOR MOVEMENT NOT CONVERSATION.  

MAINTAIN MAXIMUM SEPARATION WHEN PASSING OTHERS. BE AWARE OF 

OTHERS 

FOURTH NOTICE AS YOU ENTER THE MARKET THINK THAT YOU WASHED 

YOUR HANDS BEFROE LEAVING HOME AND THAT YOU MUST WASH THEM 

WHEN YOU GET HOME. IT FOLLOWS THAT IT IS SAFEST NOT TO HANDLE 

THINGS UNNECESSARILY. 

FIFTH NOTICE  (FOR STALL HOLDERS to display) 

PLEASE DO NOT HANDLE ITEMS UNNECESSARILY 

page 68



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 8:  Letter from Councillor Taylor to Jody Harding, 6 June 2020 

Mr J Harding, EDDC Environmental Health Officer (Commercial). 

Friday 06 June 2020 

Dear Mr Harding 

1) I really do not want to write this letter because it will seem to be critical of you. I

apologise if you take it that way. I answer you email of even date in order, but have no 

paragraph numbers to refer to. 

2. You have a list of potential locations for stalls on the high street. It is contained within

Part two of the document entitled HTC Market COVID compliance proposals. 

a) The list begins on page 4 of that document. The list gives the depth of sites that

are available to the traders and that ‘depth’ is easily obtained by subtracting the

distance from the kerb to the building (i.e. the pavement). The distances are

more than adequate for the inclusion of a queuing area in the gutters but since

your letters I am advising that we queue on the pavement; a circumstance that

is exactly the circumstance that you have been permitting for the shops that are

open on the High Street for the past ten weeks. What is allowed for one entity in

this country is allowed to another I believe because otherwise would be

discrimination.

b) A week ago you were sent two images of google maps for the High Street that

lists the names of shops, banks etc. That information allows you to locate the

list to the list of sites in 2a.

c) We do not have a list of traders since it is an on-demand street market. We

have a list of regulars, occasionals and there may be new ones. That is what a

market is all about.  We have a reduced number of pitches until 15 June

because we are limiting pitches to being opposite open shops. That limitation

will fall on June 15 again due to equality of treatment. Your friend and EDDC

Councillor Mr McCullum keeps the lists. He has not provided any because he

has not done any preparation for reopening as allowed by law. Fortunately we

have a Market Assistant who does all the work who, because he comes in at

06.00 on market days is there to position traders etc. He has many of the

traders phone numbers and that is how we intend to start tomorrow.

page 69



Final  -  Confidential 

I will assist with the ‘traffic coning etc’ and we have a number of other Councillor 

volunteers. [My drive comes from the fact that these traders do not benefit from the £10000 gift 

from the government, do not benefit from 80% of their pay. In other words they have no income 

whilst many others do.] 

3. We will be providing welfare facilities for the traders. Your suggestion of communal

hand washing facilities astonishes me for the following reasons: 

a) I have commented on the possible dermatological risk in the email of yesterday

when I described Axminster market.

b) Although warm soapy water is the preferred option it needs to be changed and

more importantly the suds must be rubbed into the skin since it is the micro-

bubbles that disrupt the membrane of the virus (in SARS-CoV-2 case derived

from the membrane between the endoplastic reticulum and golgi bodies of the

cells of the infected person shedding the virus. I did not see anyone making use

of this facility at Axminster yesterday.

c) Soapy water does not disrupt fungal spores. If a trader has a fungal infection,

which is more common in the general population than people think, and

especially under fingernails, then the potential for cross-infection is great.

Chlorinated solutions destroy fungal spores, c.f. swimming pools. I do not think I

can demand traders cut and (nail)brush their fingertips before leaving home.

d) However I will provide a stainless steel bowl with soapy water etc bur I sincerely

hope that traders do not share this risk.

e) We can always ask traders to go to the EDDC toilets in King Street that are

open 07.30 – 16.00.

4. I suggest methylated spirits because, for example it is used routinely in topical 

cleansing of skin in surgery in Australia. It is 95% ethanol and 5% methanol with a 

chemical added that produces profound vomiting when a small amount is ingested. I 

suggest diluting it to 70% (except for cleaning electrical equipment) since that 

percentage avoids precipitation of the spike proteins in viruses and such precipitation 

can protect the membrane and the nucleocapsid within which the genetic material is 

found. [If you want a full description of the virus, its replication mechanisms (it is a single positive strand 

RNA virus) etc that I boned up on before reading the Government advice then I am more than willing to 

provide that technical work.]  We have tried to buy isopropanol. It is sold out.  

 page 70



Final  -  Confidential 

 

a) COSHH for methanol. The COSHH regulations allow the use of chemicals if

there is 1) no safer alternative (isopropanol sold out, my opinion that communal

soapy water is itself hazardous), 2) is contained in my suggestion in a plastic

lidded sandwich bow with a cloth to rub a small amount of the 70% solution

over hands, 3) the disposal is safe because the solution evaporates from the

skin rapidly. That is what some hand-sanitisers do i.e. the 70% ethanol ones.

The smell lingering on the hand is useful. If one seek to scratch you nose or rub

your eyes the smell is a potent reminder of the danger of that activity.

b) I have stated I will provide your preferred option. No one will use it just as they

do not in Axminster.

c) I will provide thin disposable gloves suitable for money handling. Latex gloves

themselves raise a common risk of allergic reactions.

d) For your information, methanol is generated in the body in much greater

quantities than could remotely be suggested as crocking the skin from the

topical application. The main source is carbohydrate, which explains why

potatoes produce so much during their metabolism. Obviously Pectin (used to

gel jams etc) that occurs in all fruits produce large quantities. In fact orange

loads your blood up nicely. But the buffering system in the blood prevents

acidosis that would be seen if one drank ten mls of methanol.

e) If you are commenting on the office then it is not relevant to this proposal?

5. Point 4 is merely a repeat of HMG advice to individuals. We will restate it when the

traders arrive but, as is evident from the risk assessment for the Gate to Plate, traders 

are responsible for provision of their own safety. It has not been sent to traders since 

we are not privy to their personal details. That is restricted by data protection legislation 

to Mr McCullum I believe. And as you know he has not been forthcoming with reports.    

 Yours sincerely  John Taylor 

page 71

wharris
Cross-Out



Final  -  Confidential 

Document 9:  Email from Councillor Zarczynski to councillors calling for 
votes on re-opening the market, 5 June 2020 

From: John Zarczynski <J.Zarczynski@honiton.gov.uk> 
Sent: 05 June 2020 13:00 
To: Deputy Clerk <DeputyClerk@honiton.gov.uk>; Roy Coombs <R.Coombs@honiton.gov.uk>; 
Jill McNally <J.McNally@honiton.gov.uk>; Philip Carrigan <p.carrigan@honiton.gov.uk>; Luke 
Dolby <l.dolby@honiton.gov.uk>; Carol Gilson <C.Gilson@honiton.gov.uk>; Caroline Kolek 
<C.Kolek@honiton.gov.uk>; James Wyatt <J.Wyatt@honiton.gov.uk>; Ray Hanratty 
<r.hanratty@honiton.gov.uk>; Nicolette Macve <n.macve@honiton.gov.uk>; Terry Darrant 
<T.Darrant@honiton.gov.uk> 

Subject: Proposal to reopen Honiton Market  

Dear Councillors 

As you are aware over the past week I and Cllr John Taylor have been working with Mr 
Harding from EH regarding reopening our street market. 

Please find attached Letter from Cllr Taylor to Mr Harding dated Fri 6 June also risk 
assessments sent to EH on my behalf  Cllr Taylor has worked very hard  putting in 
many hours providing EH with the risk assessments that more than address all aspects 
of Government guidelines 

It appears we have been going round in circles and no closer to getting a decision from 
Mr Harding despite Mr Harding being fully aware Market Traders are on stand by 
hoping they can resume trading this Saturday  

Cllr Phil Twiss has also been assisting by contacting EH as Cllr Twiss feels it is vital we as 
a council take action to reopen the Market to get Honiton economy moving again  

I have also been informed by Cllr Twiss that EH are only an advisory body and will not 
give HTC a definitive YES OR NO and HTC does not require EH permission to reopen the 
market as such I propose that is seconded by Cllr John Taylor for  councillors to vote to 
reopen HTC street market from tomorrow Saturday 6 June 2020  

As I said Traders are on stand by therefore your vote is URGENT can I please have your 
votes no later than 3.30pm today to give us time to inform all traders the market will 
reopen subject to a majority supporting my proposal  

I can confirm I am in favour  

Cllr John Taylor’s vote is YES 

Regards  

Cllr John Zarczynski  

page 72



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 10:  Extract from record of interview with John Burgess, 
22 July 2020 

1. I introduced myself and explained my appointment and role.  I advised
you that I would be recording the interview and you consented to this.

2. You confirmed that your complaint was as a member of the public; you
had no direct connection with the Town Council.  You had a long term
association with the Beehive through the Friends of the Beehive, the
charity that runs it and as a volunteer.

3. You told me that, in the absence of Council meetings, Councillor Wyatt
and some other councillors had decided to hold surgeries on line.  You
had asked for Council decisions, and how they were arrived at, to be
publicised.  In response, Councillor Wyatt had sent you information on
the re-opening of the market.

4. You understood that the Mayor had wanted a decision on opening the
market very quickly.  Councillor Wyatt and Mr McCollum had thought
that, in the circumstances, it couldn’t be opened.  The Mayor had asked
Councillor Taylor for his assessment.

5. You confirmed that your complaint was about the document that
Councillor Taylor had produced and the way he had worded his
comments about Mr McCollum and Councillor Wyatt.  You felt that this
had breached the Code of Conduct in terms of treating people with
respect.

6. You said the document you had submitted was the argument that
Councillor Taylor was making for opening the market.  You had first
objected to the Mayor about the wording of it.  It was not well written and
there was a lot of material in it that was completely unnecessary.  All of
the references to Mr McCollum and Councillor Wyatt were unnecessary.

7. You told me that when the document had been circulated, councillors
were asked to make a decision on it by 3pm on the same day.

8. We considered the extracts that you had highlighted in turn.  You
recognised that some were trivial, but taken together, you felt they were
disrespectful.  The comments on the duration of Mr McCollum’s leave
and him being engrossed in consecutive phone calls, for example, were
irrelevant but were used to put him in a bad light.  There wasn’t a positive
statement about Mr McCollum.  It was suggested that he was not doing
his job.

9. At paragraph 6, Councillor Wyatt was criticised but was unable to defend
himself.

page 73



Final  -  Confidential 

 

10. You said you didn’t know what documents councillors had received from
Mr McCollum and Councillor Wyatt, to which this document might be a
counter.

11. The comment that it was astounding that such a dumb proposal has
been made was much more critical.  It wasn’t worthy of one councillor to
an employee.

12. It was also claimed that Mr McCollum would of necessity pursue the
interests of his sponsoring businesses.  He was saying that Mr McCollum
was against the market in favour of local businesses.  You pointed out
that the market had been there for hundreds of years and brought in
visitors for the benefit of the whole town centre.  It was a completely
unnecessary critical comment, with no evidence for it.

13. Regarding the alternative sites, it was reasonable for these to have been
considered.  Saying Mr McCollum had not bothered to approach the
schools was again disparaging to him.

14. There was a pattern to the comments made about Mr McCollum.
Councillor Taylor had deliberately used language to criticise his
competence.  This was disrespectful and in breach of the Code of
Conduct.  You believed there was a strong case regarding Mr McCollum
– less so for Councillor Wyatt.  It would be for Councillor Wyatt to make
his own complaint if he felt it necessary.

15. You told me that the Mayor had replied to your initial complaint to him but
had not referred to Councillor Taylor at all.  You had gone back to him
and were told that Councillor Taylor had been medically diagnosed as
being ‘compulsively honest’.  You had responded that, if this was the
case, then he should not have the job of producing reports or somebody
should go through his reports and remove any such references.

16. You believed that the report was not acceptable as a public document
produced by the Town Council.

Sent to witness for confirmation 8 August 2020 

Agreed by witness as an accurate record 8 August 2020 

page 74



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 11:  Record of interview with Sonia Hawkins, 20 July 2020 

1. I introduced myself and explained my appointment and role.  I advised
you that I would be recording the interview and you consented to this.

2. You confirmed that you worked at the Town Council as an Administration
Officer.

3. Your complaint was that Councillor Taylor had been disrespectful and
bullying towards Tony McCollum and you had submitted three
documents as evidence of this.

4. The documents related to the re-opening of the Honiton Market.  You
said Councillor Taylor had taken over this exercise.  The Town
Development Manager has been working on that with another councillor
but suddenly the view was; we want it done and we want it done now.
However, certain procedures and checks had to be followed.

5. Tony McCollum had gone off work on sick leave shortly after that.

6. You told me that the documents had been circulating amongst
councillors, with various questions being asked.  You didn’t think the
Environmental Health aspects had been properly sorted out.

7. Councillors had been requested to vote on the re-opening of the market
by email, based on the documents.  A majority had agreed to re-open it.
You felt it had been wrong for councillors not to pick up on the
inappropriate comments in the documents.

8. You thought that had been regarded as a formal vote on the matter.  The
Deputy Clerk was doing her best to record the votes.

9. You didn’t think there had been any Council decision or authority for the
involvement of Councillor Taylor.  As far as you were aware, it was
Councillor Zarczynski who had asked him to take it on.  It seemed that
Tony McCollum had been instructed; we’re doing this now.

10. You said there had been difficulties at work for Tony McCollum ever
since he had been elected as an East Devon District Councillor in May
2019.

page 75



Final  -  Confidential 

 

11. We considered the documents that you had submitted.  Document 1 was
headed HTC Covid Compliance Proposals and was dated 29 and 31
May.  It had been widely circulated, to councillors, market traders and the
District Council.  Members of the public had also requested it.  You
confirmed that this had been published on Facebook as justification for
re-opening the Market.  You had seen it on the Honiton Forum page.

12. You believed the requirement for the document came from Government
guidance on coronavirus.  You explained that Councillor Wyatt had been
helping Tony McCollum.

13. We considered the extracts in document 1 that you had highlighted.  You
pointed out that Mr McCollum’s name had been spelt incorrectly
throughout the document.

14. The extracts included; no effort has been made by Mr McCollum; Mr
McCollum sold the equipment; Mr McCollum was there but engrossed in
consecutive phone calls; the failure of Mr McCollum to pursue any of the
work; and, it is astounding that such a dumb proposal has been made.  It
was also stated that Mr McCollum was severely conflicted and would
pursue the interests of his sponsoring businesses.

15. You felt that there was no need to put that sort of information in there.
The equipment mentioned had been sold years ago, following a Council
resolution to do so.  It was presented as if Tony McCollum had done
something wrong and was to blame.  It had no relevance to a risk
assessment about re-opening the market.

16. Such personal criticisms shouldn’t be in a public risk assessment.  If
there were issues with Tony’s performance there were proper channels
for addressing them.  Regarding his role in the Chamber of Commerce,
he had held that for five years and this was well known.

17. The other comments were in the same vein. They had no relevance to
the purpose of the document.  They were trying to undermine Tony and
get at him.

18. You said it had all started when Tony McCollum was elected as a District
Councillor.  They had tried to get him out.  They had raised it formally but
when that failed, they have tried to undermine him in any way they can.

19. We turned to document 2.  This seemed to be a critique of some work
done by the District’s Environmental Health Department about the Gate
to Gate promotion.  You said the documents had all been put out
together.  You didn’t know why this had been distributed.  You thought
there had been exchanges with EDDC but you hadn’t seen the District
Council’s side of these.  You also hadn’t seen any final agreement to the
re-opening by Environmental Health.

page 76



Final  -  Confidential 

 

20. In summary, you believed that Councillor Taylor had breached the Code
of Conduct in terms of disrespect and bullying towards Tony McCollum.
It was a blatant misuse of power by Councillor Taylor.  It had been done
to undermine Tony McCollum’s roles as an employee, a councillor and
with the Chamber of Commerce.  The criticisms were totally subjective –
it wasn’t a decent thing to do.

Sent to witness for confirmation 8 August 2020 

Agreed by witness as an accurate record 8 August 2020 

page 77



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 12:  Record of interview with Tony McCollum, 27 July 2020 

1. I introduced myself and explained my appointment and role.  I advised
you that I would be recording the interview and you consented to this.

2. You confirmed that you were the Town Development Manager at Honiton
Town Council.  You were responsible for overseeing the street market,
through your assistant Carl Cracknell.  You also dealt with other projects
and promotions for the town.

3. You told me you were currently on sick leave; you had been signed off on
8 June.  You said the recent issues with the market had been the last
straw but this had built on the situation since May 2019.  The market had
been taken away from you.  You had been ignored, blanked and not kept
involved.  It had been affecting your health and you couldn’t take it
anymore.

4. You confirmed that you had been the Chairman of the Chamber of
Commerce.  You were due to resign that position in March but, with the
lockdown, that had been delayed until June.  You told me there had been
no conflict of interest with your Town Council job.  Both organisations
shared the same aims.

5. You had been an East Devon District Councillor since May 2019.  That
had been a problem for some of the Honiton councillors.  Councillor
Zarczynski had also stood for election but hadn’t been successful.

6. Ever since then, some councillors had contacted numerous legal bodies,
from South West Council and the Electoral Commission to the Monitoring
Officer, trying to prove there was a conflict of interest between your roles
as a councillor and as an employee.  All of the bodies had come back
and said there was no such conflict.  There was no legal or technical
reason why you couldn’t undertake both roles.

7. Those involved were Councillors Taylor, Zarczynski and Carrigan.  There
had been queries, sarcastic remarks and a lot of email exchanges going
on.  You felt it had started off as a political issue but it had got personal.
You said Councillor Taylor was the front man for the group.  He was the
one trying to crucify you.  He had been seen videoing you on your dinner
break.  He had also been checking on the whereabouts of you and your
car.

page 78



Final  -  Confidential 

 

8. Turning to the re-opening of the market, you said that on May 11, you
had asked the Deputy Clerk what the Council’s views were on the matter.
She had responded to say that six councillors believed it was too early to
re-open the market.  You understood that was an email decision.  She
had asked what your view was.  You had replied on the 12th that you
agreed with the view of the councillors.

9. On 19 May, you had a chat with Councillor Wyatt about the two of you
going down the High Street and seeing what could and couldn’t be done.
Later that day, you talked with Carl and he didn’t agree with your view
that the 2 metre social distancing requirement couldn’t be met.

10. Councillor Wyatt had suggested that you contacted an EDDC officer who
dealt with car parks.  You tried to do this but were delayed in reached the
right person.

11. Councillor Wyatt had asked you to meet him on 28 May in the High
Street to consider the distancing issues further.  He had also asked
Councillor Darrant and Carl to attend.  You were all to meet at 10.45.

12. You said that while you were waiting for the others, Councillor Taylor
arrived.  He hovered around Costa Coffee and kept looking over at you.
You were checking your phone and found that Councillor Wyatt was
running late.  Councillor Wyatt then turned up, with Carl and a couple of
market traders.  Councillor Taylor started talking and said you should
have done this weeks ago.  He said you had been told to do a risk
assessment and a viability report.  You said you hadn’t – you had just
been asked what your opinion was.

13. Councillor Taylor was at this stage shouting – the public and everyone
else could see this.  You said you didn’t think there was any point in you
being there and Councillor Taylor said he agreed.  You had moved over
to the other side of the street while the others talked.

14. When they had finished, you spoke to Councillor Wyatt.  He told you he
had had a call from the Mayor the night before.  So the format of the
meeting had all been changed, pre-planned and set up.  They were going
to take you out of the equation and follow Carl’s plan, without even
asking you about your intentions.  They assumed you had been doing
nothing.

15. From then on, Councillor Taylor and Carl took over.  Councillor Wyatt
contacted you on Friday 29th asking to finish off measuring the pitches
and put a report in to the Council.  You had suggested that when he
reported, he left your name off it, because they wouldn’t pay any heed to
it.

page 79



Final  -  Confidential 

 

16. Councillor Taylor had told Councillor Wyatt that the market was going to
open on Tuesday.  The decision had been made.

17. You said you had first seen the risk compliance document produced by
Councillor Taylor on social media, probably a Facebook community
page.  You were concerned to see the comments and assumptions in it.
You didn’t think it was what the Government had asked for.  It was more
of a slanging against you than a risk assessment.  It had also ended up
in the press and the Honiton Nub News.

18. We considered the various items that referred to you.  You said the
‘holiday of four weeks’ had been taken in 2017.  The document
suggested that you had personally sold off the market equipment.  In fact
the Council had decided to sell it off.  You had simply dealt with it.  It
almost suggested that you stole money from the Council.

19. Being ‘engrossed in consecutive phone calls’ was before the meeting
was due to start and before the others had arrived.  This had no
relevance to the purpose of the document.

20. Rather than ‘failing to pursue any of the described work’, you were in the
process of carrying it out.  You believed this was put in so you didn’t have
a chance to explain what you had been doing.  It had shut you down
completely.

21. You explained that you had been looking at all options, including the
Cattle Market site.  It hadn’t been a proposal – it was part of the exercise.

22. You agreed that, if the Council had decided to open the market, you
would implement that.  You believed that there had been an email from
Councillor Carrigan to the Deputy Clerk, instructing you to open the
market.  You had said fine – you didn’t have an issue with it.  There had
been no decision to open the market when you had started to look at the
options.  The Governments hadn’t approved markets opening at that
time.

23. You said the claim that you ‘would of necessity pursue the interests of
your sponsoring businesses’ was rubbish.  There was no conflict.  You
always wanted the shops and the market to work together.  The one
needed the other.  Bringing people into the town was what mattered.  If
there ever was any conflict, you declared it.

24. Regarding ‘not bothering to approach the schools’, you said you hadn’t
reached that stage.

page 80



Final  -  Confidential 

 

25. Your overall view of the document was that it was a continuation of what
had happened since May last year.  They had been trying to get you out
of your job or out of EDDC.  Councillor Taylor had taken the opportunity
to undermine you in your positions on the Council and in the town.
Comments about you shouldn’t be in a risk assessment – they were
personal.

26. You regarded the comments about you as disrespectful, as an employee
and as an EDDC councillor.  You also felt the document was bullying
because it was trying to undermine you, was contradicting you and was
making allegations that you were not doing your job.  You thought it was
disrespectful to Councillor Wyatt as well.  He had stepped forward and
was trying to do his best to move things forward.

27. You said you knew there had been emails between certain councillors
discussing your situation.  You had requested copies of these but they
had stopped you getting hold of them.  They had also held illegal HR
meetings to discuss staffing issues.

28 Regarding the District Council’s Environmental Health Officer, you said 
that you did not contact Mr Harding.  He had contacted you when the 
Government decided that markets could open.  You had exchanged a 
number of emails.  Councillor Taylor had referred to you as ‘his friend 
and EDDC councillor, Mr McCollum’.  You hadn’t even met Mr Harding. 
Again, this was another dig at you.   

29. In summary, you said the document highlighted what Councillor Taylor
had been doing for the last 12 months, which was to undermine, harass,
discredit and bully you.

Sent to witness for confirmation 8 August 2020 

Agreed by witness as an accurate record 25 August 2020 

page 81



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 13:  Record of interview with Heloise Marlow, 29 July 2020 

1. I introduced myself and explained my appointment and role.  I advised
you that I would be recording the interview and you consented to this.

2. You confirmed that you were the Deputy Town Clerk and had been
undertaking the duties of the Town Clerk since Mark Tredwin had been
absent from 10 February.

3. You confirmed that recent government regulations gave councils
flexibility to hold remote meetings, subject to certain conditions.  The
Town Council had held two meeting by Zoom to date.  The first, on 13
July, had been deemed to be inquorate and would be repeated.  The
second had been on 27 July.

4. You explained that between March 23 and July, Council business had
been conducted by email.  You would ask councillors for their votes on
matters by email and they would respond accordingly.  There had been
practical difficulties with this however.

5. Tony McCollum had emailed you on 11 May to ask what the Council’s
view on re-opening was.  You had replied on 12 May to say that six
councillors thought it was too soon to re-open.  They had asked that he
provide his views on how to adhere to social distancing measures and
how Axminster was dealing with the situation.  He, in turn, replied that he
would be visiting Axminster and would be looking into temporary sites in
order to get the market back as soon as possible.

6 You could not recall discussing re-opening the market with any councillor 
prior to receiving Tony’s email but did recall discussing the matter with 
the Mayor who advised that he had been approached by members of the 
public and traders about re-opening the market.   

7. You were aware there had been some correspondence directly between
councillors and the TDM.  Councillor Wyatt had offered to help with the
exercise.  It was left with the TDM to investigate the matter and then
report back.

8. He emailed back to you on 25 May, which you forwarded to all
councillors.  He said he had been progressing the matter, working with
Councillor Wyatt.  He reported that it would be difficult to adhere to the
two metre distancing rule on the High Street.  He also confirmed that he
had not been asked to carry out a risk assessment as referred to by
Councillor Zarczynski in his email to Councillor Darrant.  You confirmed
to me that that was correct.

page 82



Final  -  Confidential 

 

9. Subsequently there was a decision on re-opening, on 2 June.  Seven
councillors had said yes, four had said no and two had raised queries.
That decision would have been sent to the TDM.

10. We turned to Councillor Taylor’s assessment document.  You didn’t know
what he had been told to do or who by.  In the past, he had helped the
TDM, with the market.  He had stepped in when the TDM was on leave,
for example.  He saw himself as being the lead councillor for the market.
You didn’t think there was ever a formal decision or instruction by Council
for him to become involved in the re-opening exercise.

11. You thought the Environmental Health Officer had said there should be a
risk assessment.  You didn’t believe you had the complete
correspondence on this.

12. You said you would have preferred for the Council to have seen
Councillor Taylor’s assessment before it had gone out.  It hadn’t been
sent out via the office.  If you had seen it, you would have suggested that
it should be amended.  You thought it had been sent to the EHO.

13. You said the document had appeared on social media, you thought
posted by a member of the public.

14. You didn’t think the document should have been issued.  Some of the
comments in it were personal, biased and unfair.  A risk assessment
should not have any such personal remarks in it.  It should be a factual
document dealing with the risks and how they could be minimised.

15. You believed the document was disrespectful to the TDM.  You thought
bullying involved a course of events.  The TDM had felt undermined and
attacked for a long time and there was evidence of that.  This had been
the last straw.  He had taken the document personally and you could
understand why.

16. You said there had been friction between some councillors and Tony
before his election as a District Councillor.  However this had been
exacerbated since the election.  Councillors had wanted the Town Clerk
to investigate whether there was a conflict of interests.  Initially, the Clerk
had said there was no conflict of interests and didn’t feel it should be
pursued.  But councillors kept on and on and he felt pressured to do
something.  He did eventually seek advice from South West Council and
elsewhere.  The responses were that there were no conflicts involved.
That all took months, however.  Throughout this, the TDM felt he was
being attacked.

page 83



Final  -  Confidential 

 

17. You confirmed that there had been meetings of councillors at the home
of a councillor.  You understood there had been an informal HR
Committee meeting at Councillor Carrigan’s house.  There had been no
administration of that through the office.  No minutes had come out of it.
It hadn’t been claimed to be a formal meeting – you understood that,
because the Clerk had refused to call a formal meeting, they felt they had
to have an informal meeting.  You weren’t aware of any decisions or
actions that had been implemented as a result of that meeting.

18. You told me that councillors had sought to access personnel files.
Councillor Zarczynski had told you that he would be coming in to the
office to look through employees’ files.  You had said you should
probably speak to the Clerk about that first.  You did so and he said that
shouldn’t happen.  He said they could have access if they had a justified
reason.  You didn’t think councillors did get access to the files in the end.

19. You said the councillors had been relying on an email they got from
DALC (6 February) which said that the Council was the employer of all
staff and, providing its HR functions had been delegated to an HR
Committee, it is that Committee which exercises the function of the
employer.  An employer was entitled to see the HR file of its employees.
Councillors not on the HR Committee could only see personnel files if
they could show a specific need to know.  The councillors involved had
all been on the HR Committee.  You didn’t know if the advice from DALC
was correct or not.

Sent to witness for confirmation 8 August 2020 

Agreed by witness as an accurate record 12 August 2020 

page 84



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 14:  Extract from record of interview with Councillor 
John Zarczynski, 5 August 2020 

1. I introduced myself and explained my appointment and role.  I advised
you that I would be recording the interview and you consented to this.

2. You told me you had been first elected to Honiton Town Council in 2011.
You had been appointed as Mayor in 2017 and again in 2019.  You
would be continuing as the Mayor until 2021 under arrangements
necessitated by Covid 19.  You confirmed that you were a member of all
the Council’s Committees ex-officio.

The complaint against Councillor Taylor in connection with the re-
opening of the market 

21. You told me that Tony McCollum and Councillor Wyatt had not been
working on the exercise to re-open the market.  Councillor Wyatt had
approached you with some ideas for getting the Town kick-started after
coronavirus.  Having seen his list, you suggested he spoke directly to
Tony McCollum.

22. You knew that Tony McCollum was asked to prepare various things for
the re-opening of the market.  But no reports had been forthcoming.  You
had heard that his view was that the market couldn’t re-open in the High
Street and it was going to be moved to the cattle market.

23. You said the Market Assistant had carried out some measurements and
had a plan.  You had discussed with Councillor Taylor if the market could
be opened in compliance with the health and safety guidance.  He had
suggested going to do the measurements and working with Health and
Safety.

24. You told me you had an email from Councillor Wyatt saying he was going
to do this but Councillor Taylor had beaten him to it.  He had thanked
Councillor Taylor.

25. I referred to the meeting that Tony McCollum and Councillor Wyatt were
going to have on 27 May in the High Street.  You had called Councillor
Wyatt the day before and had changed some of the arrangements.  You
said you were going to be there but you couldn’t make it.  You had said
you would get John Taylor to go.  You had asked him to go and he had
gone in your place.

page 85



Final  -  Confidential 

 

26. After going to the meeting, Councillor Taylor had sent round a note of
what had happened and the note included criticisms of Tony McCollum
and Councillor Wyatt.  You said that you couldn’t defend that.  You had
said to Councillor Taylor that it was a bit strong.  It was true but it was the
way you put things.  You said the report was internal and not for
publication.  It was a councillor expressing his views.

27. You said that Councillor Taylor had subsequently said that he would do a
risk assessment because he had experience of doing that in the NHS.
He took it upon himself – he didn’t have to do it.

28. I pointed out that the ‘risk compliance required by HMG re the opening of
HTC Street Market’ that was produced by Councillor Taylor still contained
the criticisms of Tony McCollum and Councillor Wyatt.  You said that
Councillor Taylor could have chosen his words better.  Unfortunately he
speaks as he finds.

29. You told me you hadn’t seen the risk assessment until after he had
submitted it.  When you had read it you said Tony isn’t going to like this
one.  What he had stated was absolutely fact but maybe he should have
chosen his words a little more carefully.

30. I put to you Councillor Wyatt’s account that, by that time, you were
directing the exercise and Councillor Taylor was carrying it out.  It had
therefore been taken out of Tony McCollum’s hands.  You said you
weren’t directing it.  Since the market had opened, Councillor Taylor had
been there three days a week, from 5.30am.

31. You said that in the following week, you were still trying to iron out a few
minor points.  A couple of queries had been raised by health and safety.
You and Councillor Taylor were dealing with these.  The EHO had asked
to deal with one person - the Mayor.  So everything came through you
and you passed it on to Councillor Taylor.

32. I asked you what Mr Harding had wanted.  You said he came back with
one or two items that he wasn’t quite satisfied with.  You did everything
that was recommended.

33. You had arranged for an urgent vote on the Friday of that week.  The
decision to re-open had been made by the Council corporately.  You said
councillors had copies of all the correspondence about health and safety.
You said it was rubbish that you had refused to circulate the views of the
EHO.  Every piece of information was circulated to all councillors.  You
agreed to provide me with a copy of the EHO views as circulated.

page 86



Final  -  Confidential 

 

34. I asked you about the reference in Councillor Taylor’s document to Tony
McCollum having a conflict of interest.  You said that Tony McCollum
didn’t want the market in the High Street.  Going back to when he had
been elected to EDDC, you had sought advice on the matter.  When it
had been confirmed that there was no conflict, then that was end of story.
You said I would have to ask Councillor Taylor why it was still being
raised in his risk assessment.

Sent to witness for confirmation 21 August 2020 

Agreed by witness as an accurate record 23 August 2020 

page 87



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 15:  Record of interview with James Wyatt, 30 July 2020 

1. I introduced myself and explained my appointment and role.  I advised
you that I would be recording the interview and you consented to this.

2. You confirmed that you were elected to the Town Council in September
2019.  You were the Council’s lead for environmental matters.  You
brought with you experience in HR and health and safety matters.  You
resigned from the Council on 30 May because of differences over dealing
with bullying and harassment and the re-opening of the market.

3. You told me that, in early May, councillors had been asked how they felt
about the re-opening of the market.  The response had been, not yet but
the safest way to do so should be investigated.  Tony McCollum had
gone off and started those investigations.  You had been developing
proposals for recovery after Covid 19, including some economic
development, and the Mayor had suggested that you worked with Tony
on these.

4. There had been no specific directions for re-opening the market in terms
of timelines.  At that time, there was no Government guidance for
markets but it had been indicated that open air events were likely to be
opened sooner than the rest of retail.

5. You had arranged to meet Tony in the High Street to take some
measurements related to social distancing.  Tony had also been
considering other central areas that weren’t confined by space.  Tony’s
view was that there were few locations in the High Street in which the
market would be viable, given the space requirements.

6. You had received a call from the Mayor the day before the meeting.  He
was particularly keen for the market to be in the High Street.  You were
going to check that out with the measurements.  He also specifically
asked for Carl, the Markets Assistant, to be brought in.  Carl had
approached the Mayor and told him that his view was keeping the market
in the High Street was the best way of doing it.  The Mayor hadn’t said
anything about Councillor Taylor in his call.

7. On the morning of the meeting, you had texted Tony and Carl to say that
you would be about 15 minutes late.  When you arrived, Councillor Taylor
was there as well.  He said that he had heard you were backing out of
the meeting and had been asked by the Mayor to come in your place.
You also realised that Carl had arranged for some market traders to join
the meeting.

page 88



Final  -  Confidential 

 

8. You had been surprised that an informal meeting to take some
measurements had been turned in to such a large gathering.  The
difficulty was that you spent the time trying to listen to the opinions of all
those people rather than take the measurements that you needed.

9. I asked you about Councillor Taylor’s behaviour in the meeting.  You said
that he was always relatively abrasive.  You confirmed that he told Tony
that he should have done this weeks ago.  He also gave his opinion that
some of the options Tony was looking at wouldn’t be suitable.

10. You said that you had looked through your emails afterwards and had
found nothing to say that a report should have been completed by a
particular date.

11. After the meeting, you had sent an email to councillors summarising what
had happened and where to go next.  Your investigations would be
continuing.  In response to that, Councillor Taylor sent out his ‘minutes’ of
what had happened at the meeting.

12. We considered Councillor Taylor’s appraisal document.  You pointed out
that this had been modified a number of times.  We established that we
were both dealing with the document which began; This is Part One (as
of Monday 29 May 2020) of a risk compliance required by HMG re the
opening of HTC Street Market.

13. You said that Part One had been sent out first (the date was actually
incorrect since 29 May was a Friday) and Part Two added on afterwards.

14. You assumed that Councillor Taylor had been told to do this by the
Mayor.  It appeared that by this point he was being instructed by the
Mayor.  The document had been initially circulated at all councillors.  You
believed he started engaging with EDDC after adding Part Two.

15. You confirmed that the document had appeared on Facebook but you
thought that was much later, after the market had been opened.

16. We considered the particular phrases in the document that had been
highlighted in the complaint.

17. You said you were sure that if the market equipment had been sold, it
would have been under the direction of the Council.  Councillor Taylor’s
comment was insinuating impropriety.

18. The comment about Mr McCollum being engrossed in consecutive phone
calls was making it sound like it was a formal meeting.  It wasn’t, and in
any case, the start had been delayed.

page 89



Final  -  Confidential 

 

19. You assumed that the reference to you in section 6 was about your
feedback email to councillors immediately after the meeting.

20. You thought that; the failure of Mr McCollum to pursue any of the above
described work arose from him thinking that Tony had only worked on the
options for a couple of days, whereas he had working on them for a
couple of weeks.  It was more unfair criticism against him.

21. Regarding the cattle market option being such a dumb proposal, you said
that it was the lowest option on your list, because it had a number of
issues with it.  But he hadn’t listened to what you had said.

22. You didn’t think it was true that Tony was; severely conflicted in that he
would of necessity pursue the interests of his sponsoring businesses.
You didn’t think there was a conflict and you didn’t think he was still the
Chairman of the Chamber of Commerce.  He’d had the same
appointments for the last few years and it had never been a conflict
previously.  So why was it suddenly an issue?

23. You felt that Councillor Taylor’s assertions didn’t have background data
behind them.  So, for example, he had assumed that; Mr McCollum has
not bothered to approach the schools.  But he hadn’t asked him about
this.

24. I asked what your overall view of the document was.  You said that using
it as a risk assessment was pretty shocking.

25. You believed the references in Councillor Taylor’s document were
disrespectful to Tony McCollum.

26. You told me the timeline of events following the meeting on 28 May.
There were a number of discussions over the weekend.  By Monday 1
June, it had effectively been taken out of the hands of you and Tony
McCollum.  Throughout the first week of June, Councillor Taylor and the
Mayor were in direct communication with EDDC’s Environmental Health
Officer.  Tony McCollum had gone off sick during that week.

27. It was then brought to an email vote on Friday 5 June.  You had received
Councillor Taylor’s document and a few others from the Mayor at about 9
or 10am.  He required a vote by about midday or 1pm.  You had said
they were not suitable documents – it was not a risk assessment.  You
were the only person in the Council who held Health and Safety
qualifications.  It was one of the few decisions when the Town Council
was responsible for people’s lives.

page 90



Final  -  Confidential 

 

28. As well as questioning the risk assessment, you had been very
concerned about Tony’s welfare.  You believed that Councillor Taylor’s
comments about him had been bullying and you had said that to
councillors.  Although there had been very few instances of blatant
insulting, there was a lot of snide comments and side-lining.  Councillor
Taylor was the only one bold enough to openly belittle him.

29. You believed that a key contributor to Tony being off sick was that he had
been completely marginalised over the previous two weeks.  The task
that he was running with had been taken off him by a number of
councillors.  It had been made clear that they valued the opinion of his
assistant over his.  It had been referred to as Carl’s excellent plan to re-
open the market on the High Street.

30. You proposed that this should be addressed immediately.  The Council
had a duty of care for its employees.  This was resisted, however, with a
concentration on legal issues and the formal process.

31. You said you recognised Tony McCollum’s description of this being a
continuation of a longer process of bullying.  When you had joined the
Council, the staff had been introduced to you.  The Clerk had told you
that Tony’s roles had been looked in to and it had been confirmed that
there was no conflict of interests.  Nevertheless, you had been in
numerous conversations in the past year where his roles continued to be
questioned.

32. You said you hadn’t attended any meetings at Councillor Carrigan’s
house.  You had only got involved in HR issues after the Committee was
disbanded.  Because of your experience, your name had been put
forward to help sort things out.  You believed there had been at least one
informal meeting at Councillor Carrigan’s house.  One had been before
Christmas and there was also a last minute meeting in February which
councillors tried to make official by getting in another Town Clerk to take
the minutes.  It had not been claimed that the first meeting was an official
Council meeting.

33. You raised with me one of the other documents sent out with Councillor
Taylor’s assessment.  It was titled; Mr J Harding, Friday 6 June.  I
confirmed that I had received the document as part of one of the
complaints.

34. You told me that Councillor Zarczynski’s email calling for votes on the re-
opening also said that the Council had been taken round in circles by Mr
Harding.  It said, we have tried to meet his requirements but he was
being unreasonable and therefore we want to go ahead anyway.
Councillor Taylor’s letter to Mr Harding was given as evidence of that.

page 91



Final  -  Confidential 

35. You had straight away said that, to make a decision, you wanted to see
all the correspondence.  You had said that no councillor should make a
decision unless they had seen what concerns the EHO had.  You asked
the Mayor three times for Mr Harding’s letter, the other side of the
correspondence.  He refused point blank three times.  To your
knowledge, no councillor had ever seen Mr Harding’s letter.

36. Councillor Taylor’s letter also contained the phrase; Your friend and
EDDC Councillor Mr McCollum.  You thought this was particularly poor.
It was suggesting that Mr Harding was trading on that.  As far as you
knew, they had never met, and Tony had nothing to do with
Environmental Health at the District Council.

37. You had sent your resignation in on the Saturday morning.

Sent to witness for confirmation 8 August 2020 

Agreed by witness as an accurate record 9 October 2020 

page 92



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 16:  Record of interview with Jody Harding, 2 September 2020 

1. I introduced myself and explained my appointment and role.  I advised
you that I would be recording the interview and you consented to this.

2. You confirmed that you were an Environmental Health Team Leader for
the Commercial Team.  You were the lead for Covid recovery activities.

3. You had contacted Tony McCollum in late May to see what was planned
for the re-opening of the market.  Government guidance had just been
published. You had asked if they had seen the latest guidance and
whether they had done a risk assessment.

4. You had discussed with Mr McCollum the location of the market.  You
had been concerned that it was on the High Street, in the public realm.

5. You told me you had found dealing with the Mayor and Councillor Taylor
very frustrating.  You were trying to get them to give you the paperwork
that was required.  They were very resistant to doing this.  When they did
provide material, and you sought clarification, they were uncooperative.
They would not give you a straight answer.

6. You told me that a suitable and sufficient risk assessment for the market
was a legal requirement.

7. We considered Councillor Taylor’s Covid Compliance Proposal that was
sent to you in the week of 1 June.  You said this hadn’t met your
requirements.  There was a lot of irrelevant content in it.

8. You recalled the criticisms and personal comments about Mr McCollum.
You felt they were inappropriate in a document that was being sent to
you.  They had nothing to do with the risk assessment and therefore
shouldn’t have been in there.  You felt that it had been written as if it was
intended to be released into the public domain.

9. You also recalled Councillor Taylor’s letter to you which started, I really
do not want to write this letter…  You thought it was inappropriate and
unprofessional for a councillor to write.  Again, you felt it was
uncooperative and showed reluctance to provide you with a suitable and
sufficient risk assessment.

10. I asked you about the reference in the letter to; your friend and EDDC
councillor Mr McCollum.  You told me you had a professional relationship
with Mr McCollum, having met him through the Gate to Plate initiative.
You weren’t aware that he was an EDDC councillor.  So you had no
dealings at all with him at the District Council.

page 93



Final  -  Confidential 

 

11. You had reached the point where you were satisfied with the
arrangements after having done an inspection of the market.  You were
more interested in the actions that they had taken.

12. You had been conscious of the shift of who was dealing with the matter,
from the Town Development Manager to the Mayor and Councillor
Taylor.  You said that happened quite quickly.  The Mayor had told you
not to communicate with Mr McCollum.

13. Your overall view was that, considering the seriousness of the matter, the
Council didn’t seem to think what you were seeking was important or
necessary.  You had been shocked by their uncooperative and unhelpful
nature.  You felt they were hiding something from you.  They had
complained to other East Devon councillors about you.

Sent to witness for confirmation 3 August 2020 

Agreed by witness as an accurate record 4 August 2020 

page 94



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 17:  Record of interview with Peter Allen, 4 September 2020 

1. I introduced myself and explained my appointment and role.  I advised
you that I would be recording the interview and you consented to this.

2. You confirmed that you operated a stall at the Honiton street market and
also attended the market at Axminster.

3. On 28 May, you had been invited by Carl, the Market Assistant, to attend
a meeting in the High Street with Tony McCollum and Councillor Wyatt.
You had wanted to know about the plans for re-opening the market.

4. You and your wife had arrived and met Carl and Councillor Wyatt.  You
had walked up to Costa Coffee, where you met Tony McCollum.  That
was when you also saw Councillor Taylor, who came to join you.

5. At the outset, Tony said he felt the meeting had been hijacked.  He was
referring to Councillor Taylor being there unexpectedly.  You said there
was a clash of personalities between them.

6. Councillor Taylor was strongly of the opinion that Tony should have used
the time of the lockdown to come up with a plan to reopen the market.
He said something like; it should have been done weeks ago.  You didn’t
think he said; you should have done this weeks ago, but since Tony was
the Market Manager, it was obviously directed at him.

7. You said that Councillor Taylor’s voice had been slightly raised but he
hadn’t shouted.  It hadn’t been an altercation that attracted public
attention in the street.

8. Tony had said something like it wasn’t worth him being there and he
might as well go.  He wasn’t happy.  Councillor Taylor has commented
along the lines of, well if you feel you must, then go.  Tony then went
across to the other side of the street.  Your wife had gone across and
talked to him.

9. Your view was that moving from the High Street would have killed the
market because it needed the footfall.  Councillor Taylor had said that the
market would run.  He thought that what you were saying made complete
sense.  He said they needed to go and look at all the other stalls and
come to a decision.

page 95



Final  -  Confidential 

 

10. Considering the meeting overall, you said there had been a difference of
opinion between Tony McCollum and Councillor Taylor.  Tony McCollum
didn’t think the market could be operated under social distancing and
was looking at other sites.  Councillor Taylor’s manner was of; what he
says goes and that he was right.  You didn’t feel he had been
disrespectful though.

Sent to witness for confirmation 4 August 2020 

Agreed by witness as an accurate record 4 August 2020 

page 96



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 18:  Record of interview with Councillor John Taylor, 
1 September 2020 

1. I introduced myself and explained my appointment and role.  I advised
you that I would be recording the interview and you consented to this.

2. I confirmed that I was investigating complaints from Mr Burgess, Mrs
Hawkins and Mr McCollum.  They all concerned the same matter, namely
the documentation you prepared for the re-opening of the market.

3. You said you had attended a discussion on the Code of Conduct about
three years ago.  You were familiar with the Code.

4. You told me you didn’t know about Mr McCollum raising the question of
reopening the market on 11 May.  You weren’t on emails so you hadn’t
seen any canvass of views at that time.

5. You said it had been agreed that Councillor Wyatt and Councillor
Zarczynski would be at the meeting on 28 May, but not Mr McCollum.
You had been told by Councillor Zarczynski that Councillor Wyatt could
only attend for half an hour, so he needed another councillor to be there
as well.  You weren’t sure whether he had telephoned you on the
evening of the 28th or the morning of the 29th.

6. He had asked you to go along because of your experience of working the
market.

7. You told me the meeting should have been at 11am.  You stood outside
Costa Coffee.  Mr McCollum was on his phone.  You hadn’t interrupted
him.  Councillor Wyatt and Carl came up the High Street.  They had
started some measuring.  You all then met up together.  Two market
traders were also present.

8. There was discussion, including about measurements.  Mr McCollum had
said something like; this meeting’s been hijacked.  He had said he was
going to go.

9. You hadn’t said to him; you should have done this exercise weeks ago.
You had said to the group that you understood that the exercise was to
be considered some weeks ago.  You understood that the Deputy Clerk
had instructed Mr McCollum to do that.

10. You hadn’t shouted.  You pointed out that Mr McCollum usually had a
body camera on.  You had only raised your voice to be heard over the
traffic.  You said you had been blunt, but not rude, to Councillor Wyatt.

page 97



Final  -  Confidential 

 

11. Mr McCollum then went and stood over by the wall.  The meeting then
fragmented into smaller groups.

12. You said you wouldn’t have seen Councillor Wyatt’s email that afternoon
summarising the outcome of the meeting.  You said he had later emailed
and called you something.  You would try to find that for me.

13. You had then prepared your ‘short description of events’.  Cllr Zarczynski
had circulated that at 9.29 on the Friday.

14. Councillor Wyatt and Mr McCollum had been measuring again on the
Friday.  You had walked up and spoken to Councillor Wyatt.  You denied
having said the market would be re-opening, whatever their report said.
You had said you would be putting a report in and trying to re-open the
market. .

15. You had later done the measurements with Councillor Zarczynski on the
principles that Carl had suggested.

16. You said that Councillor Wyatt hadn’t been authorised to do any report.
You hadn’t read it.

17. The next document was your Covid Compliance Proposal, started on
Friday 29 May.  You said you had sent part 1 to Councillor Zarczynski.
You had then included it with part 2.  Councillor Zarczynski would have
had both, as you wrote them.  He was the Mayor – you didn’t circulate
anything.  You explained that you did the typing and Councillor McNally
emailed items for you.

18. You acknowledged that much of your ‘short description of events’ was
incorporated into the Proposal document.

19. You said you hadn’t been able to find any risk assessment for the
market.  You had used East Devon’s risk assessment for the Gate to
Plate event as a template.

20. We considered in turn the various comments within the Proposal
document that were of concern to the complainants.

McCollum was on holiday once for 4 weeks
You said that was about five years ago.  You had mentioned that to
demonstrate your experience in running the market.

page 98



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Equipment no longer available since Mr McCollum sold it 
You said this related to the safety of Carl.  The cones used for the market 
were kept behind the Masonic Hall in an area that was difficult to get to.  
You had suggested they were kept behind the toilets in Lace Walk.  The 
Town Council already had a license to use this area.  You had found 
there was a stall there that the Council owned.  There was plenty of room 
to put more stalls there.   

Mr McCollum’s justification for selling the equipment was that there was 
nowhere to store it.  That was the basis for the Council’s decision to sell 
it.  So you had no idea why the equipment had been sold.  You pointed 
out that the Council was paying the Masonic Lodge, to which Mr 
McCollum belonged, £300 per week.  You were not happy with this whole 
matter and you had been drawing attention to it.   

Mr McCollum was engrossed in consecutive phone calls 
You said he had been when you arrived for the meeting. 

Cllr Wyatt had not dealt with facts save cursory reference to documents 
provided but not authored by Mr McCollum   
You said that was correct.   

The failure of McCollum to pursue any of the above work 
You said he had not cleaned behind the toilets; he had not pursued the 
alternatives.  He had not done the work.   

It’s astounding that such a dumb proposal has been made 
You said the school had complained about the spray from washing down 
coming over the wall.  You said it was a dumb and stupid suggestion 
because it was unhealthy.   

Mr McCollum is severely conflicted and would of necessity pursue the 
interests of his sponsoring businesses.   
You said the conflict was because he was the Chairman of the Chamber 
of Commerce.  He was taking the credit due to the Council for Town 
Development Work and giving it to the Chamber of Commerce.  You 
pointed out that there were four Masons from Mr McCollum’s Lodge on 
the Chamber of Commerce.   

Mr McCollum acting as an EDDC councillor voted for increases in car 
parking charges 

Mr McCollum has not bothered to approach the schools 
You said he had not asked the school or assessed the risks with the 
playing field option.   

page 99



Final  -  Confidential 

 

HTC should require of its employee, Mr McCollum copies of 
correspondence to EH 

Blatant discrimination between the right of the market traders and the 
currently open businesses 

21. You said that you had always spelled Mr McCollum’s name as McCullum.

22. I put to you the main point of all three complaints, which was that these
critical and personal comments had no place at all in a technical
appraisal document that was submitted and circulated externally.

23. You said that the comments were not personal.  You had found yourself
as responsible for the safety of Carl.  The comments were factual and
correct.  You did not accept that they were malicious, undermining and
used to bully Mr McCollum.

24. I asked you what was the status and purpose of the Covid Compliance
Proposal document.  You said the purpose was to try and open the
market, with the safety of Carl, in particular, in mind.  You said you
couldn’t put Mr McCollum on the market because of risk associated with
his age and build.  The document was part of the risk assessment.

25. You acknowledged that Councillor Wyatt and Mr McCollum felt that the
matter had been taken out of their hands.  Councillor Wyatt had only
been on the Council for three months and knew nothing about the
market.  You had experience of running the market – you thought you
were by far and away better equipped than Councillor Wyatt.

26. A series of documents had been circulated to councillors on the Friday, in
advance of their vote on re-opening.  This included your Covid
Compliance Proposal.

27. At some time, that document had been posted on social media.  You said
it had been written for the Council and councillors.  You suspected it was
posted by Mr Burgess.

28. I put to you that Mr McCollum saw this episode as a continuation of
harassment and bullying which he had experienced since he had
become a District Councillor in May last year.  You said you hadn’t talked
to him for around three years.

29. You said there was a problem with being an employee in a Town Council
and a councillor at the District, if you are in a politically sensitive position.
You believed that the post of Town Development Manager was politically
sensitive.  You told me that the Electoral Commission had been asked if
it was a politically sensitive post and they had said no.  But it had to be
checked out – and you hadn’t mentioned it since.

page 100



Final  -  Confidential 

 

30. I put to you two specific allegations.  Firstly, that you had videoed Mr
McCollum on his dinner break.  You said you had walked past a coffee
shop in Lace Walk with your phone up to your ear.  You didn’t know he
was in there and you hadn’t videoed him.

31. Secondly, you had been checking the whereabouts of his car.  You
explained there was a charity shop next to the Beehive.  It was claimed
that you were peering over the wall.  You said you had looked at the
lights in the Council offices – you often did this.  If the lights were on you
wanted to know why.  There had been unauthorised use in the past.  You
hadn’t been checking up on Mr McCollum.

32. In summary, you rejected the allegation that your document was
disrespectful and bullying to Mr McCollum.  The document was technical,
and technical could be bullying in the sense that facts are facts.  You said
I now knew that you hadn’t given the full background to the facts.

Sent to witness for confirmation 21 September 2020 

Agreed by witness as an accurate record 

page 101



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Document 19:  Response of Councillor Taylor to the Draft Report of 
Investigation 

Councillor Taylor inserted comments into the Draft Report up to paragraph 6.2. 
His comments are highlighted.   

1. Introduction

1.1 Honiton is a market town in East Devon, to the north east of Exeter.  
Serving a population of around 12,000, the Town Council comprises 18 
councillors. 

1.2 The Town Council holds a market in the High Street on Tuesday, 
Thursday and Saturday throughout the year.  The Council’s Town 
Development Manager, Tony McCollum, is the officer responsible for 
operating the market.  The market was suspended from 23 March 2020 
as part of the national coronavirus lockdown.   

1.3 In mid-May, the Town Development Manager was working with 
Councillor James Wyatt to consider how the re-opening the market could 
be arranged. I was unaware of this. 

1.4 On 28 May, Councillor Wyatt arranged to meet the Town Development 
Manager and the Market Assistant in the High Street to take 
measurements and progress the investigation.  Councillor John Taylor 
joined the meeting and gave his views on the matter. I was instructed to 
attend by my Chairman. I was told that Carl Cracknell and Cllr wyatt 
would be there. Carl Invited traders. That is why they turned up. Those 
were Pete and Kay (cards) and Howling Wolf (coffee) Carl met Wyatt by 
coincidence outside his flats in Queen street. They came down New St 
and tirned left. They went down the styreet, crossed and near Lace Walk 
they met Pete and Kay. I was waiting by Costa. The TDM was on the 
phone. I did not hover. It is rude to interrupt people on the phone. 

1.5 Later that day Councillor Wyatt circulated to councillors a note of the 
meeting and a proposed timeline for the investigation.  Councillor Taylor 
also prepared a note of the meeting which was critical of the Town 
Development Manager.  His note was circulated to councillors by the 
Mayor, Councillor Zarczynski. Critical is a value judgement and no 
evidence is given. Prejudicial. Not suitable for an Introduction.  

1.6 Between 29 and 31 May, Councillor Taylor prepared a Covid Compliance 
Proposal which considered how the market could be re-opened in the 
High Street.  His note of the meeting of 28 May was largely incorporated 
into the Proposal.  Largely? It was fused to stop repetition. The language 
used by Mr Darsley is prejudicial. 

page 102



Final  -  Confidential 

 

1.7 Councillor Zarczynski circulated the Covid Compliance Proposal and 
other documentation to councillors.  He also sent it to the relevant 
Environmental Health Officer at East Devon District Council. I was not in 
control of that.  

1.8 The market was eventually re-opened on Saturday 6 June. 

1.9 Subsequently, the Covid Compliance Proposal was posted on social 
media. Subsequently? Everything that was circulated to ‘Councillors’ as 
the email address was accessed by Mrs Hawkins. She read every 
document and passed them on. 

1.10 On 10 and 15 June, and on 19 July, John Burgess, Sonia Hawkins and 
Tony McCollum submitted complaints about the conduct of Councillor 
Taylor.  All three concerned the comments he made in his Covid 
Compliance Proposal.   

1.11 The three complaints are shown below: 

The complaint of John Burgess 

Honiton Town Council have been considering how it may re-open 
Honiton Market which in normal times takes place on Honiton High St. 
on Saturdays, Tuesdays and to a lesser extent Thursdays. The 
personnel involved were: 

Mr McCollum - Town Development Manager i/c the operation of the market 
(an employee of the council). Mr McCollum was rarely at the market. Indeed 
when Mr Cracknell collected the rents he asked that the monies be handed 
to Mr McCollum’s fellow Freemason in the French hen. 
Carl ? – Mr McCollum’s market assistant.  
Cllr James Wyatt (now ex-councillor following his resignation on 6th June 
2020) Cllr Wyatt never attended the market to assist. 
Cllr John Taylor – asked by the Mayor (Cllr Zarczynski) to carry out the 
assessment. I had experience of filling in for Mr McCollum when he was on 
holiday etc. This went back to the old Town Hall days in New Street. I can 
get many witnesses to this. 

The attached document (what document? It is not detailed in the 
script).prepared by Cllr Taylor together with four others I rarely produce 
any document in concert were sent by email (dated 5th June 2020) to 
members of Honiton Council by the Mayor who were then requested to 
vote on whether the market could re-open within Covid-19 guidelines.  
These documents Now the document becomes plural were also sent to 
me in an email (date 6th June 2020) from Cllr Wyatt following an 
informal Zoom meeting that he had set up so that members of the public 
could ask councillors questions.  Here is what he said in his email: 

Mr Burgess, 
On our Town Councillor surgery on Monday you requested that as the 
council was making decisions via email, to allow transparency on votes 

page 103



Final  -  Confidential 

 

that should be conducted in public you would like to see the evidence 
and voting record for each subject.  Please see attached and below for 
the email submitted for vote to the council by the Mayor yesterday. The 
records of email votes were held by the deputy town clerk and were 
made public. 

The email goes on to give the result of the vote and also copies in the 
email from the Mayor requesting councillors to vote and which clearly 
states that he and Cllr Taylor have been preparing the ground for the 
market to re-open. Of course I was involved in the reopening. I have 30 
years + experience in using viruses nas vectors in genetic research. I 
understand the language. It is why I was involved. There is no mention 
of any work done by Mr McCollum or Cllr Wyatt in the mayor’s email. I 
do not know if they did any work. Certainly neither has experience in 
such things as epideniology (I have lots in the incidence of Cancer 
‘types’ in relation to say racial inheritance, environmental issues (I 
lectured in chemical carcinogenesis in several medical schools) This 
email was sent on 5th of June and they wished to open the market the 
following day: 

From the Mayor’s email: 

I have also been informed by Cllr Twiss that EH are only an advisory 
body and will not give HTC a definitive YES OR NO and HTC does not 
require EH permission to reopen the market as such I propose that is 
seconded by Cllr John Taylor for  councillors to vote to reopen HTC 
street market from tomorrow Saturday 6 June 2020 This information is 
correct. Environmentasl Health should not advise on issues. There is 
not necessarily the expertise in the local office for such advice and it is 
the responsibility of the trader/school/library whatever to ensure 
mcompliance. EH can visit and close down trading. 

As I said Traders are on stand by therefore your vote is URGENT can I 
please have your votes no later than 3.30pm today to give us time to 
inform all traders the market will reopen subject to a majority supporting 
my proposal What is wrong with this? It is aimed at the regeneration of 
the town and the rebuildin g of the street market, a HTC asset and as 
such requires (Good Cllrs Guide) Cllrs to ensure its value in the Assets 
register. The street market charter could be sold. 

Clearly councillors had little time to read the 5 documents and had no 
option to debate the alternative venues or debate the lack of authority 
from Environmental Health see above EH has no advisory powers. It is 
not insured for that.. This is not the way for the council to conduct its 
business. Insurance is crucial. If EH made a definituve recommendation 
and a shop invested in that and the advice was wrong…..? oops. 

It seems clear from the attached document that Cllr Wyatt and Mr 
McCollum had views about the re-opening of the market at variance 
with Cllr Taylor and the Mayor. Good that we have a democracy. It also 
would appear that Mr McCollum and Cllr Wyatt had concluded the High 

page 104



Final  -  Confidential 

 

St could not comply with social distancing guidelines and were 
suggesting three alternative venues for the market - the cattle market,  
an  EDDC car park and All Hallows playing field. Interesting. The Market 
opened on 6 June. It has not been closed down. The R-value for SARS-
COV-2 transmission has not gone upo. Honiton has not suffered an 
outbreak among the general population. 

My complaint concerns the language used by Cllr Taylor in the attached 
document when he is referring to Mr McCollum and Cllr Wyatt. I have 
highlighted these places in yellow.  I believe that taken together it is 
clear that Cllr Taylor is deliberately using language to criticise the 
competence of Mr McCollum and to a lesser extent Cllr Wyatt and this 
language is in breach of HTC’s Code of Conduct as follows: 

General obligations 

4. You  must –
(b) treat others with courtesy and respect including fellow council
members, staff and members of the public, Courtesy is inbred to me.
But facts are hurtful. Cattle faeces are not desirable in ones food, on
ones shoes etc. Mr Burgess being a biochemistry graduate of UCL will
know of Brucella abortus (cattle) suis (pigs, (melitensis Sheep… and
goats?). Not good to catch but fortunately not transmissible between
humans.I therefore respect that Mr Burgess and I would know some
facts that others would not. Imposityion of PPE to minimise hurt to
people may in some people seem disrespectful but ?

I must also point out that Cllr Taylor’s dismissals of the alternative sites 
are shallow and do not stand up to scrutiny. For example, he mentions 
the problem of faeces on the cattle market floor, yet in response to this 
allegation a member of the public posted this photo of the Cattle Market 
on Facebook on June 6th.  
See the above. By the way Mr Burgess bacteria are very small. They do 
not show up in photographs. But I suppose that Mr Darsley will now 
determine that I am showing disrespect to a fellow science graduate but 
I am afraid facts are hurtful and if you do not show respect for those 
facts then you end up ill, crippled, etc. Incidentally did the photo include 
the frequently piled up used straw at the far and of the cattle market? As 
a past Biological safety officer at the UCLH group of hospitals 
(remember those Mr Burgess?) I emphasise Hazard. Pets love to roll in 
such things. Pets then get stroked. Children then may lose their 
eyesight. Who cares? I do. 

Yours sincerely 

John Burges. 

page 105



Final  -  Confidential 

 

The complaint of Sonia Hawkins 

The basis of my complaint is that Cllr John Taylor has breached the following 
sections of the Honiton Town Council Code of Conduct: 

 1.2  You should have regard to the Principles of Public Life namely,
Selflessness, Honesty/Integrity, Objectivity, Accountability, Openness,
Personal judgment, Respect for others, Duty to uphold the law,
Stewardship and Leadership

 4(a)  treat others with courtesy and respect including fellow council
members, staff and members of the public

 5(c)  bully any person (bullying may be characterised as any single act
or pattern of offensive, intimidating, malicious, insulting or humiliating
behaviour; an abuse or misuse of power or authority which attempts to
undermine or coerce or has the effect of undermining or coercing an
individual or group of individuals by gradually eroding their confidence or
capability which may cause them to suffer stress or fear);

(These are the main ones, but on reviewing the code I feel that there are 
several other aspects of the code that Cllr Taylor has breached through his 
recent actions.) 

I have attached 3 documents which were completed by Cllr Taylor in 
connection with the recent re-opening of the Honiton Street Market. These 
documents should have been objective, fact-based risk assessments, but I 
believe they have been inappropriately and deliberately used to bully a fellow 
employee of Honiton Town Council, namely Mr Anthony McCollum, through 
the use of malicious and insulting comments contained within them. These 
documents were widely circulated to councillors, EDDC and via social media 
to probably a large number of people. (I first saw these documents on 6th 
June on Facebook) I am intrigued by this last claim. I do not dispute it but I 
remind Mrs Hawkins of her tirade against a document issued by Cllr Carrigan 
in which she has read a document issued by him to Cllrs. The document wa 
restricted to HTC Human Resources and concerned my duty of care fore Mr 
Cracknell. I must admit that I failed to understand how Mrs Hawkins 
compared the risk to herself in working in an office to that of a person 
working on an A-road, in various climatic conditions and without HighViis 
gear as I provided to Mr Cracknell but which Mr McCollum failed so to do. I 
suppose that Mrs Hawkins will now complain that I have belkittled her by that 
comparison. I see it as an education so that Mrs Hawkins can understand the 
risks taken by people working on a highway which of course I would not 
expect her to experience. The aforesaid is a statement of fact. And I believe 
in life long learning. 

I consider this to be in breach of the Code of Conduct and a blatant misuse 
of power by Cllr Taylor in an attempt to undermine Mr McCollum’s standing 
as an employee of Honiton Town Council, as an EDDC councillor and as 
Chairman of Honiton Chamber of Commerce. What is this? I presume Mr 
Darsley, in his questioning of individuals did not provide pictures of the 
underfoot hazards suffered by Mr Cracknel, of the hazards of working at 
6a.m. in mid-winter without lighting in that situation. Or that Mr (EDDC Cllr) 
McCollum charged Mrs Hawkins’ employer £300 per annum for the privilege 

page 106



Final  -  Confidential 

 

when Mr McCollum knew of a safer site owned by EDDC. But then Mrs 
Hawkins is unlikely to be a Freemason. 

None of the references made to Mr McCollum (or any other named persons) 
in these documents are relevant to the purpose for which they were 
produced and should not have been included. Why no if an employee gets 
pecuniary profit for their private members club? The only purpose they serve 
is to try and damage Mr McCollum’s reputation and I consider that clearly 
demonstrates a total lack of respect by Cllr Taylor towards an employee of 
Honiton Town Council. The Council has approved policies and procedures 
for dealing with concerns that councillors may have about an employee’s 
conduct and/or performance in their role and these should have been used if 
there were any issues. The procedures exist but if Mrs Hawkins had not 
noticed there was a series of people who stopped the application of internal 
procedures. 

As background information, Mr McCollum was absent on sick leave when 
these documents were circulated and ALL councillors were aware of the 
circumstances leading up to that absence, as they were all sent a letter 
detailing them by Cllr Wyatt. Not so. Mr McCollum self certificated beginning 
the afternoon of Wednesday 03 June 2020. There are emails (scans 
provided to Mr Dearsley that show relevant communications from EDDC 
EHO Mr Harding. Despite this, a majority of councillors voted in favour of the 
proposal to re-open the market and thereby allowed the documents 
containing the malicious and insulting comments (as highlighted on the 
attached documents) to be put forward to EDDC and made available to the 
general public. I will examine those documents. The accusation of malicious 
implies libel (I.e. documentary form) and I do not like that. 

It could be argued that those councillors, by not objecting to the contents of 
these documents when they were fully aware of the effect some councillor’s 
recent actions had taken on Mr McCollum’s health, have also breached the 
code, but as Cllr Taylor has put his name to them he is the councillor I have 
specifically named. Could be? To destroy a Cllrs good name on the basis of 
could be? I refute any insult to Mr McCollums Health. I have cannot compete 
with Mrs Hawkins’ medical knowledge. 

As it states in the Code of Conduct ‘The reputation of the Council depends 
on your conduct and what the public believes about your conduct’. Honiton 
Town Council’s reputation is already severely damaged and this behaviour 
by Cllr Taylor, supported by other councillors, has I believe caused further 
damage. Mrs Hawkins has used social media to promote her views. I can 
easily prove that those views have damaged my reputation and by 
association that of HTC. I challenge Mrs Hawkins to provide proof of social 
media entries by me. They do not exist . 

As an employee, I am personally finding that working for Honiton Town 
Council has become extremely stressful over the last few months and I have 
genuine concerns about the increasing use, by some councillors, of bullying 
as a means to try and get the outcomes they desire, rather than adhering to 
the procedures detailed in the Council’s approved policies. Even though I 

page 107



Final  -  Confidential 

have not personally been bullied, I have witnessed it and I am no longer 
prepared to sit back and do nothing when my colleagues’ health is being 
adversely affected. I have always avoided being in a situation where I can be 
called a bully. Even on the market I accept instruction by Mr Cracknell. In fact 
he introduces me as his assistant ant that is exactly what I am. I do admitm 
that I would stop before accepting the same appellation, witrh its concomitant 
authority if Mr McCollum were to reappear on the market. I suggest to Mrs 
Hawkins that ones health deteriorates if one is an unsuccessful bully. 

I will be raising my concerns through the Council’s internal procedures and I 
have already requested that a risk assessment is completed, as a matter of 
urgency, to deal with ‘work-related stress’ to comply with the Council’s legal 
responsibility as an employer under the Health & Safety legislation. Good. 
There have been no risk assessments made for several years. It is not the 
Cllrs agenda but occasionally we do try to force items on. 

If any further information is required, please let me know. 

The complaint of Tony McCollum 

The basis of my complaint is that HTC Councillor John Taylor has breached 
the following sections of the Honiton Town Council Code of Conduct: 

1.2 You should have regard to the Principles of Public Life namely, 
Selflessness, Honesty/Integrity, Objectivity, Accountability, Openness, 
Personal Judgement, Respect for others, Duty to uphold the law, Steward and 
Leadership 

4.(a) to treat others with courtesy and respect including fellow council 
members, staff and members of the public 

5(c) bullying any person (bullying may be characterised as any single act or 
patter of offensive, intimidating, malicious, insulting or humiliating behaviour, 
an abuse or misuse of power or authority which attempts to undermine or 
coerce or has effect of undermining or coercing an individual or group of 
individuals by gradually eroding their confidence or capability which may cause 
them to suffer stress or fear); This is not necessarily correct. If it is necessary 
to impose a statutory requirement on an employee then that is not bullying. I 
was aware of Mr McCollum’s riskinking Carl’s health for a pecuniary gain.  

I am enclosing various reports with highlighted comments made by Cllr Taylor 
in reference to myself 

5. Appraisal of Honiton Street Market during the Corona Virus outbreak
6. Copy of letter to Mr J Harding EDDC EHO
7. HTC Covid Compliance Proposal

page 108



Final  -  Confidential 

 

8. Various reports submitted by Cllr Taylor to all Councillors and Social
Media with various allegations and nontruths made against myself all
highlighted

9. Within these documents are numerous statutory requirements. For
example Mr McCollum was required as line manager to Mr Cracknell to
provide (at HTC expense) High-Vis all-weather wear for the winter. Mr
McCollum did no such thing. He bought cheap single skin BLACK
jacket and over-trousers for Mr Cracknell to use on a Highways
England A-road (the High Street). He even went to the effort of going to
a high street shop next to St Pauls Honiton.

10. I never use social media. Mrs Hawkins is lying – a strong word but fact.

I was not given the right to defend myself or express my version of events prior 
statements being made to the public or on social media. There is no detail to 
this statement so it is worthless. Mr Darsley I never use or have used social 
media. Never. Never. Never. 
The consequences of recent events and previous events since May 2019 has 
caused a detrimental effect on my health with work related stress, confidence, 
fear of employment for the future, if these personal attacks are allowed to 
continue then I cannot say how my situation will change for the better, 
Evidence please. There is none. This is nothing to do with me 

Targeted 
Since my election as EDDC Councillor for St Pauls Ward back in May 20019, 
the attitude has changed between a select group of HTC Councillors of which 
Cllr Taylor is one them. 

All of this is evident in a lot of Cllr Taylors reports, this shows up as myself 
being mentioned as EDDC Councillor which should not be relevant to the 
reports.. When I mention the EDDC status then it is relevant. EDDC Cllr 
McCollum knew of the EDDC land behind to toilets. That is why I mention it. 
He knew of somewhere safe to keep the traffic cones. He did not use it. He 
used the Masonic hall instead and charged £300 for it. In other words he put 
Carl at physical risk for pecuniary gain. Mr Darsley I have provided the 
photographs and the explanations to you. You agreed to accept that evidence 
in that way. Please look and read that data again. I asked an EDDC Cllr to 
approach the officers. Within three days I, not an EDDC Cllr had obtained the 
safe haven.  
There seems to be a extreme vendetta since I became EDDC Councillor and 
my Employment at HTC has come under insomountable attacks and 
allegations and non truths since I got elected. I want any evidence for this. I 
have not spoken to him, I have not spoken about him. It is always best not to 
speak in Honiton because the social media especially the Honiton Forum site 
created and admini9stered by Mr Burgess is routinely full of posts abnout the 
Cllrs that is unsubstantiated tolling. I told of it but never look.  I have therefore 
had no option but to file a complaint to Honiton Town Council under the HTC 
Bullying and Harassment Complaints Procedure. I have not been told of any 
such complaint. Proof please. I have also filed back on January 28th under 
GDPR2018 a request for all information relating to myself, which they have 
failed to acknowledge or provide information. That cannot apply to me. I avoid 
such media. Mr McCollum therefore can have no reason to accuse me and in 
fact it is fantastical. This is not relevant to me. This has now been sent to ICO 
as a complaint.  I have also sought support from my Union GMB as a 
safeguard for future employment with HTC. I take that as a threat. If the union 

page 109



Final  -  Confidential 

 

tries anything on me then I will respond. I have no social media presence, no 
email presence. I do have an sms presence but that is limited to 180 
characters and MMS pictures which of course you Mr Darsley know since you 
have ignored many such data units recently. This is a paranoid allegation – 
paranoid because of the aforesaid allegations against me. In fact given 
preceding vocabulary I will describe it as malicious. And I also take it as a 
threat to the well-being of Mr Cracknell who has been denied PPE for 18 
months, a contract of employment for seven months, a safe underfoot working 
area, because Mr McCollum preferred to give a pecuniary advantage (£300 
p.a.) to his Masonic lodge rather than use an established (of ten years
experience) free but hard nsurface area.

MR DARSLEY, I AVOIDED SPEAKING TO Mr McCollum for years because 
his wife was active on social media attacking me. I thought it best to avoid any 
confrontation. I literally only spoke to Mr5 McCo0llum on that day in the High 
Street.  

1.12 The three complaints were assessed by the Monitoring Officer of East 
Devon District Council.  He decided that the complaints should be referred 
for independent investigation  Independent? I follow eastdsevonwatch and 
have done for years. 

1.13 

1.13 The Monitoring Officer appointed me to carry out an investigation into the 
complaints on 6 July 2020. Three months? Yet you have communicated 
with me in that time only to clear me of the Mackarness allegations. 
There was video evidence there. Mr McCollum wears a body cam when 
on the street. Where is his evidence? There is none because I do not 
approach him. In fact in a letter to HTC he describes his last year as 
being sent to Coventry. 

page 110



Final  -  Confidential 

 

2. Councillor Taylor’s official details

2.1 Councillor Taylor was first elected to Honiton Town Council in 2007 and 
has served continuously on the Council since then.  He was last elected 
in May 2019.   

2.2 He is one of ten members representing the St Michael’s Ward.   

2.3 Councillor Taylor is the Deputy Chair of the Finance Committee.  

3. The relevant legislation and protocols

The Localism Act 2011 

3.1 Section 27(1) of the Localism Act 2011 places a relevant authority under 
a statutory duty to ‘promote and maintain high standards of conduct by 
members and co-opted members of the authority’.  

3.2 Under section 27(2) of the Act, a relevant authority ‘must, in particular, 
adopt a code dealing with the conduct that is expected of members and 
co-opted members of the authority when they are acting in that capacity’. 

3.3 Honiton Town Council is a relevant authority.  Its Code of Conduct was 
adopted in September 2015 and is shown on its website. This is the code 
of conduct adopted by HTC when Cllr Kolek was Mayor, Cllr Perkins was 
coopted to the employment committee and Cllr Harvey Ingram was Chair 
of the employment committee. These were the people found wanting for 
democracy in the High Court and which action I learned that Independent 
Investigators are not so.   

3.4 This investigation is carried out in relation to the Town Council’s Code of 
Conduct and under the arrangements of East Devon District Council for 
considering complaints.  

page 111



Final  -  Confidential 

 

The Code of Conduct of Honiton Town Council 

3.5 The following paragraphs of the Code of Conduct are relevant: 

In order for the Council to discharge its duties and to ensure fair 
representation of ALL constituents Councillors must abide by the 
following Code of Conduct.   

General obligations 

4. You must -

(b) treat others with courtesy and respect including fellow
council members, staff and members of the public.

5. You must not -

(c) bully any person (bullying may be characterised as any
single act or pattern of offensive, intimidating, malicious,
insulting or humiliating behaviour; an abuse or misuse of
power or authority which attempts to undermine or
coerce or has the effect of undermining or coercing an
individual or group of individuals by gradually eroding
their confidence or capability which may cause them to
suffer stress or fear).

page 112



Final  -  Confidential 

 

4. The evidence gathered

Documentary and on-line evidence 

4.1 I have taken account of the following information: 

 Numerous emails between councillors and officers of Honiton
Town Council during May and June 2020. I need a list of these
please. None can be written by me since I cannot use email. I
have word documents sent as attachments and that is all.Why am
I being blamed for the actions of others.

 Councillor Taylor’s note of a meeting on 28 May 2020.

 Councillor Taylor’s Covid Compliance Proposal.

 A report on the re-opening of the market in the name of
Councillor Wyatt, dated 29 May 2020. I need a copy. I have never
seen it. I repeat I have never seen it. Indeed Wyatt wrote to the
Mayor saying that I had beaten him to the report (I actually never
knew we were in competition).

 Various letters and attachments from Jody Harding to officers
and councillors of the Town Council. Copies please.

 A letter from Councillor Taylor to Jody Harding dated 6 June 2020.

Oral evidence 

4.2 I have taken account of oral evidence through interviews with; and you 
have paraphrased these such that they are hearsay? 

 John Burgess, complainant, did you consider his Honiton forum
site content as a measure of accuracy?

 Sonia Hawkins, complainant, trolling evidence available

 Tony McCollum, complainant, Mrs McCollum trolling evidence
available

 Heloise Marlow, Deputy Town Clerk, witness, statement please

 Councillor John Zarczynski, Mayor, witness, statement please.

 James Wyatt, former councillor, witness, no hearsay evidence
please.

 Jody Harding, Environmental Health Officer, witness, as above

 Peter Allen, market trader, witness, as above

 Councillor John Taylor, subject member. I have the recording
thank you.

page 113



Final  -  Confidential 

 

4.3 The interviews were recorded.  The written records of the interviews were 
sent to the interviewees for the confirmation of accuracy.  The dates of 
sending the record and of the confirmation that the record is accurate are 
shown at the end of the record.  And will you recognise that you have 
interpreted the interviews thereby making them, hearsay of yours? 

4.4 The records of interviews are shown at documents 10 to 18. 

page 114



Final  -  Confidential 

 

5. Findings of fact Hardly. They are findings of witness
claims. The COVID compliance was written in the
background knowledge of Mr McCollum’s failure of Duty
of Care to Carl. These individuals did not know of this.

5.1 The complaints of Mr Burgess, Mrs Hawkins and Mr McCollum are all 
focussed on the contents of the Covid Compliance Proposal prepared by 
Councillor Taylor.  The Proposal and associated documents were 
circulated to all town councillors and externally.  I had circulated to all 
Cllrs a draft report. I mdid not mention Mr McCollum’s failure of Duty of 
Care. You have those photographs taken when I could get into the store. 
I poiunt out that you say you were given this brief in mid July. Those 
photographs were taken in June. The bullying comp[laint from Carl was 
made in February. 

5.2 Mr Burgess considers that the language in the Covid Compliance Proposal is used deliberately to criticise the 
competence of Mr McCollum and is disrespectful to him.  That is not a fact. It is a value judgement of Mr Burgess. 
Pleas Mr Darsley do not misuse the word fact.  By definition the word considers, results in proof of your use of the 
title statements of FACTS. They are impressions of a member of the public who has not spoken to me for years and 
has a long track record of trolling me on his web site Honiton Forum. I am told of it. I do not access it or any social 
media. 

5.3 Mrs Hawkins considers that Councillor Taylor’s comments about Mr 
McCollum in the Proposal and the associated documents are irrelevant to 
their purpose.  They were relevant but I did not highlight the dangers to 
Mr Cracknell for example; because that would prejudice any police 
investigation into the risk to Carl and the payment to the Masons. She 
believes they are malicious and insulting and are intended to damage Mr 
McCollum’s reputation. Hence you? belittle a woman who makes 
judgements on insufficient data?. Mr Darsley, I keep coming back to the 
fact I knew of t5he risk to Carl. I kept silent. I had to but when I became 
responsible for Carl I bought all the PPE, water to drink, tables to put 
administration stuff, etc. Mr Darsley I PAID FOR THAT STUFF As such, 
they are both disrespectful and bullying towards him.  As above 
considers is not factual. It is a value judgement. It is therefore a truth of 
opinion. She did not know the Carl stuff.. 

page 115



Final  -  Confidential 

 

5.4 Mr McCollum believes that Councillor Taylor’s comments in the Proposal 
and associated documents are disrespectful and bullying to him.  He 
says the consequence of this and previous events have had a 
detrimental effect on his health.  See above.Mr Darsley. On June 2, the 
day before Mr MCCOLLUM WENT OFF SICK HE RECEIVED AN EMAIL 
FROM Mr Harding. In that email Mr Harding demands ALL the risk 
assessments for the street market in addition to the covid ones. Mr 
Darsley there were none, in criminal breach of the H&S safety at work act 
1974. That was Mr McCollums Duty of Care. If you persist in ignoring that 
fact then you will never understand that Mr McCollum was frightened not 
by me but by the demand from Mr Harding. I have not read Mr Harding’s 
interview yet. I expect it to be hostile. You see Mr Darsley, Mr Harding 
tried to exceed his powers. He can make recommendations. He cannot 
force anything unless H&S is obviously broken. 

5.5 Members are required to follow the Council’s Code of Conduct when they 
are acting in their role as a councillor.  This is known as their official 
capacity.  Members are also required to observe H&S legislation. 

5.6 Councillor Taylor prepared the Covid Compliance Proposal and the 
associated documents for the Town Council in its work to re-open the 
market.  He was undertaking the business of the Council and was 
therefore acting in his official capacity.  The Council’s Code of Conduct 
applied to his actions. What also applied were the skills that I have. I am 
qualified in many aspects of biosciences and in epidemiology. The code 
of conduct is therefore subject to the need for professional accuracy, 
honesty to the refereed publications etc. In other words duty to the 
majority and their benefit/protection must be taken into account  Mr 
Darsley this is essentially the application of ethics. 

5.7 Whilst the documentation prepared by Councillor Taylor is a matter of 
record, there are some issues for factual determination.  Firstly, I 
summarise the undisputed facts below.   

page 116



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Undisputed facts 

5.8 In his role as the Town Development Manager, Tony McCollum is 
responsible for overseeing the street market, through the Market 
Assistant, Carl Cracknell. Thank you. Mr McCollum is therefore 
responsible for the Health and Safety of Mr Cracknell and should not 
have exposed Mr Cracknell to unnecessary hazard simply for the benefit 
of £300 paid to Mr McCollum’s private members club, the Fortesque 
lodge of the Freemasons in Honiton. At the time in question, he was also 
the Chairman of the Honiton Chamber of Commerce. Yes and there are 
numerous pictures on the Chamber site of Mr McCollum gracing the 
opening of new businesses not as HTC Town Development manager but 
as Chairman of the Chamber. He never added the fact that his 
maintenance was provided by HTC. He was also a member of the 
freemasons benefiting from a pecuniary advantage arising from a 
criminal breach of the 1974 H&S Act.. 

5.9 Mr McCollum was elected as an East Devon District Councillor in May 
2019.  A number of town councillors had expressed concern at this, 
considering there was a conflict of interest between his roles as an 
employee and a councillor. No. There is a requirement on Councils to 
determine if an employment position is a political position. It is in statute 
law. Queries were raised with bodies including the Electoral Commission, 
South West Council and the Monitoring Officer.  All said there was no 
legal or technical reason why he couldn’t undertake both roles. Actually 
that is not so. Southwest Councils went so far as to say that if HTC 
decided it was a political role in the employment then HTC would have 
the right to declare it so. It was decided that since the election had 
happened then it would be best to leave it. 

5.10 The operation of the Honiton market was suspended from 23 March 2020 
under the national coronavirus restrictions. 

5.11 On 11 May, Mr McCollum emailed the Deputy Clerk to ask what the 
Council’s view on re-opening the market was.  The Deputy Clerk replied 
to say that six councillors had responded on the matter and all believed it 
was too soon to re-open the market.  She said that;  

In the first instance they would like you to provide your views on how to 
adhere to social distancing measures and how Axminster are dealing 
with the situation.  The answer is interesting. Axminster is a political 
minefield re EDDC.. Axminster reopened three weeks before HTC. I have 
a video of that market. 

page 117



Final  -  Confidential 

 

5.12 Mr McCollum replied to say that he would be visiting Axminster.  He 
expressed his reservation that, with the Honiton market being laid out 
alongside pavements, it might not be possible to maintain the 2 metre 
social distancing rule.  The reopening of Honiton used exactly the same 
social distancing as applied to the banks for ten weeks previously.He 
said he would look at temporary alternatives in order to get the market 
back as soon as possible (document 1).  An interesting reply. The 
axminster market is accessed via pavements that are only four feet wide. 
And the so-called square is actually a triangle bounded by a heavily used 
bank on a three foot wide pavement.  

5.13 Councillor Wyatt had been developing proposals for the economic 
recovery of the Town after coronavirus.  The Mayor had suggested that 
he worked with Tony McCollum on these. Not so. The Mayor suggested 
that Wyatt was going to put Mr McCollum’s nose out of joint with his 
‘proposals’ made without reference to TM. It was the Mayor who looked 
after the interests of TM in this matter. On 19 May, the two discussed 
what could be done to re-open the market.  On 20 May they walked 
along the High Street and Tony McCollum briefed Councillor Wyatt on 
the normal set up of the market.  Councillor Wyatt began to prepare a 
report for the Council on the matter.  I have never seen any report from 
Wyatt. 

5.14 On Wednesday 27 May, Councillor Wyatt arranged to meet Mr McCollum 
in the High Street the next day, to take measurements regarding social 
distancing requirements.  The meeting was to be at 10.45am.   

5.15 Later on 27 May, Jody Harding, the lead Environmental Health Officer for 
commercial premises at East Devon District Council, emailed Mr 
McCollum.  He enclosed the Government guidance on opening outdoor 
markets.  He also commented that if there was queuing outside shops in 
the High Street, it would be not be possible to achieve 2m distancing at 
the market.  True, but that did not apply to stalls placed outside empty 
shops, a point made by Carl. In fact avoidance of pinch-points is routinely 
made by Carl. He cones off the highway for pedestrians when there is 
scaffolding up whenever possible. I made the point about scaffolding in 
my risk assessment.He strongly recommended that the market be moved 
off the High Street so that 2m distancing could be controlled (document 
2). But there was nowhere else to go. And the Charter applies to the 
street. That point is emphasised in a 1971 document issued by the then 
Ministry of Transport.  

5.16 On the evening of 27 May, Councillor Zarczynski telephoned Councillor 
Wyatt.  He told him that, in his view, the market should be re-opened in 
the High Street.  He asked for the Market Assistant to be included in his 
meeting.  He also telephoned Councillor Taylor and asked him to attend 
but did not notify Councillor Wyatt or Mr McCollum of this.  That is not my 
fault. 

page 118



Final  -  Confidential 

 

5.17 On Thursday 28 May, Mr McCollum waited in the High Street for the 
meeting to start.  Councillor Taylor arrived and waited in the vicinity.  As I 
stated TM was on the phone. I waited well away from him to avoid 
eavesdropping – a polite action. Councillor Wyatt arrived with the Market 
Assistant and a market trader and his wife.   

5.18 There was an exchange between Mr McCollum and Councillor Taylor.  
Mr McCollum left the meeting. No. Mr McCollum left the meeting long 
after the exchange where I said that if he wishe dto leave then he could 
since I cannot instruct staff members. There were some further 
discussions and the meeting fragmented and ended.   

5.19 Later that afternoon, Councillor Wyatt emailed all councillors to update 
them on the re-opening of the market and on the meeting that morning. 
He said that, having spoken to Tony and Carl, there were broadly two 
options.  These were;  

… to hold the market on the street but with significant changes and 
limitations or to hold the market in one central location to allow control.  

He said that the two options were in the process of being written up for 
councillors in order for them to make an informed decision.  The second 
option in fact was three. All were sited by the school. I have photographs 
of the 2 metre distancing painted on the pavements on or before 28 May 
by the school admin. Any hightened traffic load would deliberately 
endanger the students. 

5.20 He set out a timeline for a Council decision on re-opening the market, 
including a report on the matter in the next 2 to 4 days.  He also 
suggested a press release for the Council’s website (document 3).  

5.21 Later that day (or possibly early on Friday 29 May), Councillor Taylor also 
prepared a note of the meeting in the High Street.  He introduced the 
note with; 

This was to be a short description of events of Thursday 28 May relating 
to the opening of the Street Market.  However following Cllr Wyatt’s odd 
submission with few facts I have included some comments but reserve 
others.  That is correct. There were few facts. For instance he never 
considered the safety of the children in all three variants in his second 
option. 

page 119



Final  -  Confidential 

 

5.22 In the note, he made a series of comments about Mr McCollum, on 
matters including; the length of his leave, that is to illustrate my 
experience on the market. TM got married. He took four weeks out and I 
covered for him. being engrossed in phone calls again this was true I do 
not interrupt or eavesdrop., failing to pursue work that is true, there was 
no Risk Assessment for the market. In fact Mrs Hawkins and Mrs Marlow 
were asked to find them. The mayor has emails from Mrs Marlow stating 
there were none, making a dumb proposal it is a dumb proposal. It does 
not state that Mr McCollum was dumb, having a conflict of interests he 
had the £300 etc and his voting as an EDDC councillor He knew of and 
had access to EDDC Officers. I did not.(document 4).   

5.23 Early on Friday 29 May, Councillor Zarczynski circulated Councillor 
Taylor’s note of the meeting to all councillors. 

5.24 During that day, Mr McCollum and Councillor Wyatt finished the 
measurements needed for their report.  

5.25 Also on Friday 29 May, Councillor Taylor started to write a document he 
called Covid Compliance Proposal. Correct. I documented things. I have 
yet to see any proposal from TM. In facvt TM on Friday 29 May emailed 
Cllr Wyatt stating that ‘since HTC would take no notice of anything he 
wrote then would Wyatt do it for him  In Part 1 of this, he incorporated 
much of his note of the meeting on 28 May, including most of the 
comments about Mr McCollum.  See above. Remember always the 
failure of Duty of Care for over a year, criminal breach of the law and 
pecuniary advantage from that. I wil;l publish all this should you not 
retract this draft. 

5.26 In the evening of Friday 29 May, Councillor Wyatt circulated his report on 
market re-opening together with a plan of the High Street.  It set out eight 
options, including opening in the High Street and on various alternative 
sites (document 5). Yes, but no safety aspects and in particular no 
assessment of risk to school mchildren. I will publish that as well. 

5.27 On Saturday 30 May, Councillor Zarczynski emailed all councillors on the 
subject of Councillor Wyatt’s report.  He stated his view that the market 
should be re-opened in the High Street without undue delay and referred 
to the proposals of the Market Assistant and Councillor Taylor’s ‘very 
comprehensive report’.  He said he had not called for a vote – it would 
ultimately be for Council to vote ‘as per informative hard copy 
information/evidence’ (document 6).   

page 120



Final  -  Confidential 

 

5.28 On Sunday 31 May, Councillor Taylor wrote Part 2 of his Covid 
Compliance Proposal.  This gave details of site measurements and 
proposed signage.  Yes, something Cllr Wyatt had not done. He 
combined Parts 1 and 2 to form his completed Covid Compliance 
Proposal.  It is this document that was subsequently circulated internally 
and externally and which is the subject of the three complaints 
(document 7).  The external circulation is interesting. It would be 
speculation as to who leaked the documents within anhour to Mr 
Burgess. He emailed to say that he thought some wording was poor. By 
then I ahd already observed the same. That is the point of a draft. He 
sent the Proposal to Councillor Zarczynski.  

5.29 The comments in the Covid Compliance Proposal The title gives it away. 
I did not have nor could find any Risk Assessment for Carl’s working area 
etc. That is because they did not exist.TM put Carl on the High Street for 
over a year in clothing that breached the 2013 high-vis regulations for 
example. that are of concern to the complainants are: 

no effort has been made by either Mr McCullum or Cllr Wyatt to consider 
measurements. A factual observation. Painful but fact 

I often (until 2017) stood in for Mr McCullum and located the Traders to 
their Pitches etc whilst Mr McCullum was on holiday, once for 4 weeks. 
Fact, TM got married. There was no market assistant. I stood in for 
statutory holidays taken by TM 

I took payments for pitches, hire of equipment that I erected (no longer 
available since Mr McCullum sold the equipment). Facts. Yet there was 
room behind the toilets for the equipment. I did not know that when the 
sale was proposed by TM. In fact Mr Darsley I have given you 
photographs of one of the stalls retained by TM. I will publish all those 
photographs in my defence should you not withdraw this draft etc. It is 
my right to defend myself. 

Mr McCullum was there but was engrossed in consecutive phone calls. 
Fact. And I do not eavesdrop. I must admit I would probably not have 
approached TM since there were no witnesses and in view of his wife’s 
constant trolling of me, as the trolling of me by Mr Burgess on his Honiton 
Forum site. 

page 121



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Cllr Wyatt has not dealt with facts at all save cursory non-critical 
reference to three pages of documents provided but not authored by Mr 
McCullum. Correct, the documentation I was given was from Mr Harding. 
I keep coming back to the same points. Mr Harding could advise and 
indeed I took on board much of his advice. But some of his advice was 
from my experience as a large Hospital and medical school biological 
safety officer wrong. The shared soapy water with no rinsing water for 
example could lead to dermatological reaction eczema which would have 
been persistent, or fungal infection., 

that accords with the failure of Mr McCullum to pursue any of the above 
described work, where are the risk assessments for Carl etc demanded 
by Mr Harding in his email of June 2 and sent to TM who forwarded it to 
the Mayor. In any action or recommendationthat impacts negatively on 
me I will argue that TM probably reflected on that email subsequently on 
June 2 and that the next morning following subconscious thought whilst 
asleep caused TM to go off sick on the Wednesday June 3. 

Mr McCullum and Cllr Wyatt mentioned the Cattle Market.  … it is 
astounding that such a dumb proposal has been made. A dumb proposal 
is not calling anyone dumb. I have given some examples of illnesses that 
could arise. Children play on the ground. The market has lots of 
customers with little children.  

I assume that Mr McCullum made EH aware that he is Chairman of the 
Honiton Chamber of Commerce and as such is severely conflicted in that 
he would of necessity pursue the interests of his sponsoring businesses 
which include several of the closed (for two weeks) shops. That is a fact. 
Otherwise why was TM in the Chamber? He has no business. 

Mr McCullum acting as EDDC Councillor voted for increases in the car 
park charges prior to the lockdown Correct. This provces the need for 
income to EDDC from one of the options put forward by TM 

Mr McCullum has not bothered to approach the schools. I did and I was 
told that there had been no approach from HTC, i.e. TM 

it would be useful for HTC to require of its employee Mr McCullum copies 
of the correspondence to EH and when he first contacted them. Correct. I 
needed to address the issues raised by Mr Harding. If I did not know 
what was written I could not address Mr Hardings opinions. 

It is also obvious that the blatant discrimination between the rights of the 
Market Traders and the currently open businesses has almost certainly 
not been put to EH.  Yes it is discrimination to apply the social distancing 
rules to market traders outside closed shops and noty to have applied 
those to the buildings that had traded throughout lockdown. That was the 
point made by Carl. 

page 122



Final  -  Confidential 

 

5.30 At 8.51am on Monday 1 June, Councillor Zarczynski sent the Covid 
Compliance Proposal again note the name. There was noRisk 
Assessment as required by law.to all councillors.  By 9am, councillors 
had voted by email to re-open the market on Tuesday 2 June.  Councillor 
Zarczynski sent the Covid Compliance Proposal to Mr Harding during the 
morning.   

5.31 During the day, Mr McCollum tried to contact Mr Harding to obtain his 
response to the Covid Compliance Proposal.  He was not able to do so 
and, by 4pm, had written to councillors saying he could not open the 
market the next day.  He said he would put things in place to open the 
market on Saturday 6 June.  Fine. HTC voted to open the market. It 
would nor could open without several things happening, for example 
making queuing poles for binding barrier tape to thus creating queuing 
areas. Such things are still outside Specsavers when they are open. 
Indeed the Mayor and I got the design from that covid compliance 
illustrated by Specsavers. 

5.32 At some stage in the day, Mr Harding wrote formally to Tony McCollum 
acknowledging receipt of the Covid Compliance Proposal.  He requested 
a suitable and sufficient risk assessment for the re-opening of the market. 

5.33 Mr Harding again wrote formally on Tuesday 2 June to Councillor 
Zarczynski.  He said that the documents sent to him had not been an 
assessment of risk and had not detailed the controls to be put in place to 
prevent the spread of coronavirus.  He stated that the Town Council must 
provide suitable and sufficient risk assessments for coronavirus security 
at the Honiton Market. This is not a complete description. Further to the 
email from Cllr Zarczynski on the 1 June 2020 under the above laws I am 
requiring Honiton Town Council to provide all Mr Darsley this is the 
authors bold. In other words Mr McCollum was asked for the risk 
assessment for Carl, for the people etc the day before He went off ill. of 
the risk assessments for the Honiton Market including risk assessments 
on Coronavirus security.  I repeat, the word in bold (all) was in bold in 
that letter. There were none. TM went off sick the next day. The preeure 
of being unable to satisfy that requirement of Mr Harding probably 
pushed TM over the edge? 

5.34 At 9.30 on Thursday 4 June, Councillor Zarczynski sent Mr Harding the 
Covid Compliance Proposal, another document written by Councillor 
Taylor and a spreadsheet identifying risks and mitigating actions.  He 
informed Mr Harding that Mr McCollum had self-certified as sick and 
asked for all correspondence to be directed to him.  Perfectly reasonable 
and fact. In fact several Cllrs had put there oar in to emphasise TM’s role. 
A poor consideration for his health was a comment from Cllr Kolek sent 
June 1 at 12.27 to the Mayor “He has the pay grade to go with the 
responsibility”. 

page 123



Final  -  Confidential 

 

5.35 Later that day, Councillor Zarczynski and Councillor Taylor visited the 
Axminster market to see its operation.  Fact. I was appalled. That is why 
the Mayor and I drove to Exeter to get a pact of square down pipe, cut 
into lengths, fix those lengths to wooden bases, fill them with some sand 
and use them as queuing poles with barrier tape obtained from a builders 
merchants. Note ths Carl had never been given barrier tape.  

5.36 On Friday 5 June, Councillor Taylor wrote a letter to Mr Harding giving 
further details of the proposed arrangements for re-opening the market 
(document 8).  In it, he said;  

Your friend and EDDC Councillor Mr McCullum keeps the lists. He has 
not provided any because he has not done any preparation for reopening 
as allowed by law.  Fortunately we have a Market Assistant who does all 
the work…  TM intimated at the only meeting and conversation I have 
had with him inthree years (In the street with all the others) that he was 
friendly with Mr Harding. I presumed that it was from interaction as EDDC 
Cllr. If that is not so then I stand corrected for a wrong impression gained 
in conversation. 

5.37 At 1pm, Councillor Zarczynski emailed all councillors, attaching five 
documents, including the Covid Compliance Proposal and Councillor 
Taylor’s letter to Mr Harding.  He proposed that the market be re-opened 
from Saturday 6 June and asked for votes emailed by no later than 
3.30pm (document 9).   

5.38 At 3.29, Councillor Zarczynski circulated the result of the vote, which was 
8:2 in favour of re-opening. 

5.39 The market re-opened on Saturday 6 June. 

5.40 Mr McCollum was signed off as sick by his doctor from 8 June. Mr 
McCollum self certificated in the afternoon of 3 June. I know so since he 
was seen in the morning standing outside Costa coffee. In discussion 
with a member of the public TM said that he was looking at the possibility 
of the Gate to Plate event. I know this because the lady approached me 
to ask if the event was going ahead. I did not at that time have any data 
on that and said so. Unfortunately TM had several days to contemplate 
Mr Harding’s demand for ALL the risk assessments for the market. That 
would have made him ill? 

5.41 A chronology of the relevant events is given below.  I am not going to 
comment. I have made the points already. If the comments by Mr Darsley 
are restrictive, for example ignoring the ALL demand by Mr Harding then 
I will correct for that in any public arena. In fact if this matter is 
progressed then I will seek to get all the viewpoints and evidence as 
above published inclusive of photos, £300 in context etc. It is my right. 
Moreover prime duties of a CLLR. Transparency and value for money. 

page 124



Final  -  Confidential 

 

 Disputed facts 

5.42 Whilst most of the events of relevance to the complaints are a matter of 
record, there are two matters where there are differences of 
understanding and differences in accounts.   

Mr McCollum was told to prepare a report on re-opening the market 

5.43 I found that Councillor Zarczynski and Councillor Taylor were firmly of the 
view that Mr McCollum had been instructed to prepare a report on the re-
opening of the market.  There seems to have been the expectation that 
this would include detailed assessments and arrangements for operating 
the market in the High Street.  At the meeting in the High Street, 
Councillor Taylor stated that the report should have been completed 
weeks ago, which would mean before 14 May. I got that from the Mayor. 
He asked me several questions about the operation of the market since, 
as I say I had experience of covering for the statutory holidays of TM and 
even of erecting the stalls when HTC had them. 

5.44 The subject of re-opening of the market had first been raised by Mr 
McCollum in his email to the Deputy Clerk on 11 May.  She had advised 
him that councillors had said it was too soon to do so and that; They 
would like you to provide your views on how to adhere to social 
distancing measures.  There was no instruction for a particular report by 
a certain date.  Poor communications then? And I was not a Principal. So 
why blame me or colour my alleged behaviour? 

5.45 Mr McCollum commented to the Deputy Clerk by return that, because of 
the layout of the market alongside pavements, he thought that 2m 
distancing would not be possible and that he would be investigating 
temporary alternative sites.  He had not thought of Carl’s ‘closed shop 
fronts argument’. That is a lack of inclusion of others in a topic. 

page 125



Final  -  Confidential 

 

5.46 On Monday 25 May, Mr McCollum wrote to councillors to say that he had 
been working with Councillor Wyatt to consider how the market could be 
safely operated on the High Street. Cllr Wyat has had no experience of 
the market. What this statement shows is that TM avoided me as I did 
him. Perhaps for the same reason – the trolling of me on social media by 
his wife? He was also investigating alternative temporary sites.  He 
confirmed that he had not been not been asked to carry out a risk 
assessment as referred to by Councillor Zarczynski. A Risk Assessment 
should already have existed. An appraisal of how HMG’s COVID laws 
impacted on that was what was needed. Here we come back to the fact 
that TM had not done the work required of the line manager of Carl 
Cracknell. I refer you again to the pictures. I refer you again to the fact 
that I have paid for PPE for Carl. On 26 May, the Deputy Clerk advised 
Councillor Zarczynski that it wasn’t clear that councillors wanted a written 
report and risk assessment. It was obvious that an already existing Risk 
Assessment would have been a start? 

5.47 It seems that Councillor Zarczynski, in particular, misunderstood what Mr 
McCollum had been asked to do, and was doing, regarding the market.  
Councillor Taylor said that he understood Mr McCollum was preparing a 
report and it is likely that he derived this view from Councillor Zarczynski.  

5.48 In fact, Councillor Wyatt notified all councillors on 28 May that, working 
with Mr McCollum, he was preparing a report which would be available 
very shortly.  The report, together with a plan of measurements, was 
delivered to councillors the next day.  The report was written in the 
ignorance of Cllr Wyatt of TM’s failure to observe the requirements of the 
1974 Act and the 2013 High-vis requirements for persons working in and 
around traffic especially on cold rainy days. Councillor Zarczynski did not 
arrange for councillors to consider or vote on the report and no action 
was taken on it. I don’t know why so why blame me?  

5.49 Regarding Mr McCollum’s work on re-opening the market, I find that; 

 He was not instructed in mid May to produce a particular report or
a risk assessment, and was not given any timescale for such
work.  Why then blame me?

 He had provided his views, as requested, and had told councillors
he was working with Councillor Wyatt on how to safely operate the
market in the High street.  He did not admit to failing to comply
with the law in the context of for example Carl Cracknell.

 Councillor Wyatt delivered a report on 29 May on re-opening the
market, giving a range of options.  Councillor Zarczynski did not
arrange for council to consider the report and the Council took no
action on it.  Probably because the Mayor knew of the
schoolchildren problem? He has given prizes etc there. Why
blame me?

page 126



Final  -  Confidential 

 

The meeting in the High Street 

5.50 Mr McCollum told me that Councillor Taylor had said that he had been 
told to do a risk assessment and a viability report.  Councillor Taylor had 
said he should have done this weeks ago.  By this stage he was shouting 
and everyone else could see this.  That is not in accord with the other 
people. I always stood well away from TM so had to compete with traffic 
noise. A raised voice is necessary for a group discussion in the High 
Street under social distancing rules that still in part apply. His body cam 
was on. Where is the footage? It was for precisely this reason that he 
had requested it. 

5.51 Councillor Taylor told me he had said that the exercise was to have been 
considered some weeks ago.  He understood that the Deputy Clerk had 
instructed Mr McCollum to do that.  He said he hadn’t shouted.  He had 
only raised his voice to be heard over the traffic.   

5.52 Councillor Wyatt told me that Councillor Taylor was always relatively 
abrasive.  Relatively abrasive – a value judgement – I acknowledge facts 
not paper over them – I suppose that makes for ‘relatively’ abrasive when 
compared with those who sometimes overlook facts.He confirmed that 
Councillor Taylor told Tony McCollum that he should have done this 
weeks ago.  He did not describe Councillor Taylor as shouting.   

5.53 Peter Allen, the market trader who had been present, thought that 
Councillor Taylor had said something like; it should have been done 
weeks ago.  But since Tony was the Market manager, it was obviously 
directed at him.  He said that Councillor Taylor’s voice had been slightly 
raised but he hadn’t shouted.  It hadn’t attracted public attention.   

5.54 Regarding the meeting in the High Street, I find that; 

 Councillor Taylor said something like, this should have been done
weeks ago, and this was directed at Mr McCollum.  That is a
presumption. The statement is an opinion and it was consistent
with HMG provisional suggestions that were in debate in the
political arena. I will fight this one if this matter progresses with
examples of HMG putting out preliminary advice.

 Councillor Taylor’s voice was raised but he hadn’t shouted.

page 127



Final  -  Confidential 

 

Allegations by Councillor Taylor 

5.55 At interview, Councillor Taylor raised the matter of the Town Council 
making payments to the local Masonic Lodge for the storage of 
equipment related to the market.  That is correct. It is in the minutes of 
HTC. He subsequently expanded on this to me and raised other matters 
about the provision of Health and Safety equipment for the Market 
Assistant I subsequently provided the photos etc. and the activities of a 
group called Honiton Forward Chaired by Ex Cllr Sheridan Shaw, 
ultimate line manager to Carl Cracknell mand who persuaded Carl 
towithdraw his resignation and who along with Mr Tredwin and TM made 
promises concerning PPE etc that have never been fulfilled..  

5.56 My remit is to investigate the complaints made about Councillor Taylor 
and these other matters are outside of this scope. Hardly they impact on 
the Health and Safety provision in the market. If that is outside the scope 
of your remit then you should have gone back to Mr Gordon Lennox and 
discussed it. I will use all of my data in any progression of this matter. I 
have already written to Mr Mark Williams concerning that and copied it to 
Mr Gordon Lennox. Please note that is not intended as a threat. It is a 
defence procedure that is open to me.  

5.57 Councillor Taylor believes that his understanding of these matters 
justifies some of his comments in the Covid Compliance documents.  My 
view is that if he has such concerns, there are proper channels available 
through which they can be raised and dealt with.  A technical appraisal of 
re-opening the market is not an appropriate channel.  There was no 
appropriate channel. The matter was urgent. I cannot approach officers 
of EDDC. I have to ask my officers. Time was of the essence. In fact I 
went via an EDDC Cllr in part. The technical appraisal was in confidence 
to HTC Cllrs. It was leaked to Mr Burgess within minutes. And a technical 
appraisal is built on facts. The Technical appraisal is therefore what you 
are considering and you are denying me the right to use those facts in 
my defence. That is why I nhave written to Mr Williams. You claim your 
remit does not allow this. The remit needs to be widened in my view. And 
I will widen it if this matter progresse in any way. To put it bluntly at 
present a disinterested observer (a technical term used in Cllr Guidance 
for a member of the public) may consider there is an attempt to hide the 
failure to observe the 1974 statute, and all the derivative/associated 
arguments simply to protect EDDC. Obviously I am not masking that 
suggestion, but would a disinterested observer? 

page 128



Final  -  Confidential 

 

6. Reasoning as to whether there has been a failure to
comply with the Code of Conduct

a. On the basis of the findings of fact above, I have assessed Councillor
Taylor’s conduct in relation to the requirements of the Council’s Code of
Conduct.  This whole section is not relevant if the remit is in question. I
sent you in good time all the pictures etc. I sent you in good time the
information that I have to be aware of the H&S aspects of Carl’s
employment and I am aware of the workload currently imposed on the
Deputy Clerk. I have written to Mr Williams to describe my defence
should the draft report not be withdrawn and the proper remit given. It is
not Mr Gordon Lennox’s fault. He was operating on three complaints that
in at least two cases were ignorant of the H&S data. Bit I refer you to an
email from Mrs Hawkins when she read a confidential email between
Cllrs, that quoted Cllr Carrigan. Mrs Hawkins used aggressive language
to describe my attempts to mitigate the risk to HTC incurred by the
treatment of Carl Cracknell. I will use all of these data sreams since they
inform my actions. If you cannot access them because of your remit then
I suggest that explains the last time we were in this position. I quote Mr
Gordon Lennox: If we had known then what we know now then there
would not have been a Standards Hearing. What is offensive about your
draft is that it has been sent ot three individuals, two of whom have
extensive track records of using social media to troll me whilst the wife of
the third fallsinto that trolling category. And that draft is in the possession
of the Chamber of Commerce (TM is its honorary President, Honiton
Forward and indeed Nub News. I will progress this point with Mr Williams
at some point but I would be grateful if you wnet back to your
commissioning agent and discussed your remit given the fact that you
would seem to be obliged to copy any further opinion to the
Complainants with consequent publication as above.

I will not comment directly on the witness statements. As I say I cannot see how 
you could have chosen not to include Carl Cracknell as a witness to events. 
Most odd. I stop now. I have plenty of time but it seems pointless given the 
remit problem. 

6.2 The relevant paragraphs of the Code require councillors to treat others 
with courtesy and respect and not to bully any person.  The test for these 
requirements is how a reasonable person in possession of the facts 
would regard the conduct in question.   

page 129



 

 

 

East Devon – an outstanding place   Chief Executive: Mark R Williams   Deputy Chief Executive: Richard Cohen  

Blackdown House, Border Road, 

Heathpark Industrial Estate 

Honiton, EX14 1EJ 

 

Email: csc@eastdevon.gov.uk 

eastdevon.gov.uk 

@eastdevon 

 

Download the free East Devon App  

to access council services at 

eastdevon.gov.uk/app 

Date: 9th December 2020 

Direct phone: 01395 517408 

Direct email: monitoringofficer@eastdevon.gov.uk 

Our ref: MO/HGL/2020-C10, C11, C19 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
Private and Confidential 
You MUST NOT show this letter to ANYONE ELSE 
 
Dear Cllr Taylor  

 
Complaint Refs:  MO/HGL/2020-C10, C11, C19  
Subject Member:  Councillor John Taylor  
 

I refer to the above mentioned complaints which have been made against you by Mr John 

Burgess, Ms Sonia Hawkins and Mr Tony McCollum respectively. Given that the issues raised 

by the three complainants are substantially the same, I have combined the complaints and dealt 

with them as one. These complaints have been subject to independent investigation by Mr Tim 

Darsley. You had sight of Mr Darsley’s report, had the opportunity to comment on it and were 

provided with a final copy having done so. I enclose a copy of the final report for ease. In 

addition I am aware that you sent some text messages and photographs to Mr Darsley, copies 

of which have been provided to me under cover of a letter dated 3rd December. I also have a 

letter from you (erroneously) dated 11th September. The letters of 11th September (sic) and 3rd 

December raise a number of different points and where they don’t immediately relate to the 

specifics of these complaints they have been responded to separately. However, so far as 

relevant I have had regard to the content in coming to the decision below.  

The nature of the complaints and the relevant paragraphs of the Code of Conduct are detailed in 

the Investigator’s report and so I don’t need to repeat them here. I note there are a couple of 

minor errors in the report – for example paragraph 6.17 mentions ‘eight options’ when in fact there 

were only six, probably this occurred because Option 6 was at bullet point 8 – none of which  

materially affect the reasoning and views expressed.  

 
 
 
Cllr John Taylor 
3 St John Close 
Honiton 
EX14 1PN  
 
 
 
 

page 130

mailto:csc@eastdevon.gov.uk


 

 

Having carefully considered the Independent Investigator’s report and all related documentation 

at some length, I adopt the reasoning and the findings reached by him. It therefore follows that 

the Summary of Findings contained in Section 7 are now my conclusions in relation to the 

allegations. In summary your conduct has been disrespectful and bullying towards Mr McCollum 

in breach of paragraphs 4(a) and 5(c) of Honiton Town Council’s Code of Conduct. 

I think it important to address the points you have expressed in relation to general health & 

safety concerns (your comments on the report, text messages / photos and subsequent 

correspondence) and the fact that the Market Assistant, Carl Cracknell, was not interviewed.   

It is my view that the documentation that led to the complaint (Investigation Report Documents 7 

& 8) were prepared / sent in relation to the specific purpose of ensuring that the market could re-

open safely in the context of COVID. It was not in the context of raising general health and safety 

concerns about operational matters within Honiton Town Council. This is patently clear when one 

reads the first sentence of the COVID Compliance Proposal document particularly, but actually 

the whole document and associated correspondence. While there was a passing remark in your 

interview to the safety of the Market Assistant, the COVID Compliance Proposal documentation 

and the specific purpose of the meeting of the 28th May and related actions were all around 

ensuring that the market was capable of being re-opened safely from everyone’s perspective – 

not just the Market Assistant’s – in accordance with relevant guidance. Following your interview 

with Mr Darsley, you made contact with him and sent text messages and photos purportedly in 

relation to the wider health and safety issues relating to the Market Assistant and previous actions 

of Mr McCollum and / or Honiton Town Council. This then manifests itself in your comments on 

the draft report and subsequently in your correspondence of (sic) 11th September and 3rd 

December.  

I do not consider that the concerns over pre-existing health and safety matters are of relevance 

to the issues raised in the complaint for the reason given above – essentially this was about 

securing everyone’s safety. In any event, I am not convinced that you had those concerns in mind 

when writing your document / correspondence - certainly the documentation seems 

conspicuously quiet about such issues had you been so concerned about it. Rather I think you 

saw it as an opportunity to be critical of what you perceive to be wrong doings by Mr McCollum 

as opposed to genuine concerns over Mr Cracknell’s safety. Moreover, and assuming you had it 

in mind, there were alternative more appropriate avenues available to you to seek to address 

concerns over the Town Council’s responsibility (for that is whose responsibility it is) to the Market 

Assistant rather than through veiled comments in the COVID Compliance Proposal.  

In any event, some of the comments you make which go to the finding of breach bear no relation 

to the issue of the safety of the Market Assistant.  

Given the above I am happy that it wasn’t necessary for Mr Darsley to interview the Market 

Assistant. I would accept that it might have been useful to have interviewed him to obtain his 

views in relation to the meeting of 28th May in the High Street, however Mr Darsley has concluded 

page 131



 

 

in line with your account rather than Mr McCollum’s. I note that Mr Allen, one of the market traders 

was interviewed at your request.  

I am mindful that the outcome from the East Devon District Council Standards Hearing Sub-

Committee in relation to the complaint made by the former Clerk resulted in an outcome of 

censure and recommended training to be organised by me. That training has not happened, I 

assume because having had their decision quashed in the High Court, Honiton Town Council 

have simply not revisited the issue. However the sanctions imposed by East Devon were lawful, 

as Mr Justice Edis makes clear in the Judgment, and remain valid. The breaches that have 

occurred here and your correspondence of 11th September (sic) and 3rd December (in conjunction 

with the paperwork for the related matter) demonstrate to me that you do not fully understand the 

Code of Conduct and its application.  

It is therefore my view that the following is appropriate in terms of sanction for the breaches which 

have been found;  

1. Censure  

2. A personal apology to Mr McCollum in writing 

3. Training in relation to the Code of Conduct and more specifically bullying 

Normally where a breach has been found following an investigation it remains open to me to seek 

to resolve this without it progressing further. For this to happen you will have to accept the above 

outcome and sanctions. I am happy to work with you in terms of a form of apology that would be 

considered acceptable to give to Mr McCollum and also to ensure appropriate training is given or 

undertaken. Naturally if you don’t accept the outcome and wish to dispute the conclusions and 

progress this to the next stage then this will necessitate a public hearing in front of the Standards 

Hearing Sub Committee. 

In conclusion, there are breaches of paragraphs 4(a) and 5(c) of the Code of Conduct which in 

my view should be subject to the sanctions detailed above.  

I have consulted with the Independent Person who is in agreement with my views and 

conclusions on the matter.  

Please can you confirm that you are willing to accept the findings and sanctions in this matter by 

23rd December 2021, after which date I will assume you do not and that you want to progress the 

matter to a Standards Hearing Sub Committee. Should you be agreeable to resolving the matter 

then I will work with you to facilitate this.  

Please be aware that any written request for information made to the Authority about this matter 

will have to be dealt with in accordance with the requirements of the law. This includes any 

obligations imposed on the Authority under the Data Protection Act 1998, the Freedom of 

Information Act 2000 and the Human Rights Act 1998.  

page 132



 

 

I am of course happy to discuss the matter with you and if you would like to do so or if you have 

any queries about the process please contact me or Anita Williams (Deputy Monitoring Officer).  

Yours sincerely 

 

Henry Gordon Lennox 

Monitoring Officer 

 

 
Footnote: 
Terms of reference 

The Standards regime as set out in the Localism Act 2011 - the detailed procedural 

arrangements having been agreed by East Devon District Council.  

 

Additional Help 

If you need additional support in relation to this or future contact with us, please let us know as 

soon as possible. If you have difficulty reading this letter we can make reasonable adjustments 

to help you. 

 
 

page 133



 

Standards Hearings Sub Committee Hearings Procedure 
 
 

(a) General Principles 
 

1. The Standards Sub Committee is a formal committee meeting of the 
Council. However it does act in a quasi judicial manner in that it is obliged 
to objectively determine facts and draw conclusions from them so as to 
provide the basis, where justified, for official action, which may affect the 
legal rights, duties or privileges of the Councillor whose actions led to the 
investigation (“the Subject Member”).  
 

2. Notwithstanding this, the Sub Committee is not a court of law and therefore 
the general principle (which is subject to the proviso in paragraph 9 below) 
is that the Sub Committee will only hear representations directly from the 
relevant parties as further detailed in Section (c) below.  While both the 
Subject Member and Complainant may have persons attending in support 
/ representation, formal cross-examination of anyone making 
representations will not be permitted, any questions from the parties shall 
be directed through the Chairman of the Sub Committee. The Chairman 
may, at his absolute discretion, permit oral representations from other 
persons if it is considered necessary and appropriate to do so. 

 
3. The Sub Committee will comprise a Chairman and two other voting 

members. It will also comprise two non-voting Members being one of the 
Independent Members and one of the Parish Council Members. The 
Committee will be advised by a Legal Officer and supported by a 
Democratic Services Officer (“the clerk”). The Monitoring Officer (or 
Deputy) and Investigator will also be in attendance. One of the Independent 
Persons may be in attendance but it is not essential that they are present 
for the Sub Committee to proceed.  
 

(b) Prior to the Hearing 
 
4. In advance of the Hearing the Monitoring Officer (or his Deputy) will write 

to the Subject Member and ask them to respond indicating the areas of the 
Investigator’s report which they disagree with and to detail other information 
that they think is relevant to the Sub Committee’s deliberations on the 
matter (“the Subject Member’s Response”). This will enable the Sub 
Committee to focus on the relevant areas when the Hearing is held. 
 

5. Both the Subject Member and Complainant may provide supporting written 
statements (either their own or from others) to be provided to the Sub 
Committee, although there is no obligation on either of the Subject Member 
or Complainant to provide their own representations in written form, if they 
are intending to make oral representations at the Hearing. 

 
6. The Monitoring Officer (or his Deputy), having received all the relevant 

paperwork, will prepare the Hearing Papers which will be presented to the 
Sub Committee as part of a formal agenda with a covering committee 
report. The Hearing Papers comprise a Pre-Hearing Summary Report 

page 134



(providing detail in respect of the allegation including a summary of the 
allegation and events and also highlighting the areas of disagreement with 
the Investigator’s report), the Investigator’s report, the Subject Member’s 
Response, any written statements provided by the parties and a copy of the 
Hearing’s procedure.   

 
7. The presumption will be that the hearing will normally be held in public 

unless the Sub Committee exercises its discretion to exclude the public 
from all or part of the hearing in accordance with the Local Government Act 
1972. Accordingly once the Hearing Papers have been compiled they will 
be provided to the Subject Member and Complainant who will have the 
opportunity to request that the Hearing be held in private. If no such request 
is made, then the agenda, including the Hearing Papers, will be published 
and made available in the normal way. If such a request is made, then the 
Sub Committee will hear representations on the day of the Hearing and 
then determine whether the matter should be held in public or private. 
Where such a request is made the formal agenda will be published in the 
normal way but without the committee report / Hearing Papers available to 
the public. In the event the Sub Committee determine that the meeting 
should be held in public then the Chairman will explain that the committee 
report / Hearing Papers will be published online after the Hearing has taken 
place.   
 

(c) Formalities at the Hearing  
 
8. The Chairman of the Sub Committee will introduce the members of the Sub 

Committee, the officers supporting them, the Subject Member, the 
Complainant, the Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) the Investigator and 
Independent Member (if present).  

 
9. The Chairman will explain the reason for the meeting and outline the 

procedure to be followed. The Chairman may choose to vary this procedure 
in any particular instance where s/he is of the opinion that such a variation 
is necessary in the interests of fairness. 

 
10. The Chairman will then confirm that all those involved understand the 

procedure to be followed and ask if there are any preliminary procedural 
issues which anyone wishes to raise before the Hearing begins. Should 
either the Complainant or Subject Member have sought to have the meeting 
held in private, the Sub Committee will consider that at this stage.  

 
11. If any procedural issues are raised, including whether the Hearing should 

be held in private, the Sub Committee will hear representations on them, 
before determining them. 

 
12. If the Subject Member is not present at the start of the meeting, the Sub 

Committee will consider any reasons given by them for his/her non-
attendance. If the Sub Committee is satisfied that there is good reason for 
their non-attendance, it may adjourn to another date, or proceed if it has 
been requested to do so by the Subject Member. 

 

page 135



13. If the Sub Committee is not satisfied that there is good reason for the 
Subject Member’s non-attendance, or if the Subject Member failed to give 
any reason for his/her non-attendance, the Committee can decide: 

 

 whether to consider the matter and make a determination in the absence 
of the Subject Member, or 

 agree to adjourn the Hearing to another date. 
 
(d) The Hearing 
 
14. The Committee will identify the areas of disagreement between the 

Investigator and the Subject Member on the Investigation report’s facts or 
conclusions.  

 
15. The Investigator will be invited to make representations in support of his/her 

report and on anything contained in the Subject Member’s Response. The 
Subject Member shall have the chance to ask questions of the Investigator. 
The Sub Committee and the Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) will have the 
opportunity to ask questions of the Investigator. 

 
16. The Subject Member will then be invited to make representations in support 

of the fact(s) concerned and whether the evidence gives rise to a breach or 
breaches of the Code of Conduct. The Investigator shall have the chance 
to ask questions of the Subject Member. The Sub Committee and the 
Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) will have the opportunity to ask questions of 
the Subject Member. 

 
17. The Complainant will then be invited to comment on representations made 

by the Investigator and Subject Member. 
 
18. The Sub Committee has the discretion to question or permit questions of 

any of the parties at any point, as it sees fit. The Sub Committee shall seek 
the views of the Independent Person before reaching any conclusion, 
although this shall not prevent the Sub Committee from continuing with the 
Hearing if the Independent Person is not in attendance.  

 
19. The Sub Committee will consider what it has heard in private accompanied 

only by its Clerk. The Sub Committee may ask the Legal Officer to advise 
them when required. 

 
20. The Chairman will then announce to all present at the Hearing the Sub 

Committee’s decision as to whether or not the Subject Member has failed 
to comply with the Code of Conduct, whilst setting out the facts upon which 
the conclusions have been reached. 

 
21. If the Sub Committee decides that the Subject Member has not failed to 

follow the Code of Conduct, the Committee will then consider whether it 
should make any recommendations to the Council. 

 
(e) Sanction 
 

page 136



22. If the Sub Committee decides that the Subject Member has failed to comply 
with the Code of Conduct, it will consider any verbal or written 
representations from the Investigator, the Monitoring Officer and the 
Subject Member as to: 

 
a. whether or not the Sub Committee should impose a sanction and/or 

recommend to Council that a sanction be imposed; and 
b. what form of sanction(s) is/are appropriate. 
c. Any mitigation the Subject Member wishes the Sub Committee to take into 

account 
 
23. The Sub Committee will consider in private, accompanied only by its Clerk 

[and legal advisor if required] whether or not to impose/recommend the 
imposition of a sanction on the Subject Member and, if so, what form. 

 
24. The Sub Committee will also consider whether or not it should make any 

recommendations with a view to promoting high standards of conduct 
among members of the relevant authority. 

 
(d)  Issue of decision 
 
25. In announcing its decision in public at the conclusion of the hearing the Sub 

Committee will also provide a short written decision. 
 

26. The Sub Committee will issue a full written decision including reasons 
within two weeks of the hearing. 

page 137



page 138



page 139



page 140



page 141



page 142



page 143



page 144



page 145



page 146



page 147



page 148



page 149



page 150



page 151



page 152



page 153



page 154



page 155



page 156



page 157



page 158



page 159



page 160



page 161



page 162



page 163



page 164



page 165



page 166



page 167



page 168



page 169



page 170



page 171



page 172



page 173



page 174



page 175



page 176



page 177



page 178



page 179



page 180



page 181



page 182



page 183



page 184



page 185



page 186



page 187



page 188



page 189



page 190



page 191



page 192



page 193



page 194



page 195



page 196



page 197



page 198



page 199



page 200



page 201



page 202



page 203



page 204



page 205



page 206



page 207



page 208



page 209



page 210



page 211



page 212



page 213



page 214



TEXT MESSAGES SENT TO TIM DARSLEY BY CLLR JOHN TAYLOR 

COMPLAINTS C10, C11 & C19 

 

I have just got legal opinion. It is not bullying to enforce health and safety legislation and to expose a 

recalcitrant employee to members of a body corporate which has the duty to observe those laws. 

Isn't the picture of Carl good? 

Carl, the lock up area behind the lace walk loos has been viewed by Phil Twiss and he is going to ask 

if HTC can use it for the cones etc.  

 

 

 

This initiative has come about since the Mayor and others have been made aware of your concerns 

over the dangerous underfoot conditions at the Masonic Hall that pertain in wet weather in particular. 

Please accept my apologies for the failure of individuals to respond and to remove the risk. 

Tomorrow, Saturday, 13 June 2020 I will come with you to where the cones are stored and will take 

photographs. This is essential given the heavy rain that we have had today. 

 

 

 

If we get permission to store behind the loos then HTC would probably assume responsibility for 

keeping the area clean. This would need extra work and I recognise that would need to be paid for. 

 

 

 

I remind you that I have only spoken to Mr McCollum once in three years and that was at the group 

meeting to determine the risk assessments for the Market. I believe that Mr McCollum realised that 

when I assessed the risk then I would come across all of the above. I was appalled especially the 

involvement of the entire line management.  

 

 

 

Thank you for your permission to send. 

Oops, I forgot to remind you that Cllr McCollum recommended that HTC pay his Masonic lodge 

£300 p.a. for storing the cones and that that was put to and passed on the basis of Presumption of 

Regularity in Nov/Dec 2019. Oops 

 

 

 

Mr Darsley, this picture of the storage behind the Lace Walk toilets was taken 4 July. It obviously is 

super organised. I did not take earlier pictures of this area. Earlier pics are of the white painted area in 

the background. 

page 215



 

Mr Darsley, this pic and the next three were taken 21 June. They show the state of the area at the 
end of the last picture. Note the old tree trunk, established weeds, and the iron frame of the only 
market canopy owned and therefore stored by HTC and thus Mr McCollum since 2012? 

  

  
 
                                                                               

Mr Darsley this and the next two pics show Carl after we cleaned the area (a Sunday) and illustrates 
how large and safe a working area the Lace Walk area is. In fact I intend some useful expansion of 
facilities to enhance the Emergency Response Equipment for EDDC/DCC. 

page 216



  

 

 

Mr Darsley, we come to the original store behind Cllr McCollum's Masonic Lodge. Note the angle of 
the ground, the original sack truck that McCollum, Tredwin and Sheridan Shaw forced Carl to use 
until November 2019 when, following his resignation they belatedly gave him a contract backdated 
to March, the nice new gate that the Masons found money for (but nothing for making safe storage 
for cones) and of course the angle of the ground. Also please note that here is no lighting so it is 
pitch black in the winter when the market kicks off at 06.00. 1974 Act. 
 
For info, the cones were stored along the wall where one can see bare ground. In winter this place is 
mud, the Masons drive cars in. 

  

  

page 217



 

 

 

Mr Darsley, I have lots more pics. I have hard copy of the minutes/advice to HTC, of Nov/Dec 2019 

where Tredwin and Sheridan Shaw advised there was no alternative to the Masonic scam. I have 

copies of the full website of the Chamber of Commerce for April 2020.  I have a copy of Carl's 

contract, issued in Nov 2019 and which has a 'Draft' watermark throughout. I can prove that Mr 

McCollum is EDDC Cllr for Honiton St Paul's and that Carl is a resident of that Ward.  

 

Finally I refer you to Mrs Justice Andrews decision in Greenslade v DCC and in particular paragraph 

eight. I will not make the mistake that my lawyers made last time and I will ensure that all evidence is 

as can be seen, not edited by an EDDC Standards Hearing.  

 

I thank you for your work. 

 

 

I forgot. I send you a picture of Carl in his wet weather gear that I have funded (I have funded most 

things for the past months since I have been given responsibility for his duties). In other words 

McCollum, Tredwin and Sheridan Shaw failed in toto as a line management even to provide basic 

work wear. This will run and run in any tribunal or court action. It is appalling. And it includes the 

actions of an EDDC Cllr towards a Ward member (Carl lives in McCollum's Ward). I am disgusted. 

But only on the basis of evidence of course. 

 
 

 

 

 

The import of your next report is that it may include reference to the breach of the 1974 Health and 

Safety legislation, the fact that the breach resulted from Mr McCollum and his line management Mr 

Tredwin (clerk) and former Cllr Sheridan Shaw as then Chair of HR. 

 

Add in the payment of £300 to the Freemason lodge to which Mr McCollum is a member whilst 

knowingly a free and safe facility was/is available and there is not just a breach of confidence possible 

here. I assure you that all the above is proven beyond any doubt and I have photographic evidence.  

 

Again sincerely John Taylor 

 

page 218


	Agenda
	4 Hearing to consider three complaints 2020-C10, 2020-C11 & 2020-C19 - Councillor John Taylor
	Appendix A - Prehearing summary report
	Appendix  B - Final Report - Cllr John Taylor C10 C11 C19
	Appendix C - Letter to subject member (Taylor) Findings of breach following investigation
	Appendix D - Complaints Hearing Procedure January 2016
	Appendix E - Complaints
	App E(i) Taylor complaint.pdf (p.1-28)
	App E(ii) Taylor complaint.pdf (p.29-60)
	App E(iii) Taylor complaint.pdf (p.61-69)
	App E(iv)Taylor complaint.pdf (p.70-77)

	Appendix F - Cllr Taylor's texts to Tim Darsley




